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Dear Shareholders and stakeholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Ta Yang Group
Holdings Limited (the “"Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was principally
engaged in (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber
products (the “Silicone Rubber Business”); (ii) developing
international digital marketing services (the "Digital Marketing
Business”); (iii) operating retail business in the United Kingdom (the
“Retail Business”); and (iv) providing healthcare and hotel services
(the “"Healthcare and Hotel Business”).

In 2023, the global economic situation recovered slowly, but
geopolitics, exchange rate changes and other factors had a certain
impact on the import and export of traditional industries in mainland
China. In the face of many external uncontrollable factors, the
Group has actively explored opportunities in new areas and strived
to maximize revenue and profits through resource integration.
Regarding the business direction for the next year, the Group has
decided to (i) expand high-quality silicone rubber product categories,
expand the application of new silicone technology, and achieve
product upgrades; (ii) follow consumers’ online consumption
trends and provide more merchants with precise delivery services
and Internet marketing solutions; and (iii) operate overseas Retail
Business, focus on improving the influence of its own brands, and
strive to expand sales scale.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the results of the Group
achieved breakthrough improvements and recorded a (i) revenue
of approximately HK$1,213,830,000 (2022: approximately
HK$343,541,000), representing a significant increase of approximately
253.33% as compared with the corresponding period in 2022; (ii) loss
for the year of approximately HK$85,709,000 (2022: approximately
HK$98,904,000), representing a decrease of approximately 13.34%
as compared with the corresponding period in 2022; and (iii) loss
per share of approximately HK6.74 cents (2022: approximately
HK7.50 cents), representing a decrease of approximately 10.13% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2022.

BRI RFNE

AABREAF RERRERAR (AR
EFR(EER)RARSAAARENBA
A %EDBE-B==F+=A=+—A
IEFBEER -

E 5 (0] ]
BE-_Z-_=—F+-_A=+—HILEE ' &
EEFERF(ERIREERBRER((FEBE
1) ¢ (DB EN E RS (B e
#D) o (INEREETERB(SEEK])
K (iv)Fe it B8 i (R i KB 5 AR 75 ([ B R R N
JEEK]) -

R-B_=F  2REHEBDEEER - Bt
BEOA - EXEHERAZHHENMERES
EHOEK—EFE - BHFFZINE T AR
= AKEEGRRRNAEEE - YBHEB
BREABRWARFNBRAL - HRAFH
RETA ARERENVARBEEBRERRE
BBAEMRENRMER YEREMT
A (VEHORBEER LHEBSE  REZER
PR YRR RS AR AT SRR TS 2 ¢ JGil)
REBITERY  ZERTEERMETE
N BHERHERE -

BE—_TE-_=F+=-A=+—HBILtEE -
AREBEEMBREMERE > 8B0OK
25 #91,213,830,000 8 T ( T = —F : 4
343,541,000 7C) - R=ZF = = F R A AIEIE
1N%9253.33% : (i) 4F A 548 4985,709,000/8 7 (=
T F : 4998,904,000/67T) BB — 4
EERR A #013.34% + R (i) Z IR E1E 496.747%54
TR & 7508 M) R —FF
SR #910.13% ©



TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

OUTLOOK

In recent years, economies around the world have faced rising
interest rates, lower consumer spending, and a weak labor market,
which have led to slower economic growth. According to official
statistics, China’s GDP growth rate in 2023 was 5.3%. Affected by
factors such as the weak real estate industry, weakening external
demand, and tense international trade, it is expected that the GDP
growth rate in 2024 may further slow down to 4.7%. The Group will
adapt to the development direction of the general environment next
year. On the one hand, it will maintain the stable operation of the
existing segments, and on the other hand, it will seek development
space in areas such as new energy and technological innovation.

The Silicone Rubber Business, as the main source of the Group’s
profitability for years, will continue to provide high-quality
silicone products to long-term customers. Considering long-term
development, the production of traditional silicone rubber will
gradually transform into new silicone rubber, and comprehensive
upgrades will be carried out in terms of application fields,
environmental protection, diversity and durability. Therefore, the
Group will continue to carry out the research, development and
production of new silicone rubber and achieve product diversification
and quality based on customer needs. At the same time, the Silicone
Rubber Business will rely on its excellent technology, complete
internal quality control and mature operation system to meet the
changing market demands and become a leader among silicone
rubber manufacturers with cost-effective products.

With the rise of short video culture, video advertising through social
media has become a new mainstream marketing method to attract
consumers. The Digital Marketing Business of the Group will continue
to serve various companies and brands and provide customized
traffic delivery solutions to customers in need. The Group will pay
close attention to the development trend of the digital marketing
industry and flexibly adjust its strategies to adapt to the Internet
marketing environment that is constantly updated.

The Group will continue to operate the Retail Business in the United
Kingdom. After two years of expansion, stabilizing operations and
expanding sales will be its main development goals in 2024.

The Group is seeking more opportunities to integrate resources
and optimize the business of this segment in order to improve its
operating performance.
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On the basis of maintaining the continued good operation of the
above-mentioned business segments, the Group also intends to
enter the new energy industry in 2024. Currently, the Group has
linked up with well-known enterprises in the industry to establish
joint ventures to carry out new energy product trading business,
commercial charging and energy storage battery business. This
business will mainly cover new energy vehicles and battery rental
and sales, battery maintenance and testing services, charging and
replacement construction and operation services, battery cascade
utilization and remanufacturing services, and battery commercial
recycling services. It is expected that this business will be gradually
launched in the second half of 2024, and the existing factories and
production capacity will be used to carry out a series of production
and operations such as battery recycling and assembly.

The Group will continue to optimize the existing business structure
and actively seek for new potential businesses to improve
performance and maximize returns. Should there be any progress,
the Company will make further announcement(s) in relation to such
potential business opportunities as and when appropriate.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil) is
recommended by the Board.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere
appreciation to the support and trust of our business partners and
Shareholders for their support. | would also extend my gratitude and
appreciation to all the Directors, management and staff for their hard
work and dedication throughout the year.

Shi Qi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 27 September 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Shi Qi, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director
on 6 April 2016. Ms. Shi is the Chairlady, and a member of each
of the executive committee of the Company (the "Executive
Committee”), the nomination committee of the Company (the
(“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). She has obtained
a master’s degree of business administration from Centenary
College, New Jersey, majoring in finance in May 2009. She has more
than 11 years of experiences in corporate reorganization, corporate
and project financing, investments in real estate, securities and
non- securities assets and risk management. In 2009, she founded
Seven Ocean Investments Limited (“Seven Ocean”), and under her
leadership, Seven Ocean has developed from a small scale financing
company to a company that principally engages in providing
financing and corporate solutions and consultancy services, and
large scale medical and healthcare development projects. In 2015,
she invested in the development of Central Maine Healthcare
Institute, which delivers quality healthcare services in Auburn, Maine
(USA). She will also be responsible for the on-going management
and daily operation of the Central Maine Healthcare Institute. She
has also invested in the construction of the Central Leisure Park*
(FFRARBEAE) in Tongzhou Xincheng* (B /NETI), Beijing, a public
infrastructure covering an area of approximately 42.62 hectares and
providing sports, entertainment, medical and healthcare related
services. She was responsible for financing, devising the conceptual
design and the implementation plan and monitoring and managing
the progress of the construction. She will also be responsible for the
project’s subsequent operation and maintenance for 30 years.

Ms. Shi, the sole director and the ultimate beneficial owner of the
controlling shareholder of the Company, is deemed to be interested
in 796,875,490 Shares, representing approximately 60.98% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.
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Mr. Li Jiuhua, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director, the
Chief Executive Officer and the chairman of the Executive Committee
on 1 November 2022. Mr. Li graduated from the Xiamen University in
the PRC with a bachelor degree in Finance in 2003, and obtained a
master degree in business administration from the Jiangxi University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC in 2011. He has over 36 years
of experience in the securities and finance industries. He was (i)
the deputy chief executive officer of China Huarong International
Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
of 2799) from March 2017 to August 2017; (i) an executive director
of Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited (“Zhong Ji”, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code of 767) from September
2017 to January 2020, and also the chief executive officer of Zhong
Ji from October 2017 to January 2020; (iii) the chairman of Zhong
Bang International Holdings Limited and the assistant to general
manager for Jiangxi Ganjiang Traditional Chinese Medicine Branch
Chuangcheng Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. CLPEZ& L&
B Rl Al R I E LB AR A R)) from February 2020 to November
2021; and (iv) the executive director and chief executive officer of
Zhong Ji from December 2021 to April 2022.

Mr. Gao Feng, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 April 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director on
13 November 2019. He has more than 11 years of experience in
corporate management. He has been the general manager of Beijing
Zhongmei Zhengchen Construction Co., Ltd.* (35 & IF fR =%

fR 2 7)), which mainly engages in real estate and construction since
2012. He was the general manager of Beijing Kaiyun Zhifeng Industry
and Trade Co., Ltd* (L R S:E 2 & T B HF R A 7l) from 2009 to 2012.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, aged 46, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 3 August 2020. He has over 17 years’
experience in auditing, financial accounting and reporting. He worked
in BDO Limited and KPMG from 2005 to 2014 and from 2014 to 2019
respectively. His last position with KPMG was a senior audit manager.
He is currently the senior vice president at the group finance
department of Mason Group Holdings Limited, acting as the group
financial controller and oversees all functions of the group’s finance
department. He holds a bachelor of information technology degree
in data communications from Queensland University of Technology
in Australia, and a master of practising accounting degree from
Monash University in Australia. He is also a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia.

Mr. Han Lei, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 April 2016. He has more than 22 years of entertainment and
performing experience in the music industry and had received
numerous awards in the industry. He has participated in CCTV Spring
Festival Evening Galas, charity performances, cultural and tourism
promotion performances, etc. Other than his entertainment career,
he also actively participates in various political associations and
social campaigns. He was a member of the tenth session of All-China
Youth Federation (2 2 B & F 5t & €). He was appointed as the
“Celebrity of Health*” (& §g & A) by the preceding Kang Yi wang*
(B 5 #9) and the image ambassador in “Yao Yang” public pension
project* ([B2F5 | &EE Az T8 ) conducted by Red Cross Society of
China.

Mr. Gu Shixiang, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 December 2022. Mr. Gu graduated from Anhui
Agricultural University and has over 20 years of experience in
management. He was last employed by China Landlord Group
Limited as the chief executive officer.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 4 April 2022. Mr. Chan is the chairman of each
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
and the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. He graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with a major in accounting. He is a certified public
accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He was (i) an executive director of CIMC-
TianDa Holdings Company Limited (a company previously listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 445)) from
2003 to 2006; (ii) an independent non-executive director and non-
executive director of Tongguan Gold Group Limited (@ company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 340)) from
November 2006 to December 2007 and from December 2007 to May
2008 respectively; and (iii) an independent non-executive director
and executive director of International Business Settlement Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 147)) from September 2016 to September 2020 and
from September 2020 respectively. He possesses over 22 years of
experience in corporate restructuring, financial capital planning and
corporate management.

Mr. Hu Jiangbing, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 31 March 2020. Mr. Hu is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in computer software from University of Science
and Technology of China (H BJ &} £ K £) in 1984 and a master's
degree in business administration from Peking University ( & &= X
£2) in 1997. From August 1984 to July 1989, he was the vice general
manager of the Sitong Group* (PU:B % B & &2 7)). From July 1989
to July 1994, he was the general manager (China region) of King Sun
Computer (HK) Limited (B8 1L EIKAEBR A 7). From July 1994 to
July 1997, he was the government relations director for Compaq
Computer Limited (China) GEEUEEHRE KA &)). From 1997 to present,
he has been a general manager of Beijing Shengjinnuo Management
Consulting Co., Ltd QL Rk S E B A AABR A 7).
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Mr. Hu has a personal interest in 850,000 Shares, representing
approximately 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this annual report.

Ms. Wang Lina, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 22 April 2020. Ms. Wang is a member of the
Audit Committee. She graduated from Shanghai Lixin University of
Accounting (/837 12 & 5+ 26%) in 2005 where she studied foreign
accounting, and obtained her bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
Northeast Forestry University (BRIEMZEKER) in 2014. From 2005 to
present, she has been the manager of finance department and the
senior manager of investment department for Shanghai Guoteng

Zhirui Co. Ltd.* (L8R EEIR R B R A 7))

Mr. Zheng Changxing, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 9 June 2023, Mr. Zheng has extensive
experience in the telecommunication and finance industry. Mr. Zheng
obtained a bachelor’s degree in science with a major in meteorology
and a master’s degree in science with a major in climatology from
Sun Yat Sen University in 1984 and 1987 respectively. Mr. Zheng
further obtained an executive master of business administration
from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University in 2003.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhang has worked at various
financial institutions and telecommunication companies in China.

*  For identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was principally
engaged in (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber
products (the “Silicone Rubber Business”); (ii) developing
international digital marketing services (the "Digital Marketing
Business”); (iii) operating retail business in the United Kingdom (the
“Retail Business”); and (iv) providing healthcare and hotel services
(the “Healthcare and Hotel Business”).

In 2023, the global economic situation recovered slowly, but
geopolitics, exchange rate changes and other factors had a certain
impact on the import and export of traditional industries in mainland
China. In the face of many external uncontrollable factors, the
Group has actively explored opportunities in new areas and strived
to maximize revenue and profits through resource integration.
Regarding the business direction for the next year, the Group has
decided to (i) expand high-quality silicone rubber product categories,
expand the application of new silicone technology, and achieve
product upgrades, (ii) follow consumers’ online consumption
trends and provide more merchants with precise delivery services
and Internet marketing solutions; and (iii) operate overseas Retail
Business, focus on improving the influence of its own brands, and
strive to expand sales scale.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the results of the Group
achieved breakthrough improvements and recorded a (i) revenue
of approximately HK$1,213,830,000 (2022: approximately
HK$343,541,000), representing a significant increase of approximately
253.3% as compared with the corresponding period in 2022; (i) loss
for the year of approximately HK$85,709,000 (2022: approximately
HK$98,904,000), representing a decrease of approximately 13.3% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2022; and (jii) loss per
share of approximately HK6.74 cents (2022: approximately HK7.50
cents), representing a decrease of approximately 10.1% as compared
with the corresponding period in 2022.
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Silicone Rubber Business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Silicone Rubber Business
remained one of the Group's main sources of revenue and continued
to provide stable cash flow to the Group. As an operator of traditional
manufacturing industries, two factories of the Group, located in
Dongguan and Huzhou, China, have large plant areas and advanced
machinery and equipment. At the same time, the factory’s research
and development team has been committed to the development of
new silicone materials for application in various fields, integrating
traditional silicone production with new silicone technology.
Currently, the main products of the Silicone Rubber Business include
silicone parts, medical devices, consumer electronics and peripheral
items, auto parts, sports equipment accessories, maternal, infant
and kitchen supplies, beauty products, etc. The Group is the only
listed company in Hong Kong whose main business is silicone
rubber. Therefore, it has maintained good cooperative relationships
with many well-known brands over the years and continues to
supply high-quality silicone rubber products to major manufacturers
with product sales covering many countries and regions in Asia,
Europe and America.

Digital Marketing Business

In the first half of 2023, the Group acquired the equity of Beijing
Jusheng Technology Co., Ltd.* (dt RE & ®H AR A 7)) (“Jusheng
Technology”) and obtained controlling interests, and officially
launched the operation of the Digital Marketing Business. The Digital
Marketing Business is a new marketing method that has emerged
with the development of big data and artificial intelligence industries.
By obtaining massive customer information, we can analyze the user
behavior, interests and preferences of different groups of people to
carry out precise advertising and personalized marketing strategies.
As the public becomes more and more dependent on various
social media software, product promotion through live sales and
production of short videos has gradually replaced marketing through
traditional media. Digital marketing is currently the most recognised
marketing method by major brands and companies, so this field has
a huge customer base and room for development.
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Jusheng Technology is a professional digital marketing service
supplier, with advertising agency and media operation consulting
as its main businesses. Currently, its customers include many
merchants and brands in finance, games, automobiles, education,
fast moving consumer goods and other industries. Jusheng
Technology provides advertising content creativity on online
platforms, publicity campaign management, media delivery
channels and context marketing strategies, etc., providing effective
digital marketing solutions to promote corporate sales. Since its
establishment, Jusheng Technology has provided high-quality
comprehensive marketing services to many well-known brands in
mainland China (Jiangzhong Group* (T & % [& ), Yunnan Baiyao,
Fan Deng Reading, etc.). As a new segment of the Group in 2023,
international digital marketing has continued to understand customer
needs, enriched business scope and improved the efficiency of
Internet marketing through early accumulation. The number and
quality of customers have been steadily enhanced. This segment
also contributed considerable sales to the Group in 2023 and has
become a new pillar industry of the Group.

The Retail Business

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Retail Business in
the United Kingdom achieved orderly expansion in accordance with
the original plan. “YOHOME Oriental Life Style” has opened five
branches in urban London. The products sold are mainly imported
from China, Japan, South Korea, Southeast Asia and other places.
The product categories include food (such as snacks, pastries,
frozen Food, condiments, drinks, fresh fruits and vegetables), daily
and toiletries, home cleaning and decorations, etc. In addition, the
supermarket also provides Chinese, Japanese and Korean-style fast
food and specialty drinks, bringing original and rich oriental elements
to local consumers. At the same time, the Group’s own brand EKAU
products have gained wide recognition in the British market. The
EKAU brand mainly sells various types of kitchen-related supplies,
including pots, dishes, oven supplies, knives, and other daily kitchen
accessories. Among them, products in categories such as pots and
knives are the most popular in the British market and have good
sales performance in major local supermarkets. In addition to offline
sales channels, EKAU brand products are also sold online in large
e-commerce companies such as Amazon. On the one hand, it meets
the needs of consumers who love online shopping, and on the other
hand, it also uses the influence of e-commerce platforms to enhance
the online exposure of the EKAU brand, allowing consumers from
different countries and regions to experience EKAU products.
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The Healthcare and Hotel Business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Healthcare and Hotel
Business has been considered a business segment of low strategic
importance.

OUTLOOK

In recent years, economies around the world have faced rising
interest rates, lower consumer spending, and a weak labor market,
which have led to slower economic growth. According to official
statistics, China’s GDP growth rate in 2023 was 5.3%. Affected by
factors such as the weak real estate industry, weakening external
demand, and tense international trade, it is expected that the GDP
growth rate in 2024 may further slow down to 4.7%. The Group
believes that the traditional manufacturing industry, which is its main
business, will still be affected by changes in the external situation,
fluctuations in raw material prices and other factors in 2024, and it
will be difficult for its sales and profit margins to achieve significant
breakthroughs. The Digital Marketing Business is expected to operate
stably and is expected to gain more customer resources and profit
margins with the explosive growth of Internet marketing demand.
Therefore, the Group will adapt to the development direction of the
general environment next year. On the one hand, it will maintain the
stable operation of the existing segments, and on the other hand,
it will seek development space in areas such as new energy and
technological innovation.

The Silicone Rubber Business

The Silicone Rubber Business, as the main source of the Group’s
profitability for years, will continue to provide high-quality
silicone products to long-term customers. Considering long-term
development, the production of traditional silicone rubber will
gradually transform into new silicone rubber, and comprehensive
upgrades will be carried out in terms of application fields,
environmental protection, diversity and durability. Therefore, the
Group will continue to carry out the research, development and
production of new silicone rubber and achieve product diversification
and quality based on customer needs. At the same time, the Silicone
Rubber Business will rely on its excellent technology, complete
internal quality control and mature operation system to meet the
changing market demands and become a leader among silicone
rubber manufacturers with cost-effective products.
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Digital Marketing Business

With the rise of short video culture, video advertising through
social media has become a new mainstream marketing method
to attract consumers. The Digital Marketing Business of the Group
will continue to serve various companies and brands and provide
customized traffic delivery solutions to customers in need. We
use big data to accurately screen target consumers to achieve the
highest consumption conversion rate. At the same time, the Digital
Marketing Business will also expand its service scope, such as long-
term cooperation with Internet experts with strong online influence,
and use their credibility and influence on social media platforms to
provide customers with targeted marketing and promotion. Generally
speaking, Internet marketing and traffic delivery will develop in a
precise, personalized, innovative and immersive way. The Group will
pay close attention to the development trend of the digital marketing
industry and flexibly adjust its strategies to adapt to the Internet
marketing environment that is constantly updated.

The Retail Business

The Group will continue to operate the Retail Business in the United
Kingdom. After two years of expansion, stabilizing operations and
expanding sales will be its main development goals in 2024. YOHOME
Oriental Life Style currently has a relatively fixed customer base in
London, mainly international students, local Chinese and surrounding
residents. Although more retail supermarkets of similar nature have
appeared in London recently, which has dispersed the purchasing
power of consumers to a certain extent, the Group believes that
YOHOME Oriental Life Style has advantages in product selection and
procurement, and will promptly pay attention to popular brands and
categories in the Chinese market, and bring products to the British
market through a mature and efficient logistics chain. In addition,
YOHOME Oriental Life Style will create a diversified shopping
experience. While operating regular supermarkets, it will also
provide KTV and other entertainment at specific store locations to
consolidate existing consumers and attract more customer groups.
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Other Potential Business Opportunities

On the basis of maintaining the continued good operation of the
above-mentioned business segments, the Group also intends to
enter the new energy industry in 2024. Currently, the Group has
linked up with well-known enterprises in the industry to establish
joint ventures to carry out new energy product trading business,
commercial charging and energy storage battery business. This
business will mainly cover new energy vehicles and battery rental
and sales, battery maintenance and testing services, charging and
replacement construction and operation services, battery cascade
utilization and remanufacturing services, and battery commercial
recycling services. It is expected that this business will be gradually
launched in the second half of 2024, and the existing factories and
production capacity will be used to carry out a series of production
and operations such as battery recycling and assembly.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$1,213,830,000 (2022: approximately
HK$343,541,000), representing a significant increase of approximately
253.33% as compared with the corresponding period in 2022.

The revenue was principally contributed by the Silicone Business,
which recorded a revenue of approximately HK$226,082,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$308,101,000), accounting for approximately 18.63% (2022:
approximately 89.68%) of the total revenue of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Digital Marketing
Business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$912,058,000 (2022:
nil), accounting for approximately 75.14% (2022: nil) of the total
revenue of the Group.

The performance of the Retail Business has achieved a relatively
significant breakthrough, recording a revenue of approximately
HK$75,674,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately HK$35,413,000), accounting for approximately 6.23%
(2022: approximately 10.31%) of the total revenue of the Group.

The performance of the Healthcare and Hotel Business was
unsatisfactory and recorded a revenue of approximately HK$16,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$27,000).
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Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit was
approximately HK$93,017,000 (2022: approximately HK$83,480,000),
representing an increase of approximately 11.42% as compared with
the corresponding period in 2022. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the gross profit margin decreased to approximately was 7.66%
(2022: approximately 24.3%). On the basis of each business segment
leveraging its operating advantages and aiming to maximize profits,
the Group's overall gross profit has been significantly improved.

Other income and net gain

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other income and net
gain was approximately HK$42,404,000 (2022: approximately
HK$31,658,000), representing an increase of approximately 33.94% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2022. Changes in other
income were mainly due to the gain on disposal of properties and
debt restructuring.

Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the selling and distribution
expenses were approximately HK$35,839,000 (2022: approximately
HK$23,078,000), representing an increase of approximately 55.3% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2022. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the administrative expenses were approximately
HK$149,279,000 (2022: approximately HK$138,877,000), representing
an increase of approximately 7.49% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2022.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$88,035,000 (2022: loss of approximately HK$98,063,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 10.23% as compared
with the corresponding period in 2022. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the loss per share was approximately HK$6.74 cent
(2022: approximately HK$7.50 cent), representing a decrease of
approximately 10.13% as compared with the corresponding period in
2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s major source
of funds was cash generated from operating and financing
activities, and the Group’s liquidity improved as compared with the
corresponding period in 2022.

REeRERMEEIR
BE-T-=FT-A=t-ALFE K&
EEEESRAEE RREEDELNR
& B-T-—FRMEL  AEBNRBE
SHREMHE -

Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) RekREFEBW(FAET) 28,024 24,005
Current ratio B & 0.75 0.7
Quick ratio HRB)LL K 0.67 0.6
Gearing ratio* BAE B &* 2.35 14

e The gearing ratio of the Group was calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operations, financials and prospects are affected by
risks and uncertainties. The risk factors listed below may directly
or indirectly lead to significant differences in the Group’s operating
performance, financial positions and development prospects
from its expected or past performances. These factors are not
comprehensive, and there may be other risks and uncertainties that
are not identified by the Group or may not be noticeable at present,
but may become significant in the future.

Business risk

Performance of all business segments of the Group may be affected
by fluctuations in market prices and market demands of the final
products. On the other hand, raw materials provided by the Group's
suppliers are subject to price fluctuations as well. For example, the
Silicone Rubber Business requires stocking of raw materials, and the
Group does not enter into any material contracts to hedge against
such price fluctuations. Therefore, any price fluctuation in raw
materials will exert pressures on the Group's costs, and therefore
impact the competitiveness of the final products. If the Group fails
to adapt and respond successfully to the changing demands and
raw material supplies, its business performance and development
prospects may be adversely affected.
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The Digital Marketing Business relies on Internet marketing and
traffic promotion as its main source of revenue. This business is
affected by Internet regulatory policies to a certain extent and relies
on the continued stability of customer relationships. Therefore, the
Group should ensure that the Digital Marketing Business complies
with regulatory rules during its operations, remains consistent with
the most popular marketing directions and strategies, and continues
to provide efficient services to customers.

The supermarket business mainly faces the risk of a large influx
of competitors in the same industry, which will cause the stable
purchasing power of existing customers of the stores to be
dispersed. Factors such as changes in exchange rates will also affect
the profit margin of the supermarket business to a certain extent.

Industry risk

All business segments of the Group operate in highly competitive
industries. The Silicone Rubber Business faces competitions not only
from other silicone rubber products, but also from new material
products. Competition may also intensify as the Group’s competitors
expand their product categories, lower their selling prices, increase
their qualities or conduct promotions. If the Group does not compete
successfully against existing or new competitors, its existing
business scale and operation performance may not be maintained.
At the same time, the Digital Marketing Business is an enterprise
that relies on the Internet for operations. If macro policies impose
many restrictions on the Internet marketing field and set higher
entry barriers, it may have a serious impact on the operation of the
business.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total current assets
of approximately HK$444,110,000 and total current liabilities of
approximately HK$578,459,000. The bank balances and cash as
well as the current liabilities of the Group remained tight. If the
receivables are not fully recovered, the Group may not have
sufficient resources to repay its short-term obligations as they fall
due.
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Event risk

Event risk refers to the risk of a negative impact on the Company's
operational performance and financial position as a result of an
unexpected event like a natural disaster or an industrial accident.
These kinds of events may interrupt the Group’s operations, increase
prices of raw material and outsourced services, and exacerbate
other risks and uncertainty that the Group is facing. Due to the
unpredictable nature of such event risks, there is no guarantee that
the Group's responsive measures are sufficient.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$2,000,000,000
dividable into 20,000,000,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had issued a total of
1,306,767,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each, and all Shares
were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all respects.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
completed the issue of convertible bonds in the amount of
HK$40,000,000. If the convertible bonds are fully converted,
155,642,023 shares will be issued to the subscribers upon full
conversion of the convertible bonds, accounting for 10.64% of
the total shareholding structure. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 3 July 2023, 10 July 2023
and 21 July 2023. Save for the disclosed, the Company had no
outstanding options, warrants, convertibles or other arrangements
to issue shares.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS
OF CAPITAL ASSETS

On 16 January 2023 (after trading hours), Huarong Venture Capital
Fund Management (Beijing) Company Limited* (FErtAIE S E1E (4t
) AR AT), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Investor”), Jusheng Technology and Jusheng Technology
existing shareholders, entered into an investment agreement
(the “Agreement”) and pursuant to the terms of the Agreement,
the Investor agreed to acquire 40% equity interests in the Target
Company (the “Acquisition”) at a consideration of RMB14,000,000.

The Acquisition was completed on 1 April 2023. For further
information, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 August 2023 and 28 September 2023.

Save for the disclosed, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisition or disposal of any subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures and affiliated companies during the
year ended 31 December 2023, nor were there any future plans
for material investments or additions of capital assets as at 31
December 2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet provided
for in the financial statements as at 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$5.1 million (2022: approximately HK$9.8 million),
which was mainly related to the expansion of production capacity
of the Silicone Business. Such capital commitments will be financed
by the net proceeds from operating activities. As at 31 December
2023, certain land and buildings, investment properties and right-
of-use assets of the Group of approximately HK$116.3 million (2022:
approximately HK$175.4 million) were pledged to secure banking
facilities or bank and other borrowings granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liabilities of the Group were noted as at 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).
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CURRENCY MANAGEMENT AND
TREASURY POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's cash receipts
were denominated in United States dollars (“USD"), HKD, Pound
Sterling ("GBP") and RMB, while the labour costs, manufacturing
overheads, selling and administrative expenses of the Group were
mostly negotiated, measured and settled in RMB. As at 31 December
2023, the majority of cash and cash equivalents were held in USD,
HKD and RMB. As the Retail Business in the UK has become one
of the principal businesses of the Group, it is expected that GBP
will constitute a key functional currency of the Group in the future.
Therefore, fluctuations of RMB and GBP will affect the Group's
profitability. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
did not enter into any financial instrument for hedging purpose.
The Group will closely monitor the currency movements and take
appropriate measures to deal with such exchange-rate exposure.

The Group adopted a conservative approach to the cash
management and investment of uncommitted funds. Unused
funds were placed as short-term deposits with authorised financial
institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As the Group is committed to improving production capacity,
developing high-quality products, and expanding industry chain,
experienced workers, engineers and professionals are crucial to
the Group. The Group offers on-the-job training and encourages
staff to attend continuous professional training in order to enhance
their skills and knowledge. The Group also offers competitive
remuneration packages, including quality staff quarters, medical
care, insurance coverage and retirement benefits, to employees.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 717 permanent and
temporary employees (2022: 853). The total salaries and related costs
for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$115,985,000 (2022: approximately HK$123.8 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

On 3 July 2023 (after trading hours), the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with and
Rising Jiarui Investment Management Co., Ltd Gt R B 5 =& &
AR AR (the “Subscriber”), who is an independent third party
to the Group, pursuant to which the Subscriber has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed
to issue convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the
principal amount of HK$40,000,000. The issue of the Convertible
Bonds was completed on 21 July 2023.

Details of the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 3 July 2023, 10
July 2023 and 21 July 2023.

The net proceeds (after deducting all the relevant costs
and expenses) from the issue of the Convertible Bonds was
approximately HK$40,000,000. The Company intended to use such
net proceeds for business development and the general working
capital of the Group.

The Group had utilised the entire net proceeds from the issue of
the Convertible Bonds for business development and the general
working capital of the Group during the year ended 31 October
2023 according to the intentions previously disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 July 2023 and 10 July 2023.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of the
Group as it believes that effective corporate governance practices
are fundamental to enhancing Shareholder value and safeguarding
interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group's business.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with
the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, except for the
following.

Under Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive Directors and other non-executive Directors, as equal
Board members, should attend general meetings of the Company
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
Shareholders. Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip and Mr. Han Lei, the non-
executive Directors, did not attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 June 2023 due to other work commitment.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ transactions in the securities of the Company.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standard
of dealings and the code of conduct adopted by the Company and
there was no event of non-compliance throughout the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the
Board comprises the following three executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)
Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Hu Jiangbing

Ms. Wang Lina

Mr. Zheng Changxing (appointed on 9 June 2023)

The Company has maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange an updated list of directors identifying their roles
and functions and whether they are INEDs. INEDs are identified as
such in all corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors are contained in the section
headed Directors’ Profile of this annual report. Save as disclosed,
no Director has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships with other Directors.
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The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. All executive Directors, non-executive Directors and INEDS
bring a variety of experience and expertise to the Company. The
number of INEDS has met the minimum requirement of the Listing
Rules, and represents not less than one-third of the total Board
members. Further, at least one of the INEDS possesses appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and/or financial management
expertise.

The INEDs bring a wide range of skills and business experience to
the Group. They also bring independent judgment on the issues
of strategy, performance and risk through their contribution to
the Board meetings and to the Board’s committee meetings. The
Board has received from each INED the written confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
considers all of them to be independent having regard to (i) their
annual confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules; (ii) absence of involvement in the daily management of the
Group; (iii) absence of any relationships or circumstances which
would interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and
(iv) absence of remuneration from the Company other than the
directors’ fee which is fixed, not equity-based and not performance-
related.

The Board has adopted the mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board reviewed
the above mechanisms and considered that the above mechanisms
are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are
provided to the Board.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors (including non-executive Directors) were appointed for a
specific term. Formal letters of appointment or service contracts sets
out the key terms and conditions of their appointment were in place.
Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, Mr. Han Lei and Mr. Gu Shixiang, the non-
executive Directors, have entered into formal appointment letters
for a term of one to three years subject to termination by giving not
less than one month’s prior written notice. Mr. Chan Siu Tat, Mr. Hu
Jiangbing, Ms. Wang Lina and Mr. Zheng Changxing the INEDs, have
entered into formal appointment letters for a term of one to three
years subject to termination by giving not less than one month’s
prior written notice.
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In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (“Articles”),
(i) all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years, (i) any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after
his/her appointment; and (iii) any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting. At the forthcoming annual general
meeting, Ms. Shi Qi, Mr. Han Lei, Mr. Hu Jiangbing and Mr. Chan Siu
Tat shall retire from their respective offices by rotation and offer
themselves for re-election in accordance with Article 87(1) of the
Articles.

Functions of the Board

The function of the Board is to guide the management to ensure
the interests of the Shareholders are safeguarded. The Board is
responsible for the oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs with the goal of maximizing long term
shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder interests.

The Board has the following main duties:

o to establish the Company’s purpose, values and strategy, and
culture;

o to determine material and significant corporate matters;
o to direct and supervise the businesses of the Group; and

o to ensure effectiveness on the Group's financial reporting and
compliance.
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The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations and management of the Group's
businesses to the executive Directors and senior management, and
certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees. The Board
has matters reserved for its decisions and these include:

o long-term strategy and business plan;

o major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments;

o long-term and material funding decision;

o internal controls, risk management and compliance; and

° annual and interim financial results and shareholder
communications.

When delegating aspects of the management and administration
functions, the Board has given clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, where the management should report
back and obtain prior Board approval before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. While
offering the management substantial autonomy to run and develop
the business, the Board plays a key role in structuring and monitoring
the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEIoHS

Board meetings and Board practices g5

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general JEFHFEH
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees” FEHES
including, the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the ([EEE®ZE€ | EHTEZEE  EFXZ
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee) meetings E&

SEEhEFIEH

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records BEXERESHESD R

CHHEZEERRAZES)EHNENR

during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the table SR TEX :

below:

Audit
Committee

Executive Directors HiTES

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlad) wETL(LE) 71 N/ATEF

Mr. Li Jiuhua FNERE (704 6/7 N/ATEH
(Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Gao Feng it 07 N/ATNER

Non-Executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip BRIEELE 6/7 N/ATER
Mr. Han Lei BRLE 07 N/ANER
Mr. Gu Shixiang Bt E 3 N/AMER

Independent non-executive B FHTES

Directors
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BROERE Vi 33
Mr. Hu Jiangbing HIELE 4 33
Ms. Wang Lina FEMLL 57 33
Mr. Zheng Changxing Pt (R-2=F yil N/ATER

(appointed on 9 June 2023) NANBEZT)

Remuneration
Committee

2/2
N/ATER

NANER

N/ATER
N/ATER
N/ATER

2/2
072
N/ATER
NANER

it

L L2
==

Nomination
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BRERAEREZELZES

Annual General
Meeting held

Committee on 29 June 2023

2/2
N/ATER

N/ARER

N/ATER
N/ATSER
N/ATER

2/2
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N/ATER
N/ATER
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Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were
arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7
of the CG, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with
the INEDs without the presence of other Directors (the “Chairlady
and INEDs"). During the year, one Chairlady and INEDS Meeting was
held.

The Chairlady is primarily responsible, with assistance of the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
for drawing up and approving the agenda for the Board meeting and
each Director may request to include any matters in the agenda.
At least 14 days’ notices are given to the Directors for the regular
Board meetings by the Company to facilitate their attendance. All
substantive agenda items with comprehensive briefing papers are
distributed to Directors at least 3 days before the Board meetings
SO as to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate, timely and
clear information to make informed decisions. For non-regular Board
meetings, reasonable advance notices are given.

The Board meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All
Directors participate in discussing the strategy, operational and
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The Board
may, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional
advise in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense and
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. The
Board may resolve to provide separate independent professional
advise to Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

All Directors may obtain the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed
and providing the Board with opinions on matters in relation to the
compliance with the procedures of Board meetings.
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If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter
by way of written resolution or by a Board committee (except if that
Board committee was specifically established for such purpose)
but by a physical Board meeting. The INEDs with no material
interest in the matter will attend the Board meeting to deal with the
matter as appropriate subject to the Listing Rules and the Articles,
as appropriate. Any Director who or whose associates have any
material interest in any proposed Board resolutions shall not vote (nor
be counted in the quorum) on the relevant Board resolutions.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written
resolutions were well-documented. Draft minutes are circulated
to the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company's business and governance policies.

The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. According
to the records maintained by the Company, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Company has renewed directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. The insurance
covers them against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities arising
out of the Company’s activities.

CHAIRLADY AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the chairman of the board and the chief executive
officer are segregated in order to reinforce their independence
and accountability. For the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms.
Shi Qi acted as the Chairlady while Mr. Li Jiuhua acted as the Chief
Executive Officer. There are clear demarcations of responsibility
and authority between the Chairlady and the CEO which ensure an
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater
capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.

The responsibilities of the Chairlady include:

1. to ensure all Directors are properly briefed on matters to be
discussed at Board meetings,

2. to ensure all Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner;

3. to provide leadership for the Board;

4. to ensure that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities and discusses all key issues in a timely manner;

5. todraw up and approve the agenda for Board meetings taking
into account any matters proposed by the other Directors for
inclusion in the agenda;

6. to take primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are in place, and to
oversee implementation of the practices and procedures on
corporate governance;
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to give each Director an opportunity to express his/her
different views at Board meetings and to voice their concerns,
to encourage all Directors to fully contribute to the Board's
affairs and to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company, and to allow sufficient time for discussion of
issues and to ensure that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus,

to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with Shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

to promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

The responsibilities of the CEO include:

1.

to provide leadership for the management;

to implement and to report to the Board on the Company's
strategy;

to oversee realisation by the Company of the objectives set by
the Board,

to provide all such information to the Board as is necessary
to enable the Board to monitor the performance of the
management;

to lead management of the Company’s relationships with its
stakeholders;

to put in place programs for management development and
succession; and

to establish and maintain proper internal controls and risk
management systems as well as disclosure controls and
procedures.
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MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

In general, the daily management and administration functions of
the Group have been delegated to the management except for
certain matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision. The
management supplied the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information through financial reports, business and
operational reports and budget statements, in a timely manner, to
enable them to make informed decisions.

In order for the Directors to make enquires where necessary, the
Directors are also provided with names and contact details of the
Company’s senior management and the Company Secretary to
facilitate Director’s access to senior management and the Company
Secretary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The INEDs support the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board, and to bring independent views and
input to the Board.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his/her independence, and the Company has assessed and
considered such INED to be independent in accordance with each
and the various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to INED to avoid bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objective and independence.

EI2 Bk

—RME AEENAEEENRTHREBEE T
HTEERRE  BETHIRETESTEREN
FHERS EREBRBYTHRE  XEREE
BEARBERRREAEZZESRIVEE
REDSRERER - RREEAELMER

;'_Eo

ROTBEEREFTERIELER  ESTER
HARFRRREEAB KRR BMEH MR KB
MER  UWHREFEESRERAEBRQR
WE o

BYIEHITES

BUFRTEEIRESTTAMETRERE
fr YREFSRLBUERLE -

ARBREBE-_E-_=F+=-A=1t—8I%
EEEST EHREISE3.10(1) R Q)1§A K& 5E3.10A
o NRARICEESBYIENTESRHIE
MBEHNFERRE  MARRBERE LR
BIZE3N3GATEM S IBIESIFHE R R BZER
NIEATEZEERILE o

AR ERABLIFATEF R TEMRER
AN - B ERRERREL
BEERBMERBIIE



38 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has
currently delegated specific functions to four Board committees.
They are the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
is responsible for the functions of risk management and corporate
governance functions. For the year ended 31 December 2023 and up
to the date of this annual report, the composition of each committee
are as follows:

Executive Committee

Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chairman)
Ms. Shi Qi

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (Chairman)
Mr. Hu Jiangbing
Ms. Wang Lina

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Siu Tat
Ms. Shi Qi

Nomination Committee

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (Chairman)
Mr. Hu Jiangbing
Ms. Shi Qi
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All the Board committees have clear written terms of reference
and have to report on their decisions and recommendation to the
Board. These written terms of reference are available for access at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong and
each of the committee members was furnished with a copy of the
respective terms of reference. The written terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are also available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

All business dealt with by the Board committees were well-
documented. All minutes of the Board committee meetings record
in sufficient detail of the matters considered and decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by members of the Board committees
or dissenting views expresses. Draft and final versions of minutes are
sent to all members of each respective committee for their comment
and records respectively. Final versions of the minutes are kept by
the Company and are open to inspection by members of the Board
committees at any time.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises two members, both of
which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Jiuhua and Ms. Shi Qi.
Mr. Li Jiuhua is the chairman of the Executive Committee.

Responsibility of the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee’s responsibilities include, among others,
the following:

o to set strategies, policies, plans and operational directions for
the Group;

o to manage day-to-day financial and business affairs of the
Group;

o to approve projects not exceeding a monetary amount
pre-determined by the Board;

o to manage funds, bank facilities, loans, inter-company loans of
the Group;

o to manage the share option scheme of the Company.

Fﬁ*ﬁi% ZESHERENEMBREE
BARAEEEREHLRENRER - ZFE@

H&%%EETJ&AZ}KD\ﬂEAEE’éE’JIE BEMEE
Bl MBRZEeXBOREHR-—MDSEHE

#E - -EZZES RERESLFHZES
HY) & T B S0 E R A AR R A SR B R T AB A
B3

EEREeRENMBEHRABFANESRS
- -BEFEREQSRNMESRLENFMARL
BrERNEFRRMELARE  BREFEE
ERERENEMBIFEIRENTRAE

/\X

ﬁ_z Euﬁuaﬁmﬁiﬂ&;ﬁiﬂﬁ&/\ J EZ/E\
SEORMEKRE - U ET R - @@k

MRERABARRRT - LAIHESEERES
PR BBERER] -

WITZE SR AMEKEAN SARTE
= AFNFEEEMERALL - FAERER
HITRBEEF -

BITEREENEE
WITZRBENETEREPEE)UTEA

s  RAKEFIERE
A

CBRR - FFEIREE

o EEAKENBEBEUHEMAEES

s HETHBEZRGRABTNEZEMIEA

ElE

e EBEAKBEMED  RIOME  HFX
NEIFEERK

o  EEARTNERELE -



TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Major works done by the Executive Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the major works done by the
Executive Committee were summarised as follows:

J managed day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses,

o managed overall financial performance of the Group in
fulfillment of strategy, plans and budgets,

o managed the Group’s capital budgets and expenditures;

J managed relationship with important stakeholders of the
Group; and

managed the share option scheme of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, all of
which are INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Siu Tat, Mr. Hu Jiangbing and Ms.
Wang Lina. Mr. Chan Siu Tat is the chairman of the Audit Committee,
who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the existing external auditors of the Company.

Responsibility of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include, amongst others, the
following:

o to report to the Board on effective financial reporting controls,
internal controls and risk management;

o to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and interim report, and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained therein;

o to oversee the Company'’s relationship with the external
auditor, review auditor’'s letter of engagement and
make recommendations to the Board on appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor,;
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o to review and monitor external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

o to review external auditor's management letter and any
material queries raised by the auditor to the management and
the management’s response;

o to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

o to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services; and

o to review the financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems (including the adequacy of resources, and the
effectiveness of the financial and internal audit function).

The Audit Committee has the following veto rights. The Company
cannot implement any of the following matters which have been
vetoed by the Audit Committee:

o to approve any connected transaction within the meaning of
the Listing Rules which requires an independent Shareholders’
vote (unless the approval of such connected transaction is
made conditional on the obtaining of the approval of the INEDs
and the independent Shareholders); and

o to employ or dismiss the Group's financial controller or the
internal audit manager or persons holding similar positions.
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Major works done by the Audit Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the major works done by the
Audit Committee were summarised as follows:

o reviewed with the management and the external auditors (if
applicable) on the interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023, and related announcements including the
related disclosures, the integrity of financial reporting and
the accounting policies adopted by the Group prior to the
submission to the Board's approval;

J discussed with management on significant judgments affecting
Group's consolidated financial statements;

o reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal
control report including the status of implementing
recommendations in previous report;

o reviewed, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal controls;

o considered the re-appointment of the external auditor;

o reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness during the audit process;
and

. reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s non-audit
Services.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 3 meetings of the
Audit Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group'’s
interim and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and
compliance under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems, and considering the
re-election and the change of auditor of the Company, the individual
attendance records of each Director at the meeting of the Audit
Committee is set out on page 32 of this annual report.

The external auditor and the internal audit adviser of the Company
also attended meetings of the Audit Committee by invitation.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
a majority of which are INEDs, namely Mr. Hu Jiangbing (INED),
Mr. Chan Siu Tat (INED) and Ms. Shi Qi (executive Director). Mr. Hu
Jiangbing is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Responsibility of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include, among
others, the following:

o to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company;

o to review the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives,

o reviewing and making recommendations to the Board the
compensation, if any, payable to the Directors and senior
management of the Group in connection with any loss or
termination of office or appointment;

o to determine, with delegated responsibility, the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management;

o to recommend to the Board’s approval the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration; and

o to review and approve matters relating to share option
schemes of the Company in accordance to chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.
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Major works done by the Remuneration Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the major works done by the
Remuneration Committee were summarised as follows:

J conducted the annual review of the remuneration for all
Directors (including the executive Directors), based on
remuneration policies and annual performances;, and

o approved terms of service contracts of the executive Directors
and senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, since there was no share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (defined hereunder),
no material matter relating to the Share Option Scheme has been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held, the individual attendance
records of each Director at the meeting of the Remuneration
Ccommittee is set out on page 32 of this annual report.

Remuneration policy

The Company has adopted and updated a remuneration policy for
the Directors and senior management. The remuneration for the
executive Directors and senior management may comprise basic
salary, bonus, share options and pensions. Apart from basic salary,
executive Directors and senior management are eligible to receive
a discretionary bonus taking into account factors such as market
conditions as well as corporate and individual’s performance.
The remuneration of non-executive Directors may comprise basic
salary without equity-based and performance-related components,
and should be reviewed annually with reference to comparable
companies and market condition. Remuneration adjustments may
be made, after taking into account performance of the individual,
contribution, responsibilities, and reference to comparable listed
companies in Hong Kong.

FMEESTRNEET(E
BE—_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HIEE "
ZEETKRMETET/EMwT -

3 B

REFHBRERFEXE  BFEES
(BHRATES) MFHETERERT
K

s HEHNTEELRSREEENRBEEL

O ERIR o

BE-_Z-_=F+_A=1+—HIFE @HRP
WEBEBEEREFS(EER T BRLER
- WEHWNE B e W AT AR S
BHEMNEREE -

REBEZE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HItFE ' &
MEESERITMALHE  SEBSHEFMNE
BeemmEA LSS N ANFRERE -

FEBCR

ARRERMALEHREERSREEABNT
MK - ITEERSREERAENFHTE
REATE  #H BRERELREESE - KE
AFEI - ATEELRSREEABEZED
o REIREARBRERRR - TEERERS
BIRTEAL - JETTEENHMA B REARH
T BT ERBABRESER K ERERENED
7 WESERLRAR LTSS FET
BE - FNABRTEZEBEIALNRR - &®
B BEER2REBRBA LT ARREL



_BT=FFRW AFKEZRERLT

Corporate Governance Report
EXEIoHS

The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration of TRFAPHITEELSREREASNFIE

executive Directors and senior management. %o
Remuneration Purpose Reward Policy details
e B# 3] BURF1E
Basic Salary To reflect the market value of e Cash payment ° Reviewed annually

each individual o Monthly o Compare against selected
comparable companies

° Market trend

EEF e REEGEARNTSEE o ReZ T FEm
o g H B TF W) AT LB A FIE B
M5B
Discretionary Bonus To motivate employees to help e Cash payment Individual performance
the Company achieve high ° Annually Market condition
levels of performance and to ° The Group performance
achieve individual performance relative to corporate
goals targets
BIEIEAL BEBTHHARARERFK o REZH o A AR
FTRZEENEKEARIEEE o ESEaS U TR,
U EEYNCIIER Y el ok =S
Pension To provide appropriate and . Cash payment o MPF scheme
competitive post-retirement . Monthly
benefits
RRE REEERBEBRFNHRKE o BREX o RERAE
B s BfF

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration  RIEEEEATRIMTRIGXEENSE - B
of the members of the Board and the senior management by band &XERSRAEEBEREE-_T_=F+_A
for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below: =T—HIEEENFMSEESHIINAT :

Number of
Individuals

Remuneration bands (HK$)
HrNEEECGET) AB

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,000 5% LA =

=N W N
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, a
majority of which are INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Siu Tat (INED), Mr. Hu
Jiangbing (INED) and Ms. Shi Qi (executive Director). Mr. Chan Siu Tat is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Responsibility of the Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

to review and make recommendation to the Board on the
succession plan for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman/
Chairlady and the CEQ;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and to select or to make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

to assess the independence of INEDS;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors;
and

to review the Board Diversity Policy (defined hereunder) as
appropriate, and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and
the progress on achieving the objectives.

RELREE
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Major work done by the Nomination Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the major works done by the
Nomination Committee were summarised as follows:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o reviewed the Director retirement and rotation arrangement in
the 2022 annual general meeting;

o assessed the independence of INEDs; and

o reviewed the Board diversity policy, the measurable objectives
that the Board has set and the progress on achieving the
objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held, the individual attendance records
of the each Director at the meeting of the Nomination Committee is
set out on page 32 of this annual report.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted and updated a nomination policy for the
Directors. The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o character and integrity;,
o willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a Board member and other directorships and significant

commitments;

o possessing core competencies that meet the needs of the
Group;

o the Board diversity policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board;

and

o the independence in case of an INED.
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For appointment of a new Director, the Nomination Committee
shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria set out in
the nomination policy. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination
committee shall make recommendation to the Board in respect of
the appointment of appropriate candidate for directorship.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out in the nomination policy whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and the Board shall make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.

For re-election of a Director at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable, general meetings, and the
level of participation and performance on the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in the nomination
policy. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general meeting.

Board diversity policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance its performance. Accordingly, the Company adopted and
updated a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
which aims to set out the approach to achieving diversity for the
Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Directors
from time to time to ensure that it has a balanced composition of
skills, experience and expertise appropriate to the requirements of
the businesses of the Company.
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The Board Diversity Policy is reviewed annually. The Nomination
Committee will consider certain measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendation to the Board. For
the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were fulfilled as at the date of this
annual report:

o four Directors are INEDs, as compared with the objective of at
least one-third of the Directors should be INEDS;

o one INED has obtained accounting or relevant financial
management professional qualifications, as compared with the
objective of at least one INED should have such qualifications;

o eight Directors are male and two Directors are female
(representing 20% of the total ten Directors), as compared with
the objective of no single-gender Board; and

o all Directors have 7 years or more of experience in the industry
he/she is specialized in, as compared with the objective of at
least half of the Directors should have such experience.

As at the date of this annual report, other factors which are non-
measurable but also important to the diversity of the Board are as
follows:

o four Directors are within the age range of 40-49, three
Directors are within the age range of 50-59, and three
Directors are within the age range of 60-69; and

o one Director serves the Board for less than one year, two
Directors serve the Board for over one year but less than two
years, one Director serve the Board for over two years but less
than three years, and six Directors serve the Board for over
three years.
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Gender diversity

The gender ratio in the Board as at the date of this annual report
was 4 (8 males: 2 females), while the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 was approximately 4 (8 males: 2
females). As at this moment, the Company aims to achieve a Board
and a workforce (including senior management) without single-
gender, but recognises that the gender diversity at the Board level
can be improved given that the majority composition is male. The
Company will ensure there is a gender diversity when identifying
director candidate and recruiting employees so that there is a
pipeline of female employees, management and Directors in near
future. On the other hand, more resources will be invested in
training female employees who have long and relevant experience
in the business of the Group, with the aim of promoting them to the
management or Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for, amongst other things,

o developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance,

o reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

. reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report contained in
annual reports.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance function of the Company, as well as the CG
Code’s compliance practices of each Director and the Board as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results
of operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, CL Partners,
on the Company's consolidated financial statements are set out in
the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 81 to 88 of this annual
report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

CL Partners, being the auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in
the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as set out in this annual report. For
a detailed statement of the reporting responsibilities of CL Partners,
please refer to the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of
this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

EXREB]S

For the year ended 31 December 2023, CL Partners is appointed as
the Group’s auditor until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting following the resignation of Elite Partners CPA
Limited with effect from 17 June 2024. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 are audited by
CL Partners. The remuneration paid/payable to CL Partners and
its affiliates in respect of their audit and non-audit services are as
follows:

BE-_T-=F+-"A=1+—BI1LFE  1’H
TLEEEEHAT AR AR BTE - ik
ZRAAREBNZEE  AHEEEREAT
ReERALF BT -_NEXA+HEBREE
Mo BEZE-_=F+-_A=1+—HILFEH
REMBWRED BHAMERZ - RENIEER
RS B, e o i I EL B B 1 ) A9 5 B 4o
T

2023

:2: =
HK$'000
FET
Audit services EiT RS 1,280,000
Non-audit services AT ARTE =
Total 1ast 1,280,000

The remuneration of the audit and the non-audit services are
determined with reference to, among others, commitments and
workloads of the services, urgency and time-requirement of the jobs,
complexity of the underlying transactions and quality of the final
service results.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that CL
Partners be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. There is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the
re-appointment of CL Partners.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, upon the
resignation of Mr. Zhou Danging (“Mr. Zhou") as the Company
Secretary on 3 January 2023, Ms. Xu Jiayuan (“Ms. Xu") was
appointed as the Company Secretary in place of Mr. Zhou. The
primary contact person at the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report with Mr. Zhou and Ms. Xu was Ms. Shi
Qi, the Chairlady of the Board.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Ms. Xu
was responsible for providing advice to the Board on corporate
governance matters. Ms. Xu had confirmed that each of them has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as
required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has established
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems, which are reviewed annually. The management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze likelihood and impact of the risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and continuously monitor the
residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2023 and save as
disclosed in this annual report, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal control system

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COS0") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follow:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
controls across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

o control Activities: Action established by policies
and procedures to help ensure the implementation of
management’s direction to mitigate risk in order to achieve
objectives.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal controls is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis, and employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

In order to promote transparency and accountability, the Group
implements a whistleblowing and anti-corruption systems and
arrangements. Employees, suppliers, customers and business
partners of the Group can raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, about possible malpractice or improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management, internal control or other matters.
Depending on the then situations, whistleblowers may contact the
management, the Chairlady, the CEO and/or the INEDS, and suitable
following-up actions may be taken.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2023, no
significant control deficiency was identified.
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Internal audit function

The Group currently does not have an internal audit department, but
has engaged an external advisor to provide internal audit services
which cover independent analysis and appraisal of adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control.
In light of the corporate structure and operation procedures, as well
as the relevant risks, the Board, as well as the Audit Committee are
of the view that the existing practice is able to provide an internal
audit function which is consistent with the Group’s requirements.
The Group will review and consider to establish an internal audit
department as and when it thinks necessary.

Effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring that a review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board'’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (i) the scope and quality of management'’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems; (iii)
the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results
to the Board which enables it to assess controls of the Company
and the effectiveness of risk management; (iv) significant control
failures or weaknesses that have been identified for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and the extent to which such failures or
weaknesses have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies;
and (v) the effectiveness of the Company's processes for financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company engaged
JC Consultancy Services Limited to conduct risk management
and internal control review of the Group’s operation and made
recommendation to Board accordingly. Sinno has, among other
things, enquired, interviewed and discussed with the management,
and observed and inspected the actual control procedures. Based on
the report issued by Sinno, the Board, as well as the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems are reasonably implemented and the
Company has compiled with the requirements of the CG Code in
respect of risk management and internal control.
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The Board, as well as the Audit Committee, concluded that the
risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

The risk management and internal control systems, however, are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors. The
Board also recognises that effective communication with investors is
the key to establish investor confidence and to attract new investors.
Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining high degree of
transparency to ensure investors and Shareholders are receiving
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the
Group via the publication of annual reports, interim reports, press
announcements (“Corporate Communications”).

Corporate Communications issued by the Company are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and in
both English and Chinese versions to facilitate their understanding.
A section titled “Investor Relations” is available on the Company’s
website which provides contact details to allow Shareholders to
contact the Company easily. Enquiries from institutional investors
and analysts on the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans are welcome.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the investor relation activities
of the Company include:

o attending to telephone enquiries from analysts and fund
managers,

o updating the Company’s website regularly;
o holding annual general meeting;

o disclosing information on a timely basis via the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR
RELATIONSHIP POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company reviewed and
updated its policy for communication with its Shareholders and
investor relations. Having considered (i) practices and procedures
to convene the general meeting of the Company; (ii) practices to
publish and update information of the Company; and (iii) feedbacks
from Shareholders and investors, especially absence of material
complaint from the Shareholders, the Company is of the view that its
policy for communication with its Shareholders and investor relations
is effective for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Shareholder
and investor relationship policy were summarised as follows:

Rights of shareholders

e The right to attend the general meeting and to receive
information

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity
for Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors.
The Chairlady and the chairlady or chairman of the Board
committees will attend the general meeting to answer
Shareholders’ questions. In their absence, she/he should
invite another member of the committee or failing this her/
his duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should
be available to answer questions at the general meeting. The
chairman of the independent Board committee (if any) should
also be available to answer questions at any general meeting
to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction
that requires independent Shareholders’ approval. The external
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions about conduct of the audit,
preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, accounting
policies and auditor independence.
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The right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed by the
Company.

The voting powers at the Shareholders' meetings

Every Shareholder has the right to vote at the Shareholders
meetings subject to provisions of the Listing Rules and the
Articles.

The power to elect and re-elect Directors and auditor

The Shareholders could hold individual Directors (or the Board
as a whole) to account for their actions by voting against
their re-election. The Articles provide at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of 3, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

For the Directors who retire by rotation, and if they wish, they
may submit themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. The retiring Directors are eligible for re-appointment
to the office. Without the prescribed approval of the
Shareholders, the Company shall not agree to any provision
under which a Director’s term of employment exceeds or may
exceed three years.

The Shareholders also have the right to approve (or reject) the
appointment of the auditor each year. The Company may by
a resolution passed at a general meeting remove the auditor
despite any agreement between the auditor and the Company
or anything in the Articles.

BRRRER A EHER
E—fIgk A EREZERARAFET
PRARAEHEA(HBERARARER
RELERENEN)+0 2 —HBRRME
ASREEEBAANATESTSIWE
BHE@ME R BEREEGHRBRRE
IR - ARRIEBRZ R IEHANEM
=Rl

ZABRREEZEREMEARNE
T-BFREZ®R_T—BR E=ZEXA
FRARZAGZIEF @ AIEZZERA
THBEZRMRETAELESE - ME2
BRATHEEEE@ RAMAEELER
AR R RRELER -

RIRRAERROES

EERRAMRERMAAEHRRT
BEBROBEENBRAGRR

RERERESRABANED

BRIEBRERHENES(EES
((ERER) ) EEUERERBETTRA
B ERRMANRE  REEERRBEFA
gL ERAB=/SZWNER(LMNE
EABAIBOEE - AIZARKEIER
PR=nZ—28B)BARERE  B%
EXAS-FEIACERRBEFAS L
WERE—IR

IRERENESEMS @ MEFRE
REAINBRRBFAS EEEEF - R
TEFAERENBZERSRBE -
RIEREORRAEBTRAT - AAF]
TEREESEHBEAXAIEBE=F
EVEMARE

BRI BE R E (R ) B FREEDN
RIE - ARRIAEBNRRAE LAB
BVRZBREE R EAN - BIE iR BAD
AR R Z BB ] sk E AR AR R FA L
BEMRE -



TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

e  The right to receive information of the Company

The Company shall keep Shareholders informed of certain
developments and to obtain Shareholders approval for certain
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. In these
cases, the Company must communicate with its Shareholders
and seek their support.

e  The right to communicate with the Company

The Chairman/Chairlady or the executive Director should
ensure that the views of the Shareholders are communicated
to the Board as a whole and the Chairman/Chairlady or the
executive Director should discuss strategy and governance
with major Shareholders.

Non-executive Directors should be given the opportunity to
attend general meetings with major Shareholders, and should
be expected to attend general meetings if requested by major
Shareholders.

Shareholders’ enquires

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s registrar, Union Registrars Limited at Suites
3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time make
a request for the company’s publicly available information. They may
also put forward proposals at the general meetings. The designated
contacts and addresses for making enquires and submitting
proposals are:

Contact: the Board of Directors
Fax: 28511038
Email: TaYang1991@tayanggroup.com

Address: 22/F, H Code, 45 Pottinger Street, Central, Hong Kong
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Effectiveness of general meetings

Shareholders should be given the opportunity to send in written
guestions before the meeting. There should be a circulation
of a brief summary of points raised at the general meeting to
all Shareholders after the event. The Board should dispatch a
circular accompanying the general meeting notice, which contains
comprehensive information on the business to be transacted at the
meeting, together with summary procedure governing voting at the
general meeting and frequently asked questions regarding voting
procedures.

The Company should arrange for the notice of the annual general
meeting and the related papers to be sent to the Shareholders at
least 21 days before the meeting. For other general meetings this
should be at least 14 days in advance.

Resolution

At any general meeting there should be a separate resolution to each
substantially separate issue. The Company should avoid bundling
resolutions unless they are interdependent and linked forming one
significant proposal.

Proxy arrangement

For each general meeting, proxy appointment forms should provide
Shareholders with the option to direct their proxy to vote either for or
against the resolution or to withhold their vote. The Company should
ensure that all valid proxy appointments received are properly
recorded and counted.

Result of general meetings

The Company should announce the poll results as soon as possible
and in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY WEBSITE

The Company’s website is www.tayanggroup.com.

Information submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange is
also posted as soon as practicable on the Company’s website. All
presentation materials provided in relation to the Company’s annual
general meeting and results announcement each year should be
made available on the Company’s website as soon as practicable
after their release.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has updated a policy on payment of dividends
(the "Dividend Policy”) in compliance with the CG Code,
which establishes an appropriate procedure on declaring and
recommending the dividend payment of the Company.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

Factors to be considered

The Company'’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition,
liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates,
which in turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and
associates to pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a
financial year will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

General Principle

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules, the Articles and any applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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Review of the Dividend Policy

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue
to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in
no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that any dividend will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

By a special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 29 June 2023, the Company adopted a new
set of amended and restated memorandum of association and
articles of association to, among other things, comply with the core
shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix A1 to the
Listing Rules, reflect certain updates in relation to the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules and make other house-
keeping amendments. For details, please refer to the announcement
and circular of the Company dated 24 April 2023 and 28 April 2023
respectively and the new memorandum of association and articles
of association of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the constitutional
document during the year ended 31 December 2023. A latest version
of the Company's constitutional documents are also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange'’s website.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was principally engaged
n (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber products;
(ii) developing international digital marketing services; (iii) operating
retail business in the United Kingdom; and (iv) providing healthcare
and hotel services.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 43 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to
96 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of business review, including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, are set out in the sections
headed “Chairlady’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
Directors.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. For the year ended 31 December 2023, there
was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
business partners.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Discussions on the Group's
environmental policies, relationships with its key stakeholders,
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section
titled “Financial Summary” of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account, less accumulated losses.

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the section
titled "Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”, together with
relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$2,000,000,000
dividable into 20,000,000,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each.

Details of the movements in the Company'’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$8,000
(2022: approximately HK$124,149).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the
Company.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 31% (2022: 52%) of the
total revenue of the Group and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 14% (2022: 16%) of the total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 97% (2022: 35%) of the
total purchase of the Group and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 80% (2022: 9%) of the total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 13 December 2018, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) which has been approved by
the Shareholders. The major terms of the Share Option Scheme were
summarised as follows:

1. Purpose

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions to those who had made,
may have made or will make contributions to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Persons (defined
hereunder) opportunities to have personal stakes in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(@ motivate the Eligible Persons to optimize their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(b) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Persons whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group.

¥ ~ BREkK® R
AEEREROWE - BERR
IR A B BMERITE9 ©

BB B

TERRERRZEP

BE-Z-_=Ft-A=1—HLFE %
BAXREFEARERRENNN(—F_—
F 1 52%)  MBEAREPAERREL14%(=
£ 16%) ©

= —

 E-E_=ZF+_A=+—RHLFE  XE
BRAREEEAEEARBERNT7%(—F
——F: 35%) M ERA SR A AN R B AR

 E_E_=F+_HA=1+—HLFE KE
ERFEENEMBEACERRL ETRADKAE
MERR(RESRM - BEARFZHITR
A5%A ) BEAREBARTPHAAHE
AR AT E S o

EERRiEs 2

RZF-NF+-A+=H  ARARADE
B R AL ey BE i = 81 ([ R AR RERT 8 )) - AR
etz T2 Rt T

1. B®

BTSN AR RREHAKED
1’Eﬁ A REEFERBELERZA

- BEREAEIBAABBAL(ERR
TX)?ET%EA$Z\\7T?’EETI}\$¢LZ%
g AERTIIER :

@ BEAEEATAREE Flx%E
FIIEHE : R

b WIIRBEEBRC HHHEARE
BEHHERAMIAL  SAEM
THEERSHECEBRE



TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2.

Participants

The administration committee ("Administration
Committee”), currently comprising Ms. Shi Qi and Mr. Li
Jiuhua, may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take
up options to subscribe for Shares (the “Eligible Person”):

(@ any full time employee or director of any member of the
Group and any entity(ies) in which the Group holds any
equity interest (“Invested Entity");

(b) any part time employee of any member of the Group and
Invested Entity;,

(c) any supplier, distributor, service provider, customer of
the member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group;

(e) any consultant or adviser of or to any member of the
Group who has provided services to such member of
the Group in accordance with the terms of a contractual
relationship entered into between the consultant or
adviser with such member of the Group;

(f)  any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that
provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or Invested Entity; and

(8 such other persons who in the sole opinion of the
Administration Committee from time to time, will
contribute or have contributed to the Group.
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Total number of shares available for issue

The total number of Shares may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 87,117,800 Shares, representing 10% of
the total issued Shares as at the date of passing the relevant
resolution to approve the Share Option Scheme. The maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to
time, unless approved by the Shareholders in the manner as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

For any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
INED or any of their respective associates, the total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant must not:

(@ exceed 0.1% of the total number of Shares in issue; and
(b) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares on the date of each grant, in excess of

HK$5,000,000.

Unless such grant of options is approved by the Shareholders
at a general meeting.
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Acceptance and exercise of options

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the offer of grant of an option and shall be received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer of
grant of the option, which shall not be later than 28 days from
the offer date.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date on which
the offer for the grant of options is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
Unless otherwise determined by the Administration Committee
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share Option
Scheme for the holding of an Option before it can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the
Administration Committee in their absolute discretion and
notified to the participant (subject to any adjustment made
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme) and shall be at least the
highest of:

(@ the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date,
which must be a trading day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5

trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c)  the nominal value of a Share.
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7. Performance target

Unless the Administration Committee otherwise determined
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a
grantee is not required to achieve any performance targets
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme
can be vested in, or exercised by, the grantee.

8. Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted. Accordingly, the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme was approximately 4.6 years (i.e. until 13
December 2028).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no options or securities
had been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme. As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and the date of this Annual Report, there was no outstanding
option under the Share Option Scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required
to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)
Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Hu Jiangbing

Ms. Wang Lina

Mr. Zheng Changxing (appointed on 9 June 2023)

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles and the Listing Rules, Ms. Shi
Qi, Mr. Han Lei, Mr. Hu Jiangbing and Mr. Chan Siu Tat will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this report
still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 9 to 13 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ Profile of this annual report, there
was no change in information of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company up to the date of this annual report which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended
or determined (in the case of executive Director) by the
Remuneration Committee, decided by the Board, and authorised by
Shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance, experience,
responsibility, workload and comparable market securities. No
Director is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. Details of
the remuneration policy for the Directors of the Group are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report under the heading “Remuneration
Policy”.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is reviewed
regularly by the management. Remuneration packages are structured
to take into account the merit, qualifications and competence of
individual employees as well as the general market conditions.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and
the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
Statements.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 13
December 2018, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2023 was the Company or any of its associated corporations a party
to any arrangement, which enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
or their spouses or children under 18 years of age was granted any
right to subscribe for any Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any of its associated corporations.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code to regulate the Directors'
securities transactions. The Company had made specific enquiry of
all Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2023, and they all have confirmed their
respective full compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There was no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest whether
directly or indirectly, existed at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2023 had the Company or any of
its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in
their offices. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Group, in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of the Company’s activities for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 13
December 2018, no equity-linked agreements that have, will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that have, will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company

Nature of interest

Ms. Shi Qi (Note 2)

WL (fa2) R AEES

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Mr. Hu Jiangbing
PTERSEAE

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 (i.e.
1,306,767,000 Shares) has been used in the calculation of the
approximate percentage.

2. Lyton Maison Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and solely owned by Ms. Shi Qi, was interested in
796,875,490 Shares. Of the 796,875,490 Shares held by Lyton Maison
Limited, 654,810,600 Shares were charged to Mason Resources
Finance Limited, which was indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group
Holdings Limited.

Interest of controlled corporation
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(Long) (#F &)
654,810,600 50.11%
(Short) C%&)
850,000 0.07%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFQ); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the
general meetings of the Company:

Nature of interest

EEME

Beneficial owner
EmEEA

Lyton Maison Limited (Note 2)
Lyton Maison Limited (#7/z£2)

Mason Resources Finance Limited
(Note 2)
ERERVEBR AR (HEZ2)

in shares

Mason Group Holdings Limited (Note 2)

EREEZERARRR (Ai72) AR

Person having a security interest
R R RS 2 AL+

Interest of controlled corporation
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underlying the Company
shares held (Note 1)
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796,875,490 60.98%
(Long) (#F &)
654,810,600 50.11%
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654,810,600 50.11%
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Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 (i.e.
1,306,767,000 Shares) has been used in the calculation of the
approximate percentage.

2 Lyton Maison Limited was interested in 796,875,490 Shares. Of the
796,875,479 Shares held by Lyton Maison Limited, 654,810,600 Shares
were charged to Mason Resources Finance Limited, which was
indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
are not aware of any other person, other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of
the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors are not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
Shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

wii -

1. HEBAESLEEFERAR-E=F+=A
= +— BB BITRMBE(EN1,306,767,000
RERZAD) ©

2. Lyton Maison Limited 7 796,875,490 % B% 13
AR RS o A Lyton Maison Limitedi & &)
796,875,490 % f& 7 R - 654,810,6000% I 17 &
RARERERMBERAR(XEEBERE
RAFIKEZEEEMBAR)

BrEXFEREN  RZTEZ=F+=AH
=+—H BEUTTANRTMEMAL(ES
HARNBEETHRABRIN RARQ R K
HERO TP EE AW R AEEREEFESLEE
EBIEXVERFE2 R 30 F MG BM AR R 5
MR IAR  IRIEES AR E KHIF336
BB SEN AR R AFEN S LM R S%
B HERHEEREWNEEEABER TURA
RNAEIRRAE L1829 828 B IR A E
B5%3 LA ERER - B RN EEIREE -

ARPIER
BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HItFE - EF
WARHBESE ARAEERRXFEZEN
ERBEA(ERR ETRB) AEA 5o
SREAREEER RSB EK TR R
RS UARTMEEALTERNARZEEFEE
S A] BE T E M E b F| 2 ge o

B8 ~ WEXBORAS EhESs

RNEBEE_E-_=F+-_A=1+—RH1LEE &K
ARHETAMBARMERE - HEEL
AR BNER] ETHES o



“EC=FEH

AFKEZRERLT

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference (as amended from time to time) in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
discussed auditing, financial reporting, risk management and internal
control matters. The annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023, and is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions
and sufficient disclosures have been made.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the
Company will be held on Monday, 18 November 2024. A notice
convening the AGM, together with a circular therefor, will be
dispatched to the Shareholders, and will be available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company in the manner as required
by the Listing Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 13 November 2024 to Monday, 18 November 2024, both
days inclusive during which no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM or any
adjournment thereof, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 12 November 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board are not aware of any significant event which had material
effect on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN THE PRECEDING
3 YEARS

Elite Partners CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 17 June 2024. The Board has resolved to
appoint CL Partners CPA Limited (“CL Partners”) as the new auditor
of the Company with effect from 17 June 2024 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Elite Partners CPA Limited.

CL Partners shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company. A resolution to re-appoint CL Partners as the auditor of
the Company for approval by the Shareholders will be proposed and
passed at the forthcoming AGM.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been audited by CL Partners, who will
retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment
at the AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the AGM for the
re-appointment of CL Partners as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Shi Qi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 27 September 2024
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To The Shareholders of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 217,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$85,709,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$133,596,000.
These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The directors of the Company are considering a number
of financing measures as set forth in note 1 to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position and consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to fulfil its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future upon successfully implementing these measures. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FAEEI%FEIA

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FIRBEZETEARRMANEEHEMS @ B
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated B ZAHENGANERERAEEENS
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 18 - ZEEERERFBERBEBEATERRE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial ~ KFtittHEE BREETERER - BRMATIE Y
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we — ZZZ=IERMHEEBFE R -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

RRELER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets relating to
the cash-generating units of retail services and
healthcare and hotel services

HTERBREEREREEREOBCEELSEM
EF&%E’U%% R AR DA R AR E 2 R ERT

We had identified the impairment assessment
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets relating to the cash-generating units of
retail services and healthcare and hotel services as
key audit matter due to the significant judgement
involved by the management in impairment
assessment. In view of the financial performance
of the cash-generating units of retail services and
healthcare and hotel services, the Group performed
impairment assessment on the relevant cash-
generating units at the end of the reporting period.
BMEHETERBRBEREREERBNESE
ABUERNYME BMERRBANREREEE
BER GRS ABAREEZEE  RESEEERR
BERM AR S RERHE - ERTERE K BRRE
RBIERBHRCEEBMNPBERER - E5ER
s R EHERAER @ EL BLOETRERE -

The Group's property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets stated at net carrying amounts of
approximately HK$68,387,000 and HK$121,789,000
respectively as at 31 December 2023.

EEE2YE  BERZBEURERAEEER=Z
=+ A=+—HEEFER A AX68,387,000
BT % 121,789,000/ 7T °

For the impairment assessment, the Group
appointed an independent external valuer to
assess the recoverable amounts of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets relating
to the cash-generating units of retail services and
healthcare and hotel services.

SRER AT S - EEEREBIMNMEER (G
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EHENYZE  BERZEAREREEEZAIE

T -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN EZNAHABRERSEE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets relating
to the cash-generating units of retail services and healthcare
and hotel services included the following:

BT EREREERRE S RGEHIESEESNE BN
%%glﬂ?ﬁ%&%%%&ﬁ%%iﬁ%Zf)ﬂZfEEWﬁZ%’f%iﬁ%‘@%
NI B -

- understood the key controls over management’s
impairment assessment.
TR E IR E R ERT BRI BRI o

- discussed with management whether any impairment
indicator exists and basis for the impairment
assessment.

BEIRE SRR B R AR E DR R R E R ELE o

- evaluated the competence, capacities and objectivities
of the independent external valuer taking account its
experience and qualifications.
HEBUINMEEMCER - N REEE - UWERE

- assessed the methodology used and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions adopted in the valuation.
FHEPT AR A RIGEMRA BREBRELREE -

- checked, on sampling basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the input data used.
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%gﬁ IR E P ER A A A BUR Y T 1 RN AE

= evaluated management’s assessment of the potential
impact on the value in use calculations due to
reasonably possible changes on key assumptions.
EEEESERRENSIEN S LMBNEREER
STEEERBIEL AR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RAREREE

Revenue recognition of online marketing solution
services
iR SRR RIRG R R

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group recognised revenue of approximately
HK$912,058,000 for the provision of all-in-one online
marketing solution services, which is recognised
on gross basis (the “online marketing solution
services”).
BHE-_Z-_-—F+-_A=+—RHLtEE  &E
BB LLEHR AT ERBEERL
912,058,000 ) i 2 (IR AR BB EEMER) ([ R L&
SHER R T RARHE]) ©

The determination as to gross or net basis used is
based on the assessment as to whether the Group
acts as a principal or an agent in the transaction,
taking into account the nature of specified
services and whether the Group obtains controls
of the specified services before transferring to
advertisers (the “principal-agent assessment”).
In the principal-agent assessment, the indicators
considered by management of the Company
(“management”) mainly include (a) whether
the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the specified services; (b)
whether the Group has inventory risk before the
specified services transferred to a customer; and (c)
whether the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the specified services.
EEFRAREIFEAEDENTE EEERX
SHREEBETALREA + Wit RIEPREH
MEER BEEBERERZEESTIAREGIVEIERR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B EZNARARRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition of
online marketing solution services included the following:
BMBEER S HR T RRBN RS RR CEZIETRET

5I%IA

- understood the key controls over management'’s

principal-agent assessment, including management’s
approval and review of sales contracts.
THREHEREEHZTAA —REBEAFGOBERIZSE
M BIEBEELHIHE SRR ERER

- discussed with management and understood the

indicators and judgement which management
considered and applied when performing principal-agent
assessment under different circumstances.
HERENR  WTRITEERNTRIBERL N EETE
FEA-REBAFERE R REANEE R -

- checked the online marketing solution services

transactions, on a sample basis, for the key indicators
that management considered in the principal-agent
assessment to the relevant evidence, including the
relevant sales contracts (focusing on scope of service
and pricing terms), reports/screenshots generated
from data management platform which manages
advertisement creation and placement, and contracts of
traffic acquisition from media partners. Also interviewed
the Company’s key employees and observed the
process on how they created and placed advertisement
on the data management platform for the selected
customers.
REEBERZTEA-RBAFEPZRNEZHEZRM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRELER

We focused on this area due to the significant
management’s judgements involved in determining
the Group's role as a principal or an agent and hence
the gross or net basis used in revenue recognition
of online marketing solution services which will have
a significant impact on the presentation of revenue
and related cost in the consolidated financial
statements.

BMAILEREENETE BEXBIEREZFTARL
REANAGBKRIREREREHE - gL
R RAIRF R W e R AT A M R T R A
2 HIWE KA AR & OF B B ¥k 7 6 2 51 K
BAYE -

OTHER MATTER

FAEEILFEIA =)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KA EZNAEABEREREIE

- for the above samples selected, we considered whether
the judgements made by management in assessing
gross versus net basis would give rise to indicators of
possible management bias.

FLAEENERAMS @ RMZEREREETHEEET
BEEMELMNABEREBETEERRMNTR

Based on the above, we considered that the management’s
judgements applied in the revenue recognition of online
marketing solution services using gross or net basis are
supportable by the evidence obtained.

ER EXAt - BAIRRE R E s AR SOF R ERRR
SRR RIS AR PTER HIEN S R IR A B BRI FF

HitheH

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year B&£E&®ZE_Z__—_F+_A=+—HILFE
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who B4 & MEHRERD BB — 2B ET - %%
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 31 March  EEIR - - =F=F=+—BHZFHE®

2023.

RERERER -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charge with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charge with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Wai Chi
Practising Certificate Number: P07830

Hong Kong
27 September 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

& A\ 12 <
RO Bm7<

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023  #

-

=FtZA=THIEFE

2023 2022
—ZE_-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Revenue e 9 1,213,830 343,541
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,120,813) (260,061)
Gross profit EA 93,017 83,480
Other income and net gain HALURA R IR F5E 9 42,404 31,658
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDHERAY (35,839) (23,078)
Administrative expenses THAX (149,279) (138,877)
Other operating expense H@Ems 11 (8) (124)
Share of results of associates FEAREEE N RIREEE = (1,073)
Finance costs BhE RN 12 (30,549) (27,989)
Impairment losses on interests in REEE R EIRER 2
associates BEEE = (5.275)
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEHE EE B8R T
loss model, net of reversal RIEEE - HFREE (4,347) ({5588}
Loss before tax FRBLATES 18 (84,601) (96,811)
Income tax expense FriSFiR = 13 (1,108) (2,093)
Loss for the year FREE 14 (85,709) (98,904)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEFERERS :
owners of the Company RAREBA (88,035) (98,063)
Non-controlling interests IR R 2,326 (841)
(85,709) (98,904)
Loss per share BREE 16
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARR#E B (6.74) (7.50)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

mofBmNEMEBNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—ZE== —=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss for the year FREE (85,709) (98,904)
Other comprehensive income/ Hith2mEkas (FX)
(expenses)
ltems that will not be reclassified TEREEEFHBEERN
subsequently to profit or loss: BH -
Gain on revaluation of properties, L EE e
net of income tax (MBRATEBIE) - 6,739
Fair value loss on financial assets at BATEYRIEE M 2 ERER
fair value through other NEEHNSREENATE
comprehensive income 518 (200) (347)
(200) 6,392
ltems that may be reclassified ARE‘EFHSEEERMNIAER ¢
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on MEBINETSEER
translating foreign operations HEH =5 17,667 (1,406)
Release of exchange difference upon &N B A Rl B ]
disposal of foreign subsidiaries HEH =5 = (11,723)
Share of other comprehensive income FE(EE & R A E A 2 EWES
of associates = 83
17,667 (13,046)
Other comprehensive income/ FREMZERA (BAX)
(expenses) for the year 17,467 (6,654)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EMAZHEE
for the year (68,242) (105,558)
Total comprehensive expenses for the AFATREFAZE A AR :
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company RARER A (69,568) (104,997)
Non-controlling interests eI 1,326 (561)
(68,242) (105,558)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

O IR &R

AT31DECEMBER 2023 W-Z-_=F+_-A=+—H

2023 2022
—ZE_-= B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FExT FETT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B KEE 19 68,387 92,170
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 121,789 144,381
Investment properties "B 21 21,000 21,000
Goodwill [EBES 22 22,718 2,166
Financial assets at fair value through BATHEYBRIEEAM
other comprehensive income 2EREAEENSH
BE 23 2,957 3,183
Financial asset at fair value through BAETIBRIT RN
profit or 10ss EENTCRIEE 24 495 =
Interests in associates REEE R RIS 25 - 4,812
Deferred tax assets FETIBEE 35 441 448
Loan receivables EER 28 52,435 46,289
Deposit s 27 15,927 16,658
Total non-current assets JEMBNEELE 306,149 331,107
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 26 38,074 59,221
Trade and other receivables FEWE SRR K
E At fERIE 27 276,971 196,363
Loan receivables FEWE R 28 49,968 30,821
Bank balances and cash RITEBEIRE 29 28,024 24,005
Total current assets MENEERE 393,037 310,410
current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables BRESERER R
H e FRIE 30 344,280 221,289
Income tax payable FERFTISEL 16,711 17,911
Borrowings B 31 148,351 192,176
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 17,291 12,844
Total current liabilities mEN B ERRE 526,633 444,220
Net current liabilities REBAEFE (133,596) (133,810)

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBERS 172,553 197,297
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

O ISR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 RZ-ZE==F+=-A=+—H

2023
—s—-=
Notes HK$'000
FitEE FTHET
Capital and reserves B R
Share capital &7 33 130,677 130,677
Reserves i (56,245) 6,786
Equity attributable to owners of the KATEE NE(EREZ
company 74,432 137,463
Non-controlling interests AR A 25 44 (6,856) (1,083)
Total equity W us(E 67,576 136,380
Non-current liabilities EkRBER
Borrowings Bk 31 10,760 4,133
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 54,865 52,110
Deferred income EEW A 34 1,760 1,890
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 35 2,784 2,784
Convertible bond A A RR (& A 36 34,808 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBE EARE 104,977 60,917
172,553 197,297
The consolidated financial statements on page 90 to 217 were  SF90EEF2I7ENGEM KRR NEEES
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 R =Z =04 N B =+t B b K IRE T2
September 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTINESRERESE :
Shi Qi Li Jiuhua
ke ThiE
Director Director

EF EF



TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
rOIEREER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADTREARRE
Investments ~ Properties  Capital  Statutory  Convertible Nor-
Share Share Other  Exchange revaluation revaluation ~redemption surplus  bond equity Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reseve  reserve  reseve  resenve losses  Subtotal interests
RE b 5 iERR  TRERRS Fik
Rk RORE RfRE  EXSE  EGBRE  ERER  WERE BHRE  RifEE Bi
HK$000 HKS'000 H HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T I T
(Noteb)
(Biib)
At1lanuary 2022 R-F--%-f-H 130677 761380 (5.081) 136,544 (3930) = 200 399 - 815473 22460 (52 198
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - = = ® (98063 (98063 B 0890
Exchange diferences arsing on ABBSRELNELZR
translating foreign operations - - = (1,688) = - g - = = (1,68) 20 (1406)
Falr valug loss on fiancil assets ot farvaue — RATEFIBTEE2ENGEN
through other comprehensive income SRERNATESE - - = = (317) = = = = = (347 = (3
(i on revaluation of properties, NEERNUECIRAERE)
net of income tax = . 1 - - 6739 - - . 2 6739 — 6739
Release of exchange diference upon disposel ~ HERIHBATHEAR
of foreign subsidiaries EXZE - : o (11723) N - . E : - (11723) % [(ih22]
Shae of other comprehensive income EiBERINEN R ENE
of gssociates 5 g 3 8 g - - 5 - 2 8 £ 8
Total comprehensive (expense)/ ERRE(RR) Y
income for the year 3 5 - (13:326) (347 6739 E ¥ ¢ (98063 (104997) (561 (105,558)
At31 December 2022 RoF-=F+A=1-A 130677 761,380 (5,081) 128218 6.283) 67%9 240 3599 3 (1353 137,463 (1,083) 136380
At1January 2023 R-F-Z%-f-8 130677 761,380 (5081) 123218 (4,283) 6,739 2420 35,929 - (913536) 137463 (1,083) 136,380
Loss for e year R = S S S = = = = - (88035)  (88,039) 236 (85709)
Eichang differences arising on AEBERBLNERER
translating foreign operations - - - 18,667 - - - - - - 18,667 (1,000) 17,667
Falr valug loss on fiiancil assets ot farvaue — RATEFIBTEEB2ENGEH
hrough other comprehensive icome SHERNLATERR = = = = (200) = = = = = (200) = (200)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) EneEhE/ ()88
forthe year = - - 18,667 (200) = - - = (88,035)  (69,568) 1,326 (68,242)
Recogrition of equity compongnt of BITARESERDH
convertble bond (note 3¢) (Kis30) - - - - - - - - 6,537 - 6537 - 6537
Acquistton of  subsidary (note 38) - R AA (H38) - - - - = = = = = = = (7.099) (7,09
At31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-f=+-R 130,677 761,380 (5,081 141,885 (4,483) 6,739 2420 35929 6,537 (1,001,571) 74432 (6,856) 67,576
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

Notes:

a.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the capital
contribution received from/(paid to) a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and the increase/(decrease) in its shares of net asset value
of that subsidiary.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares
repurchased which has been paid out of the distributable reserves of
the Company.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the Company's subsidiaries established and operated in the
PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity
OWners.

Investments revaluation reserve
Investments revaluation reserve represents the change in fair value of

equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

wi -

a.

Hithf# &

Hofth 85 5 18] — RS Bt BB 2 B FE4%E A 2 HiCER,
(X)) BT & ST DAL B A B & A
m/ CRD) B = -

BEXEERE

EXBEOREREEBERRONEE  BESHE
AR R B AT D IR EE AT -

EEBBLES

RIEPEARKMB(HEDERRE A2
B AP BB L R 48 O BT B 1 R R S H AR B
B SR R ROR AR B TE RORR & 088 A (SRR
BEFEEBIEE)NI0%EREZERMBAE
T BEEZ LB HESESEMEARR50%
Rl - BARAERER A D RS RIEEE

ZANER -
RESMHRHE
REELREBIEDBRRAFESIRLAR

SERRNEENEREENELRENAT
ERT) -



926

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mOIREMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

2023

——=

g

HK$'000
FERT

2022
e —

=

HK$'000
TET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REKETBNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PR ATEE (84,601) (96,811)
Adjustments for: PATSEEL A
Allowance for inventories, net of GFERYE - R
reversal (included in cost of sales) (BT ASHERAN) = 2
Amortisation of deferred income TRIE U A B 5 (132) (141)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BB MERETE
equipment 11,206 13,531
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 18,430 18,031
Dividend income from financial REZRAFEFAEMEEREN
assets at fair value through other CREERSKA
comprehensive income (194) (198)
Fair value gain on investment properties — #& &9 %A FEWZE = (8,800)
Fair value loss on held for trading BIEEEREN AT EEE
investment - 24
Finance costs BhE A 30,549 27,989
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries RN e (2,086) )
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEMZE - BERBRHEAR
equipment and right-of-use assets fERAREEENRE (29,606) (12,146)
Loss on early termination of lease AR E B BERNEE
liabilities = 1,046
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEK B A R EE - 2,865
Loss on disposal of an associate & — & A B R Es e 4,812 3,624
Government grants BT & (318) (596)
Impairment losses under expected credit  FEEMEEEEER TREEE -
loss model, net of reversal R 4,347 15,533
Impairment losses on interests in B & N B R E R 1R
associates = 5,205
Interest income F WA (6,192) (5,446)
Share of results of associates JEIGEEE N RIS = 1,073
Operating cash flows before movements 2EESEBHMNEERETRE
in working capital (53,785) (35,147)
Decrease in inventories FERD 22,325 4,764
Decrease in trade and other receivables  FEUE 5 BR 3k I E A FEUGRIA
DA 85,523 74,671
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE SRR R E A FE (T 5R1E
Vo%en (52,856) (50,486)
Cash from (used in) operations REARKEEENES 1,207 (6,198)
Tax (paid)/refund (BA)/REIFE (2,300) 177
Net cash used in operating activities ARKLIENERLTE (1,093) (6,021)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GOIREIMER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &HZE—ZE-_=F+—-A=1+—HIFE

2023
—E-=

HK$'000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

REREEFHNRERE

HEME  BELRELEREEE

FET

and equipment and right-of-use assets HIFT1S IR 67,465 42,635
Interest received from bank deposits RITIFRE U B 69 79
Dividend received from financial assets, AT EzF AH M2 E U

at fair value through other SREEDWRE

comprehensive income 194 198
Purchases of property, plant and BEWMZE - BB L&

equipment (5,136) (5,353)
Purchase of financial asset at fair value ~ BEEBIR AT EFABRZHEREE

through profit or loss (495) -
Net cash outflow on acquisition of W iE —FEIPT B A Rl IR & i 58

a subsidiary (12,750) -
Net cash outflow on disposal of HEMBARMRES ML 58

subsidiaries - (80)
Increase in loan receivables FEW B FIE AN (17,880) (46,099)
Net cash generated from (used in)  RE(FAR)REZTBHNHRLTHE

investing activities 31,467 (8,620)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETHHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Cash received from government grants B WK #BHEE & 318 596
Repayment of lease liabilities EEEEAE (13,422) (16,327)
New borrowings raised MELBEN 37,336 22,608
Issue of convertible bond BATA R ES 40,000 =
Interest paid BFE (18,239) (28,448)
Repayment of borrowings EFER (75,524) (8,217)
Net cash used in financing activities ARBEETENRETE (29,531) (29,788)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH RE&RRESZEYRMCHRL ) FHE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 843 (44,429)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S{HRERRESZEY

BEGINNING OF YEAR 24,005 59,579
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXSEHTE

RATE CHANGES 3,176 8,855
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S&MWRERHEESZEY &

END OF YEAR, REPRESENTED BY

Bank balances and cash IRITEEBNIRE 28,024 24,005
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZ_-T_—=

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate holding company is Lyton
Maison Limited which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the "BVI") and its ultimate controlling party is Ms.
Shi Qi, the Chairlady of the Board and an executive director
of the Company. The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of
silicone rubber and related products, providing retail services,
healthcare and hotel services and provision of online marketing
solution services.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the
"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. As the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the
directors of the Company (the "Directors”) consider that it is
appropriate to present the consolidated financial statements in
HKS.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS 1. " RERREREE 2

OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$85,709,000 (2022:
HK$98,904,000) during the year ended 31 December 2023
and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$133,596,000 (2022: HK$133,810,000). In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and
its available sources of finance to continue as a going concern.
The Directors considered that it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Certain measures have been and are being taken
to manage its liquidity needs and to improve its financial
position, including but not limited to the following:

(i)

(iii)

The Group has undrawn credit facility amounting to
approximately HK$190,000,000 from a financial institution
for its working capital requirements for the next
18-months which will be drawn as and when required;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group obtained and drew down loans with a principal
amount totaling approximately HK$12,960,000, carrying
an interest rate ranging from 3.50% to 5.65% per annum
from banks, available for the Group's working capital and
financial obligations. The credit facilities will mature 12
months after the end of the reporting period;

The Group will continue to carry out cost control
measurement in forthcoming years, including but
not limited to reduce discretionary expenses and
administrative costs. On the other hand, the Group will
continue to explore various strategies to improve the
Group's operating cash inflows including putting extra
efforts in the collection of trade receivables; and

The Group will explore possible fund-raising opportunities
including but not limited to issuance of new shares, right
issues or open offer and issuance of convertible bond
where appropriate.

RS RE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In light of the measures and arrangements as described above,
the Directors consider that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet their financial obligations as they fall
due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern
basis, adjustments would have to be made to restate the
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(HKFRSs)

(@@ New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of accounting policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Except as disclosed below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
Statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FEAMRIREESISBN IR
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG =i 4: 1| [=))
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(HKFRSS) (continued)
(@ New and amendments to HKFRSs that are (@) MRFE@BIEBFET R

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An
accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates, and changes in accounting policies
and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.
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2. [EREhETRAEIEE] iRk
&l )

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(HKFRSS) (continued)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are (@) MINFERHIEBBIFE]

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies"” (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting
policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “"Making Materiality
Judgments” (the “"Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure
the material accounting policy information disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HE—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EMRTREETTSBMEIR
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG SHER ()

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(HKFRSSs) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue (b) BEhafhiBaREBRBIFET AR
but not yet effective RiZs]EEUIEHRESEL
The Group has not early applied the following new and REEWRBEEAA TS HEME
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are HARAEBBFTR] RESIERT B AU
not yet effective: 2R

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after
R BB 28
RRNEEHRER
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor A date to be determined
HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture
BB mELRE0RLEE REEHEABENANEEPERNEE FEBE
SEHERIFE 28R HER] HEFFE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liabilities in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BT BREERE16RNER] EREONEERE —E-mE—-H—A
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current, Non-current 1 January 2024
and Related Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
BB G ERE1RMBE] e F/\@%/}JL@Jj@;ﬂm@]&%%ﬁ&éﬁ&ﬁ —Z-_mW¥—HF—H
(ZZ2-ZF)WERE:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities vvrtn Covenants 1 January 2024
BAGTERE1RAER] MsRZAeERE A E —T-mE—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
HKFRS 7
BRI ERETRREBHE HERRE HE —TZNE—-H—H
WEERIFETRRER]
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BREGTEAE21RHEET e ol —T-RF—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 January 2026
HKFRS 7 Instruments
BEAMBMERANFEIRRES SHTENBERE —EZR¥—H—H
M RELERETRAMER]
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
BB IME LR E 185 BBmENEIIRER —T-+5—H—H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
BB RELAFE195 BERZBEENNBAR : #ER —T-+F—H—H
Amendments to Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification 1 January 2027
Interpretation 5 by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
BREREESTER] PBREE 25— ERALEEREKREEBER —E-t+§—H—H
THERNA S
The Directors anticipate that the application of all of the ESTEHEAME N MESETR
new and amendments to HKFRSs will not have material BB ERE AN R G E
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the T M BEMFREKERTE -

foreseeable future.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain investment
properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation techniqgue. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
AsSets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technigue that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technigue equal the transaction price.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;,

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.

EE+T-A=T-HLEE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. &

INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS).

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

SstRER @
meB¥E®)
EARBAE—RIBD AN EHIE -

ZHBARINEENAGNIFERERS
(0B ) SR IETER - WS NEBMNE
BPER  WATIIME ZENERA
H: (D BREAFERMEMNRE
RTEZ B RNVARFHEEARMNG
MEBAREE(REHE)URAERE
{8 ° STAIR E Al 2 I Y an B AR 30 2R 3% Pl
BRARARNMABLE  REBWAKE
BERLENBARABEELAGBLRA
ANR(ANEFHOEEER KEBEEN
B BMERLRNIER, EFO S
=SARH)

Rt B2 SMRE

M B A R B4R E T AR AR 5 R ET R
BEEBRRARRMNABARRRINE -

REERIREMELINERE
)]

EASEREMB A REER - %M
ERRNEEN B BN LI (0
B)# T AR IERER - Wi BB B
REER - AR FTIER B A FEEE
AR E A FENAME(NEE(S
EREE)ARRNRAHE AREZNB R
AINBEENRAEMNEZETE - TN
Htt2ERa P ERNEZNBRFE
AHME B AAREEERHENE
RAMEREEXBENTAARBIE
MOBERRAEREERTEVER
SERRE AN S —EEER) -
REZHEE R - RENATHE QRN
TAREN R FERRESRER B
BEEREIR ST AETRES
BRI LERNAFE - H(ER)
NEHRRBERFTREELENRE
HIRKAR



BT =FFR

AFKEZRERLT

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an assets and liability in the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statement (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-
use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or l0ss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE_-T_—=

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as establishment at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash generating unit (“CGU") (or groups
of CGUS) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or groups of CGUSs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the CGU (or groups of CGUS) is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or groups of CGUS). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
Group of CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or
CGU within a group of CGUSs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative value of the
operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU
(or the group of CGUS) retained.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. &

INFORMATION (continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The result and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, an investment in associates in
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. Changes in net assets of the
associates other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted
in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount.

Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any assets,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment 10ss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition

(@

(b)

(c)

Revenue from manufacturing and sale of silicone
rubber and related products

The Group engages in sales of goods and concluded that
the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as it
controls the specified goods before they are transferred
to the customer after taking into consideration indicators
such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to deliver the goods and the Group has
inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, being at the point the goods are delivered to
the customers, the Group recognises trading revenue in
the gross amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

Revenue from retail services

Revenue from retail services is recognised at a point in
time when the services are rendered. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the services are rendered
to the customers at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Revenue from healthcare and hotel services

Revenue from healthcare and hotel services is
recognised when the services are rendered.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d)

Revenue from provision of online marketing
solution services

The Group generates revenue primarily from providing
online marketing solution services. The method the Group
recognises revenue from its online marketing solution
service business is affected by the role under each
particular contract with customers. For contracts where
the Group acts as a principal, the Group recognises
revenue on a gross hasis, while for contracts where the
Group acts as an agent, the Group recognises revenue
on a net basis. In determining whether the Group is
acting as a principal or as an agent in the provision
of online marketing solution services, it requires the
Group’s management'’s judgements and considerations
of all relevant facts and circumstances, including but not
limit to (a) whether the Group is primarily responsible for
fulfilling the promise to provide the specified services;
(b) whether the Group has inventory risk before the
specified services has been transferred to a customer
or after transfer of control to the customer; and (c)
whether the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the specified services. Specifically, for all-
in-one online marketing solution services, the Group
recognises revenue on a gross basis. When the Group
provides services to customers which are charged based
on the time advertised under the cost-per-click (“CPC")
or optimised-cost-per-mille (“OCPM") model, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the services.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d)

Revenue from provision of online marketing
solution services (Continued)

The Group provides one-stop online marketing solutions
services, including traffic acquisition from top media
platforms (i.e. online publishers), content production,
big data analysis and advertising campaign optimisation,
to the Group’s advertisers. The Group charges the
advertisers primarily mainly based on CPC or OCPM and
recognise revenue when specified action, such as click-
throughs, is performed. Online publishers may also grant
to the Group rebates in the form of prepayments for
future traffic acquisition or in cash mainly based on the
gross spending of the advertisers.

While none of the factors individually are considered
presumptive or determinative, in these arrangements
the Group is the primary obligor and responsible for (i)
identifying and contracting with third-party advertisers
which the Group views as customers, the Group
is primarily responsible for delivering the specified
integrated services to the advertisers; (i) bearing certain
risks of loss to the extent that the cost incurred for
producing contents, formulating advertisement campaign
and acquiring user traffic from media platforms cannot
be compensated by the total consideration received
from the advertisers, which is similar to inventory risk;
and (i) performing all the billing and collection activities,
including retaining credit risk. The Group bears the
sole responsibility for delivering content integrated
and fulfilment of the advertising and has control in the
specified service before that service is delivered to the
advertiser and act as the principal of these arrangements
and therefore recognises revenue earned and costs
incurred related to these transactions on a gross basis.
Under these arrangements, the rebates earned from the
media partners are recorded as a reduction of cost of
services.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to lease that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

3.

FASHIECRER 2

TH&
HEZER

HEMNRBBRRENS TE-BRERA
2R BB B EERRRERN - BIZE K
RHESBEEHE -

FLIN V146 FE R BB M A 3R 5 R £ 1655
B 2 BT HER] Z B KIS EH EFH
EHELENGOME H AEEKRESR
BB HRELERNFE1RIAT 2EE * &7F
BB NG ~ ERTSREEZ B (H5E
RIEEBNEExEEME - RIFAH
BRZERRGERBERELEES - &
BRI TEMN G - (FRATHEED
% BEARESEEHRYNSEMBEHRE
MEERAanNENHEYBREAER
- AEBURENHEHERESEEAN
BE o

AEBEREBA

DEHEE AR ES D
HRESHERS AR —BHLZEEINME
EIFHERINAOME - ARER
BERER D R EE B ER R IFEEE
DEEBYERBAORESEERHE
B0 ERKEDE(BREELMR
FHEEETHD ) I EREDNAL B
FREAEHR AT SERDEC ©

FTRIHERIEEEEEHE

AEEEHA B A RE R12EA
HARNBY T ERBEENHEEEREH
HEERHR - AT EEEEENH
EEABRHE HHEENEEER
ERENHENRRERRNRERESL
E— RS EEER R -



118 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHH®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the date of reassessment; or

o the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All of the Group’s leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Rental income is
presented under “other income and net gain”.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period/year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income and net gain”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

XS ¥R AN &

BAmpeEA S ERENEEGET
MBI R IRE RS REMB S
- 0 THER

BT B & ToR A SR B % 8 Bh & R4 (B
BB AR AR OHREE Rt
RiBsshiER - ABME - T2HRNR
AEEBERBE - BRICAEMTAWRE
FRBEENBRBHEERNEETE
RRAKRANERBELTWA - B RGR
RHEMZAREENERFHERER

Ny
S o
I

1 7% BB A A S Bk B 1R A 7 18 A FE UK
TR A A SR B IR BN B BU R (S R
ARIARRIRCA ) BB 6 BY 2 1A K 4 8 L
FENHRAN BT ER - BEENE
IR B A S et %58 | 251

SR & Ml AN

MR B B R E AR IR R
e B AEL I MNFER
EERHEREMELZEEREIELERH
TR o

RHEAR Hith R EA R S &

HTERFT  FREBEEMREERR
MEER 2 AERRERREZ AR BRR
BB ARRE AN 2@ 2 Rk
RefatH -

BRASHIREBRAER 2 BETIREY
RWEBRBAIN 2@ ZARBERS
BRTHE -



BT =FFR AFKEZRERLT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits (continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.
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Taxation ﬁﬁlﬁ
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently BHRXIEE RN IE RRERIE
payable and deferred tax. %Eﬁ?ﬂ? 2

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the recognition
good consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
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tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary Ty =R - EERIBBEEBRERAN
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for BRI MBI ER =R - WARE A8
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is I FA AT 07 B AR 2= BR O B A B R B T
probable that taxable profits will be available against which AR o WEREEREVPER(TERIERE

those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such BEit) "B ERERT RN R Eg5ha
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the MR SGHEERBEMELS - AT
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other HRBRELEHIBEERBE o N

than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

=F+-A=T-HILLFE

3.

FASHIECRER (2

1A ()

AEE S ERH B AR IR E R
L RRI WA B RO AR By A
RIEEVIAAE - A RE ST %U
i EnEE TR ER N AR R
] 5% 2R 3 m RURR S ﬂ?ﬂ%%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
EEMRERREE(EZERE MER
BRAE) A THER - HENGAEERH
ERVEFN B AEREZENFE - B
BN AIFAR AR AL E QR

EXEHRBEENRREES RS HRE
1THRRT - S HIR E B & 2 598 SR A i A
AT AR BB BN EE

AL B A R B (AR R R 85 B AT
BB o B R AR RBIE (RBUR) -
TR A B (% 0o 7 R
MBI -

EERAEABREENTERRERS
HRAEEERHUORBFELEER
BEREENT A3 BTG E

R EERATERAGEZRENE
ZELREBEME - ARVNENREER
EBBHEEMEE - BRIFZBRERK
B AR - EH R AFENREY
¥ REDRENENEBABERER

REME S HBRED D BN EH
BARFE(MAFEBLE) - AIZBRE
WEE o



BT =FFR AFKEZRERLT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHEEESR 2
INFORMATION (continued)
Taxation (Continued) wmig&)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

RAKEERERAEEENEBEER
BEZHERZHEREERAMS - A&
B EEBERIRENRES RBNERE
BEZMEERE -

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are ?ﬁ)féléﬁﬂﬂ SENHEEECHERS
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS CAEEeHHEEEBEREBEE

12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
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authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets HEHABMWIEEERBGER - ARLT
and liabilities on a net basis. MIBEEREER GAELHE
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss BVHA R IE R TN B 2 FE AR - M BN R

except when they relate the items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position as cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as "right-of-use assets"
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

If a property becomes an investment property when there is
a change in use, as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in
respect of that item will be transferred directly to accumulated
losses when it is derecognised.

Depreciation is recognised so as write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHH®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held on earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the different between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

xR ~ ME KRR

WE - BERRBENHEERNHERFHIR
BT ERFEEAZREETESRK
FEN AR TR - TRHBESK
BEEME  BFERRENREMELD
Wk BB - DIRZREENHEMS
FREREECANEEEE - WRIE
PR o

REMF

BEMETIHERRAS R/ R EAE
B -

BEMEN S ERAHE - REEAE
BB - RIS HBE - RAME
BATEIE - REWEZ ATFES

B 2 Wt S AT A AR 2 18

Ny
S o

I

BREVENLERIREMEKAER
RIEETEEE B H E SRR LB =S
RPAR IERERR - R TER M EPTELEME
AR EIR (R EMSEHRRFRER
MEEREENZEAE) MR LHRZ
R Z BB AT -

BIFEEZIFRAEE
WIFRBEE(REEAR) Z REER
AEERBHEERS  MIBRBRKER
RmiE - MesBERRELE - 1
NEREE (KB EAR) AHREREE
MM E HERTEBLEZXEE
(HHEAR) 2 —RIEFHFK - BBE
AREHER - TENE EEREAET
ERLE  MEERMEARSEEH
Bt —FREERBER/C ERHE -



128 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
PUrPOSeES.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHEHERSER#

INFORMATION (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHEEESR 2
INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERTH#)
Financial assets (Continued) ERMEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from change in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in “other income and
net gain” line item in profit or loss.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset that does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other income and net gain” in line item.

=F+-A=T-HILLFE

3. &

gitcrER =

G- W=1E )
EMEEE)
EHEEMNSERAKE(E)

(ii)

(iii)

?b*%?z@ﬁ{ﬁﬁlﬁﬁji&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ&
mARRENER T A

BAHEIRLEE M2 ERER
RIEMED TARERERIEAFE
B MEATFESHELNKE
Ko 1R EL 2 T Y T SR R
BEMBRER - MBAETRIE
A - RFHREHERBTER T
ERAREREN D EEED - I
HEBERTER -

B AR BRI B I
BHFHW%H*JT“E/T\H S RMEER—

DREKA - BRE#EETAF
E’JE%??&%Z%HXH’JH& eREER
FER - BLERTABRZE A Eib i
AR W5 /A -

RATESIRTERRARENE
BEE

TR & RBHKATIR A T ETER
WAEE M2 H IR NERIESIEE A
BN FES BRI AR H At 2 E U ES A
RIEFF 2SR EE LR A TET
BRI EIB R NBRIERTE ©

REBREHRR - RAFEIIRILE
BRARENTREERAFE
2 BB A ERGSEETEER
mEPEEm\ B P R Y R 3k
BRFRNEEZ S /& E P HRER
BERKREHAE - Wt AT EAM
WARKEFEEIBRNA °



BT =FFR AFKEZRERLT
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other receivables,
deposit, loans receivables and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the end
of the reporting period. Assessment are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
end of the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Company measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
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assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHIERER (=
INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERTEH#E)
Financial assets (Continued) SREEE)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment FBIRIEE B SRR E O 1T R (E
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) FHER 2 B EE R E (E)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) iy [EERBEZEMNE)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
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internally or obtained from external sources indicates WEEIRA - EBATKAERE
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including BREA(BEREER)BEERCR

the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower,

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider,

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #ZE_-Z—

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward- looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

EABHBRER =)

G- W=1E )
EMEEE)

BIREE BB HREERE IS AETTHIE
LR 2 BB R E ()

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables, and loan receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EBASHBERER#
INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) Em T B#)
Financial assets (Continued) cRMEEE)
Derecognition of financial assets AU TR A

The financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it

RAEEEERIGREREMN A NEFE
mo REREREERETRAENE

transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and K*Bfﬁﬂﬁﬁ&@ﬂﬁ%uﬁ%ﬁ TR
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. FRIFEREREE -
On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which PR ERER NS BTV ERRNIEE A

the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHEERSR#Z

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the assets belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or a group of CGUS to
which the corporate assets belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU group of CGUS.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUSs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment |0ss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).

Convertible bond

Convertible bond issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately as financial liability and equity on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar non-
convertible debts. The difference between the gross proceeds
of the issue of the convertible bond and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the convertible bond into equity, is
included in equity (convertible bond equity reserve) and is not
subsequently remeasured.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Convertible bond (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bond is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component, representing
the option to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible bond equity
reserve until the conversion option is exercised (in which
case the balance stated in convertible bond equity reserve
will be transferred to share premium. Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in convertible bond equity reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bond using the
effective interest method.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future period.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. 285 IERz {45t A0ARAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the Directors have made in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Determination of revenue recognition on gross or net
basis

As disclosed in Note 9, the Group provides online marketing
solution services to its customers, which involve the
assessment of revenue recognition on a gross or net basis,
i.e. principal vs. agent assessment models. The Group follows
the accounting guidance for principal-agent considerations
to assess whether the Group controls the specified service
before it is transferred to the customer, the indicators of which
including but not limited to (a) whether the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified
services; (b) whether the Group has inventory risk before
the specified services has been transferred to a customer;
and (c) whether the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the specified services. Management considers the
above factors in totality, as none of the factors individually are
considered presumptive or determinative and applies judgment
when assessing the indicators depending on each different
circumstances.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. 285 IERz &5t 0ARAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Determination of revenue recognition on gross or net
basis (Continued)

The Group is primarily obligated in a transaction, and has
latitude in establishing prices and selecting publishers, or
has several but not all of these indicators, the Group records
revenues on a gross hasis.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. The Group
has recognised deferred tax liabilities of approximately
HK$2,784,000 (2022: HK$2,784,000) on changes in fair value of
investment properties.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Rebates from media partners

Media partners may grant the Group rebates in various forms.
The Group records such rebates as reduction of cost of services
under gross basis (where the Group acts as principal). The
rebates earned by the Group from media partners come with a
variety of structures and rates, which are primarily determined
based on the contract terms with these media partners, their
applicable rebate policies, the business performances of the
Group and the discretionary incentive programs as set up by
the media partners (or their authorised agencies).

The Group accrues rebates from media partners based on
evaluation as to whether the contractually stipulated thresholds
of the Group’s spending on traffic consumption are likely to
being reached, or other benchmarks or certain prescribed
classification are likely to be qualified. This determination
requires significant judgment and estimation. In making this
judgment and estimation, the Group evaluates based on the
past experience and regular monitoring of various performance
factors set within the rebate policies. Such rebates as a
percentage of gross spending of the Group and the advertisers
may fluctuate and are reviewed and adjusted from time to time.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets was recognised for the amounts
by which the carrying amounts exceed their recoverable
amounts, in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
when impairment indicator is identified on those assets. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on value
in use calculations and fair value less cost to sell. The value in
use calculations require the use of estimates such as the cash
flows projections and pre-tax discount rates. In determining
the fair values, an independent professional valuer assesses
the significant unobservable input by reference to market data
and takes into consider certain estimates of market conditions.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables, and
loan receivables

Management determines the provision for trade receivables
based on the ECLs which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Management also determines the
provision for other receivables and loan receivables based on
the ECLs which use either 12-month or lifetime ECLs depending
whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. The loss allowance for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rate.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group'’s historical credit loss rates appropriately adjusted
in accordance with current economic conditions, customer-
specific conditions and forward-looking information to estimate
the ECLs for the impairment assessment.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade and other
receivables, and loan receivables are disclosed in note 27 and
note 28 respectively.

Estimated impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU (or group
of CGU) to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from CGU (or a group
of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
is approximately HK$22,718,000 (2022: HK$2,166,000) (No
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 2023
and 2022). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 22.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 21.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values
of the Group's investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on
macroeconomic environment through performing sensitivity
analysis in relation to the Group's investment properties.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment properties is HK$21,000,000 (2022: HK$ 21,000,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash, lease liabilities, borrowings, convertible bond, and
equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. The Directors review the
capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issue and the
issue of new debts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. EfTH
Categories of financial instruments Ert T 2805
2023 2022
—E_= —EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets SHMEE
At amortised cost (including bank balances & #E Ak AN (B 3EERTT
and cash) HERMAS) 302,411 285,936
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEHER A EMEE
WENEEN S REE 2,957 3,183
Financial asset at FVTPL BATEHERIEEZEA
BRENSMEE 495 -
Financial liabilities SRIEE
At amortised cost R SER AR 329,506 319,817
7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. WEEEEREIERE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include financial AEENFTESHTEBREIRAFET
assets at FVTOCI, financial asset at FVTPL, trade and other R AEMEEREAREN S ME
receivables, bank balances and cash, loan receivables, E ZATEINRTABEENRENS
deposits, borrowings, convertible bond and trade and other BEE - EUE 5 R R H o JE YK
payables (including trade payables, accrued expenses and B ROEBERS BRER - &
other payables). Details of these financial instruments are B UBRREFUARENESE
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these AR EAMENRIE(BIEENE SRR
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate FERTRAS REMBEMNRIE) - ZEF&mT
these risks are set out below. The management manages and B RN SRR RE o TXHT
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are HZES R T BB AR R & E FEE
implemented on a timely and effective manner. ZERBHEER - SEEBENEEZ

FRE - AREGR AT R A ROt REUE

EEE
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HHEEREREBIEREE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by several
subsidiaries of the Company in currencies other than those
subsidiaries’ functional currencies. In addition, certain portion
of the financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and borrowings are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the entities to which they relate.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

AEBEEHRZEEER - BHERRR
BARRZHENBARNSBENEE
BN EBETHHERRE - It
Sh - AFEIIRLEEMEEEER
REMNEREE  BRE SRR LEAM
EWRIR - T3 RITHEBREAS B
158 5 e % B L L A5 R IR A B £ 33k R
BETEHATIARBEERGERE AN
M EREEHE

AEBUINEHENEBEERARR
HEAMMREENT

Assets Liabilities
BE =R
2023 2023
—E_= —E-=
$'000 $'000
Fx Frx
United States Dollars Ex([Ex])

("US$") 37,711 3525 1,124 —
Pound Sterling (“GBP") FeE([3eRE]) 2 6,849 - 4,888
New Taiwan Dollars Hek(Hen))

("“NTD") 2,957 3,183 = =

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the Directors continuously monitor the related
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

ARG B A EINE LR o AW
EEREESARNERR - XHERTE
EREZRREBAINERBRAETE
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in
US$, GBP and NTD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2022: 5%) increase and decrease in functional currency
of the relevant group entities (i.e., mainly HK$ and RMB)
against the relevant foreign currencies, 5% (2022: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated items and
adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% (2022: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in loss for the year and decrease in
other comprehensive income for the year where respective
functional currency strengthens 5% (2022: 5%) against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of respective
functional currency against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the loss for the year and
other comprehensive income for the year, and the balances
below would be negative.

7.
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TEIE A B {EH A RN & B [ R 65 P
ARSERELR T AEEEHINEE
RAEBA R BN - HRELNTE
BIEAINESHERAREERZEE - WL
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NEREBERFRHE 2 E RS
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Us$ GBP
ETT R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAETT AT
Loss after tax BR#i1& &8
-2023 === =k 1,528 - -
- 2022 ——F__ 1,316 74 =
Other comprehensive income H ity 2GS
- 2023 —— T _=fF - - 148
- 2022 — T _F = - 156
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HHEEREREBIEREE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In view of the pegged rate between HK$ and US$, the Directors
do not expect there is a material effect by any changes in
movement in value of US$ against HKS.

In the Directors’ opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate borrowings and convertible bond. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate borrowings. The
Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on Prime Lending Rate arising
from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings
of approximately HK$34,500,000 (2022: HK$28,500,000). The
Directors consider the cash flow interest rate risk arisen on
bank balances as insignificant. The Group manages its interest
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from
any interest rate movements based on interest rate level
and outlook. The management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are
within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rate for non-derivative instruments
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2022: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates have been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 would increase/decrease by approximately HK$144,000
(2022: approximately HK$119,000).
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HFEEREEBIEREE @)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed financial assets at FVTOCI. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio
of investments with different risks. In addition the Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective equity securities have been
5% (2022: 5%) higher/lower, investments revaluation reserve
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$147,000 (2022:
HK$159,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HHEEREREBIEREE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does
not provide any guarantees that would expose the Group to
credit risk.

In order to minimize the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 56% (2022:
55%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2023.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 24% (2022: 24%)
and 52% (2022: 52%) of the total trade receivables are due from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HFEEREEBIEREE @)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on
debtors with significant balances individually and/or by using
a provision matrix, grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtor. As part of the Group's
credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ past due
status to assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost of effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HHEEREREBIEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

BEaRRNEEFE @)

TREKAEASRERERBREERE
AHER BN E ZERFEERRAER -

The following table provides information about the Group'’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed
collectively based on provision matrix:

Average loss rate
THEHEE

Gross carrying amount Loss allowance
REEASR BERE

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F CZE-= S —E-= —E-

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT  FER T TER  TAR

Current (not past due) e St 0.85% 1.30% 22,111 53,551 187 695
1-90 days past due BH1E90H 1.80% - 25,676 = 462 =
91-180 days past due BHI91E180H 6.32% 4.09% 9,788 11,198 619 458
Over 180 days pastdue  #HE3EA180H 100% 100% 4,479 6,565 4,479 6,565

62,054 71,314 5,747 7,718

The Group determines the provision for other receivables
and loan receivables based on the ECLs which use either
12-month or lifetime ECLs depending whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. The loss
allowance for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rate. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
historical credit loss rates appropriately adjusted in accordance
with current economic conditions, customer-specific conditions
and forward-looking information to estimate the ECLs for the
impairment assessment.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits and bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade receivables and other
receivables, loan receivables, deposits and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.

AEBERBRBEEBEETEMMER
FEREBUREREE  EREHREES
EEAREAREMEREESE A
BECAREERRBVINERREEA
BERM - SREEBRRBHENY
BHORREERERETNRR - AKHE
EERZERRLEBRREFERWARK
BE - REASENELEEBHBEY
RBEENZLEBERR - TP ABBRKLA
EEEETEERBERHE - JAG
FURERHETEREEEE -

MREFHREBEREEFEARBERT
BIEEFRMRT - BULEHRITER
KMRITHEBONEERBR AR -

EERRIEASENS FRERTEA
MEBLHAEEERMBERZE
% ARBEZEERRETIEZERNEK
HHRRNEMERRIR - BRES
FRRRITER - ARBE YL ERFA T
BN EMEERAARERSRE
EZHBEERR
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilization of borrowings.
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived

from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted
average
interest

rate

METINE

At 31 December 2023 RZB-ZE

%

Within
one year or
on demand

~ERARER
HKS'000
147

More than
one year
but not
exceeding
two years
—EH LR
TEAmE
HK$'000
T

7.

i EREIEBIRRECR &)

MENE E @R

REERDESRARMS
ReRR2EEY  UBEESNE

BB AR

¢%@&ﬁ

7%$El¥i%ktﬁ

e WRERSREFRSNTE -

BEERERNER - TEE?%EJ$EI
TRAEGENHRTEOIHABR - RPE
BHNBRAEHERE -
BHXHE

BV K ARETE -

More than
two years
but not
more than
five years
RENLE
TERLE
HK$'000
T

More than
five years

BENE
HK$'000
T

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
AEBRS
HEEH
HKS'000
T

EENSYink -9z
CBIREEIR S IR E AR

Carrying
amount

KEf
HK$'000
TAT

tZR=1-A
Trade and other payables T EHEFR
HibfEftsua NATER 135,587 - - - 135,587 135,587
Borrowings E3 10.34 162,151 3,545 - 11,804 177,500 159,111
Convertible bond mhRES 10.00 4,000 4,000 44,000 - 52,000 34,808
301,738 7,545 44,000 11,804 365,087 329,506
Lease liabilities HERE 6.37 20,359 17,685 26,773 19,508 84,325 72,156
At31December2022  H=B==f&
+-A=1-A
Trade and other payables e Z 5T
At pefiztE NATER 123508 - - - 123508 123508
Borrowings B 1192 194,008 = 4133 = 198,141 196,309
317516 - 4133 - 321,649 319.817
Lease liabilities HEek 580 17,179 13,627 26595 19,006 76407 64,954
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8.

SRS HR%&MEE

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Except for the financial assets of FVTOCI and financial asset at
FVTPL as stated below, the Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements were
approximate to their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial assets that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period
for recurring measurement, grouped into level 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance
to the Group's accounting policy.

Fair value as at
31 December

2023
—m——

—_——=

+=RA=+-H

HATE A

Financial assets
CREE

HK$2,957,000
2,957,000/ 7t

Listed equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVTOCI

DR RR L TED BRI 2 E S
NERIEH & RE EH) LR

Participating life insurance classified =
as financial asset at FVTPL

DRRERNTEYRGEBEAEEE
TREENDARE

FHZA=1T—HLFE

8.

Fair value as at
31 December

2022

—Eo &
+-B=+—¢H

FfE

HK$3,183,000
3,183,000/ T

ERTENATE

BT XAt A E ARG EE RS
MEMEERRAFEFABRNER
BESN  BEERR ARKAMBEER
BBFERAANENEREERERAR
ISR EHARY  AZEeMEE
REAENREEEEQFERS

TEREHRESBEHARIREFEER
FEFENEREENT - DIREAE

BHNEABRRERATENBERED R
F—E=ZE-

Valuation
technique(s)
and key inputs

Fair value
hierarchy

EETER
FEHABE

AFEER

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
F—E active markets
ERMSHREAE
Level 3 Quoted price by the
EZE insurance company
RER 2 B FTER(EHE

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND
NET GAIN

Revenue represents fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and for goods sold and services rendered in the
normal course of business to customers, net of discounts and
sales related taxes.

Mﬁi_giziﬁ_$::$+:ﬂ
=+ —HULEFE  AFEERHEITE
(ECIE=EE

& e B fth U A B2 UN &5 5% 88

Waste o WK EREREEBB
BREATEFPHEERALRERRBHMK
ERAFE - MR RSN -
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9. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 9. UmKE YA BUNEiF A

NET GAIN (continued) (&)
Revenue recognised for the year are as follows: FARRHW AT
2023
—Eq2-=
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue Wz
Sales of silicone rubber and related SHEMEB MABEESR
products — point in time — AR 226,082 308,101
Retail services — point in time TERB —NE BB, 75,674 35,413
Online marketing solution services — RS RRE —
point in time RE 2L 912,058 =
Healthcare and hotel services — over time BB REE SR TS BRTS —
R —ER B 16 27
1,213,830 343,541
Notes: Bis -
(@) Contract liabilities (a) BHERE
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEEBEBERATEEZHABRNENE
contract liabilities: f& :
2023 2022
—=E-= —E__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt FT
Sales of silicone rubber and SHERER RABRAE &
related products 946 1,275
Online marketing solution services i3 SRR R IRTS 86,769 =

87,715 1,275
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9. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND
NET GAIN (continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(@) Contract liabilities (Continued)

Contract liabilities as at 1 January 2022 was approximately
HK$4,215,000. The significant increase in the current year was
mainly due to the acquisition of a subsidiary as detailed in note
38. Contract liabilities primarily consist of the unrecognised
revenue on online marketing solution services from the amount
prepaid by customers, where there is still an implied obligation
to be provided by the Group.

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance
payments made by customers while the underlying services are
yet to be provided.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised

in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities balance at 1 January
— Sales of silicone rubber and related
products

RRE

9. WaERHEfhlif A 2tz iF &R
(&)
Kzt - (4)

(@ EBHEEE)

R-TE-—F—A—HHNANEENE
4,215,00087C - NFEEARBIEMEZZ
FA A 38 LN P A 38 AT alt Uk B — R T /B
AT - AWBEBETEREFFENK
B R R AR & SRR 5 =R U
3 AEBENEAEEESET -

FEENAHEBEIEREPIEHMA
IR - ABREARTS M AR R -

HEKR EFRREH Yoas HEF
TNRETARE SRR YR B4
HANABERENEHE -

2023
===

P ——

HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
T

R—A—HFtABHEEERD
BRI - HEER K

911 3,888

(b) Transaction price allocated to unsatisfied long-term
contract

The Group generally enters into service contracts with
customers for a contract term less than one year. Therefore,
the Group has applied the practical expedient permitted under
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” not to
disclose the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied
performance obligations.

(c) Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract

While providing all-in-one solution service to customers, the
Group may incur fulfilment costs including production cost of
short video, etc. However, considering that the service is usually
satisfied in a short period, the Group did not capitalise assets
recognised from costs to fulfil a contract.

(b) SHEERBITRUEGHNXZER

REE—REAT P LAOHRNER
—EFORBAL - At - ARECER
BEMBREENE R TLA O
@ MAFNERERE  PTRE
DT RERBEHRENR HER

() BETEARIEINEE

REBERTPRHE R =R
B - AIREREL RS F BERAE
FRAIBA - R - ERIIRBBESHE
RHNER - NEBEWAREEITA DK
RERNEEERE
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— \TNF

mypaa

NET GAIN (continued) (&)
Other income and net gain for the year are as follows: FAREMBARFWEAT
2023 2022
—E_= T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Other income and net gain E AR A RIS HEE
Interest income FLEWA
— Loan receivables —EWER 6,123 5,367
- Bank deposits —8RITIEN 69 79
Total interest income ISR Nk 6,192 5,446
Dividend income from financial assets at REZRAFEFAEMEE
FVTOCI Was e mEERBUA 194 198
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE R&E
equipment and right-of-use assets VAR f55 R & EE i e 29,606 12,146
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries ST EHFT B R R A R 2,086 2
Loss on early termination of lease liabilities 2RI IFTA S B EHETE = (1,046)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries &M B A R E S = (2,865)
Loss on disposal of an associate & — R A R M EE (4,812) (3,624)
Exchange gain, net b 5 e F R 4,492 6,926
Fair value loss on held for trading BIEEERENATE
investment E51E = (24)
Fair value gain on investment properties WEMFERN AT EWR = - 8,800
Government grants g
— Amortisation of deferred income — FRIRE U A SE
for the year 132 141
— Government grants (Note a) — S fB & (Haza) 318 596
Net rental income (Note b) YA FEE(Ha2b) 785 410
Others HAftb 3,411 4,552
42,404 31,658
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9. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 9. INEREMUXARINGFEE

NET GAIN (continued) (4&)
Notes: Kt
(@)  The amounts represent unconditional grants from government () BEFBEABRNAEEDFRENEAR
for subsidising the operations of the subsidiaries in the PRC. LENEGEHEDS
() Ananalysis of the Group’s net rental income is as follows: b)) AEEBESWAFEHIFTOT
2023 2022
—B-=F —E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
Gross rental income e AmBzE 785 410
Less: Outgoings incurred for investment A RFREAES A
properties that generated rental RIIR B YIRS KA
income during the year = =
Net rental income HE WA FEE 785 410
10.SSEGMENT INFORMATION 10. REPER

The Group's reportable and operating segments, based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
"CODM"), being the chief executive officer of the Company,
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment (with a focus on the type of goods or services
delivered or provided) are as follows:

(@ Silicone rubber and related products — manufacturing
and sale of silicone rubber and related products;

(b)  Retail services — providing retail services in the UK;

(c) Healthcare and hotel services — providing healthcare and
hotel services in the PRC; and

(d)  Online marketing solution services — provision of online
marketing solution services in the PRC.

During the current year, the Group commenced the business
engaging in online marketing solution services in the PRC
through acquisition of a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 38, and
it is considered as a new reportable and operating segment by
the CODM.

No operating segment identified by the CODM has been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segment of the Group.

RESBTIBELERRE([EEEE
REE ) (ARRZITHBABE) AETT
BERDERKRBFENER (TR

NEWHRRRGHORE) - KEBHA
HEREEDERTIAT

(@) MEBRERER -RENRHEER
NAEREEMR

b) FTERE-NRERETERS

(C) EBRERIRIE RIBEE RS — RO BfR it
BERELBERS &

(d) MREZHRD RS —NPEE
AR 2 SRR DT RS

RAEE  AEEBEBIE—RHERQ
Bl (BINM FE38 AT IR EE ) R R BRI L =
MR HEBRTRIRGER - XRER
BERREC R IRERLEDE -

REBRAREERT %ﬁa‘ﬁ%'?/ 3 =
BEZRRERFEBROEEDE -
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. pEB&Rl =)
Segment revenues and results pak b €AY NE S
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenues and results T AREEIZRAIRE REED HE D
by reportable and operating segments. R e R FEE DT o
2023 =B—=4F
Silicone Online
rubber and Healthcare marketing
related Retail and hotel solution
products services services services Total
EBR BRERAER Pl f
HERER ZERE BERE BRTREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT THET FHET THET
REVENUE e
External sales HOMRE 226,082 75,674 16 912,058 1,213,830
Segment results DEEE 11,242 (26,619) (11,176) 6,512 (20,041)
Unallocated income RABBA 3,317
Unallocated expenses ROMHZ (67,877)

Loss before tax BREAIEE (84,601)
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REf&ER 2
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DU N AR (7))
2022 —E-—F

Silicone
rubber and Healthcare
related Retall and hotel
products Services services Total
ES YN BEERER
HEEm TE IR B G AR TS 45T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET T T
REVENUE =3
External sales HINEE 308,101 35,413 27 343,541
Segment results DEPFELE 9,470 (23,205) (25,036) (38,771)
Unallocated income RoEUA 12,007
Unallocated expenses KOEEAX (70,047)
Loss before tax FrEERIEE (96,811)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results
represent profit earned by/(loss from) each segment without
allocation of certain other income and net gain, directors’
emoluments and central administrative costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment revenues reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

REDMOSTRRERNKESHBR
MR - DERARELEO RS THM
WARMKzFE  EFHE RFPRITR
RABIERT - &0 BBREAE RN, (E
EMER) WHE/RTEIREERRE
HEITERD B M FRRFEE -

FEX 2RO D BRERINTIRFEEDN
Wk  REBE-_BE-_=FK_-_FT_—
T A=T—HILFEWESIEIEE -
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segment:

10. 5380&

e

AT RAREBZA HE RS D ED

S z)

sENRGRE

MEERBEDN

2023
—=—=
HK$’'000
FEx
Assets BE
Silicone rubber and related products =B R ARREE R 239,211 255,987
Retail services TERS 72,937 65,822
Healthcare and hotel services e R 2 ROl 5 AR TS 113,273 168,737
Online marketing solution services & L EERR T RRG 123,670 =
Total segment assets NEEERE 549,091 490,546
Unallocated corporate assets APBRARIEE 150,095 150,971
Consolidated total assets REBERE 699,186 641,517
Liabilities afE

Silicone rubber and related products HERB MAREEm 151,115 189,691
Retail services TER 64,158 44,778
Healthcare and hotel services BE R & ROB I BRAS 236,998 258,530
Online marketing solution services iR SRR RRT 128,589 =
Total segment liabilities ﬁ%ﬁﬁ{a%@ ] 580,860 492,999
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAPOBRARIAE 50,750 12,138
Consolidated total liabilities A BERE 631,610 505,137

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERDIRREER DB 2BEAEREIR
allocating resources between segments: mE :
e  all assets are allocated to operating segments other than e RUEATAENEE(BIERAT

BRI EHMEmRESREES
SREE  REBEARMERS &
TR ﬁ%& X - Ee - Hit
%%mﬁ & T RWE A KRTT

EHRERRE)IN FIBEEHDE

Eg«héé/]j\_LB &

assets for corporate use including financial assets at
FVTOCI, interests in associates, certain furniture, fixtures
and equipment, deposits, other receivables, certain loan
receivables and bank balances and cash; and

BRARBBE(RRAIRERES &
TRAFAXREMENS IE)?I\'
ERBEANEERENES

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other .
than corporate liabilities including convertible bond,
certain accrued expenses and other payables.
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REf&ER 2
Other segment information Hith N EPE

Silicone Online
rubber and Healthcare ~ marketing
related Retail  and hotel solution
Unallocated products Services services services Total

EBR BRRR  RLEH
A2k HEEm  FERE REERE RRAREH st
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TRT TRT TRT TRT TRT TRT

Year ended 31 December HZ-Z-=%

2023 TZAZ+-HILEE
Amounts included inthe A5 S &&50 7 WEE

measure of segment SIENEE

results or segment

assets:
Additions to property, plant ~ FENE - BEREE

and equipment 449 314 4,370 - 3 5,136
Depreciation of right-of-use  FREEENE

assets 4,800 8,405 4,873 - 352 18,430
Depreciation of property, plant 9% - BERRAETE

and equipment 1,319 7,709 1,305 786 87 11,206

Impairment losses (reversed) Bt T2 IARERREE
recognised in respect of: BR(#E):

- Trade receivables - BRE SER = (2,467) 484 = = (1.983)

- Other receivables - Hf IR 7401 3,740 = = = 11,141

- Loan receivables - ERER (5,857) 1,046 = = = (4.811)
Interest expenses MERR 5,323 5,757 551 18,855 63 30,549
Interest income FIZMA (5,605) (31) (532) (20) (@) (6,192)

Gain on disposal of property, ~ LENE - BERZ
plant and equipment and UREREEENS
right-of-use assets (29,6006) - - - - (29,606)
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REf&ER 2
Other segment information (Continued) Hitbnab&E i (4)

Silicone
rubber and Healthcare
related Retail and hotel
Unallocated products Services Services Total

BB R EFRiE
ADEE HRRER TERE  NEERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAET TR TAT TET

Year ended 31 December HE-E-—f

2022 TZA=t—-HLEE
Amounts included in the 3 A7 ER 7 HEE

measure of segment SEHEE

results or segment

assets:

Allowance for inventories, net  FEBE « MBRER (GEA
of reversal (includingincost ~ S4ERMA)

of sales) - 2 - - 2
Additions to property, plantand REE - BE KR E

equipment 790 2,138 2,425 - 5,353
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ {FRESENE

assets 5,433 9,569 3,029 - 18,031
Depreciation of property, plant %1% « BE RRETE

and equipment 2,422 7,652 2,570 887 13,531
Impairment losses recognised  FLIA T & TEREZRRE

in respect of; BE:

- Trade receivables — BB SRR - 2,100 - - 2,100

- Loan receivables — U ER 13,433 - - - 13,433
Interest expenses FISFAX 790 3,319 1,442 22,438 27,989
Interest income VN (5,370) 72) - @) (5,446)
Share of results of associates  EAEE & A RIMES 1,073 - - - 1,073

Gain on disposal of property,  H&EME « BERR
plant and equipment and R R ERE
right-of-use assets (12,146) - - - (12,146)

Amounts regularly provided EHEETEEEERK
to the CODM but not EBTA RSBz
included in the measure PHEENENEHE
of segment profit or loss
or segment assets:
Fair value loss on held-for- FEEERENRTE
trading investments EiE 24 - - - 24
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. pEp&Rl2)
Revenue from major products and services FE2EERMIREKRS
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from sales AEERIBEFHELFTEZEMRIE
of its major products and provision of services to external HARTEET R AT T -
customers:

2023 2022
—m—= —m——

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT

Consumer electronic devices peripheral HEESFTRERZER

products 222,765 215,638
Keypads for computers and notebooks EEPSE TR e 146 13,884
Lifestyle products A RE M 1,809 44,052
Mobile phone peripheral products FHEEEM 254 7,046
Automotive peripheral products B ERER 898 4,905
Other products HAthZEm 210 22,576
Provision of healthcare and hotel services — FRHLERE R KB Ik RIS 16 27
Retail services TERD 75,674 35,413
Online marketing solution services B AT R 912,058 =

1,213,830 343,541
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

ZFT A=t HLFE

The Group’s operations are principally located in the PRC, the

UK and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the location of the customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical

location of the assets are detailed below:

10. REp&Rl =)
(@ &R

AEENLETEMNTE RERE
7 e

AEBRZTPAEME D Z KB IR
FoREEN RIREERE D 2 IER
BEEBERFIWT

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

R B HEEF KW FRBEE
2023 2023 2022
—E2-= —_E_= —EFE_—
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FET T
The PRC (excluding PR (FBRRIN)

Hong Kong) 1,039,111 178,337 203,498 253,646
Hong Kong &b 99,171 42,204 27,752 29,185
Other Asian countries E b TaMNEI R - 44,997 - =
America EM - 18,884 - =
Europe B 75,548 51,425 48,288 37,667
Others HAi - 7,694 - -

1,213,830 343,541 279,538 320,498

Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTOCI, financial
asset at FVTPL, interests in associates, deferred tax assets and

goodwill.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
sales of the Group in the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022 are as follows:

FERBDEENBRBRAFEIIRLEE
hemBENEENEREE  HAF
BRI ERDARENEREE - 1
BENRmED BERBEEELEBE -

EEEEN

REBEEZE_=ZFk_F_—F+_A4
=+—HLEFE  KEhHAEEEER
EHAI10%M R R WSS AT ¢

Customer A*
Customer B*
Customer C**

EEA*
= FB*
BEC**

_ 43,047
¥ 36,280
182,906 N/A3E

53 Revenue arising from the Silicone Rubber and related products
Business for Customer A and Customer B in 2023 contributed

less than 10% of total revenue of the Group.

**  Revenue arising from the Online Marketing Solution Services

Business for Customer C in 2022 is Nil.

* R-Z—=%  REXPAREFBIEE
BB MR E MR A B AR E B R
WALT10% °

o RIT-_F - RPCHREEHER
HEBRBEBHORARE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—_ZT-=HF+_A=+—HIFE

11.0OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE 11. HihiESH<

2023 2022
—g== —E——

=

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Donation 1B hg 8 124

12. FINANCE COSTS

12. &R
2023 2022
—E== —F_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Interest on: AN EERFE
Borrowings EE 24,838 23,960
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,366 4,029
Convertible bond MR ES 1,345 =
30,549 27,989
13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. PhiSTREAX
2023 2022
—EC=E T F
HK$‘000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current taxation BNEAT I8
Provision for the year — PRC Enterprise EER M — B
Income Tax FriSHt 1,100 606
Deferred taxation RIETIE
Current year REE 8 1,487
1,108 2,093
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in BRASEREE EHHNTIABEA SR
the consolidated financial statements since the Group has HAFERNERTES - WA BREE
sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current SRR E BRI SHRE -
year's assessable profit.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands RIEHESHERABEZHE ([ XBE
and British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject ZEBDMHRNRER  ~&EEHBEH
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. MASHERRBRZHSWEMETE

B o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023  #

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

E-EC

=F+-A=t+—HItFEE

13. FhiSTHMZ =)

No provision for UK Corporate Tax for the current year has
been made as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits in the UK.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards. Accordingly, provision for PRC Enterprise Income
Tax for the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% of estimated
assessable profits for the current and prior years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as follows:

PPN 5% [ 3 488 70 B B0 E A T ) PR RR AR
i I 9 NN S e R )
B

BERBECEMSHE(TEERER
EDREEMBREE RIS - B
BRAER_ZEZEN\F—HA—BRBAOHRE
E25% o At - R B ARRPELE
TS HBERAFERBEFENG
JEFR R i A A025% 51 & -

FAMBHRAX BERBRRMENK
WA IREARAT

2023
—E-=F
HK$’'000
FTHET
Loss before tax BRA% AR (84,601) (96,811)
Tax credit at rates applicable to (loss)/profit  #ZiEBAN AR Al AT &R
in the jurisdictions concerned (E518) s FHB R EH
iR e (19,761) (20,297)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BRI A R BT
purposes (7,748) (5,398)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AT A
deductible for tax purposes 14,116 11,326
Tax effect of share of results of associates  HEHEL A B E BN IS £ = 268
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AT I BRI EE
recognised (3,848) (7,636)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRISE BRI E 18,349 23,830
Income tax expense for the year FRFTSER Y 1,108 2,093

Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 35.

AEFET R IR BUHOPITRESS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HE—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HIFE

14.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FAEIE

2023 2022
e =

—_—

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Loss for the year has been arrived at after  FREE &R, (GTA)

charging/(crediting): LATR#38 -
Auditor's remuneration ZER I &
- Audit services —FET AR 1,280 1,500
- Non-audit services —IEEE RS = 420
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - BEREER
equipment and right-of-use assets FERAEEENWE (29,606) (12,146)
Allowance for inventories, net of reversal GFERE - HRER
(included in cost of sales) (GTASHER ) = 2
Cost of inventories sold (Note) BETFENARHZE) 226,099 260,061
Traffic acquisition and monitoring costs ERREREZER
(included in cost of sales) (FrASHERA) 894,714 £
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 18,430 18,031
Depreciation of property, plant and W - WENKEETE
equipment 11,206 13,531
Directors’ emoluments (Note 18) EEMe BiE18) 7,840 7,177
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRA(TEREESRHNS)
emoluments) (Note 17) (Ki£17) 108,181 123,806
Note: Cost of inventories sold includes approximately HK$69,350,000 Bt EERERABEREFEMR -
(2022: HK$72,153,000) relating to written off of inventories, BIRAK - M¥ BEKZE
staff costs, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and ERTREAETEE@ANS %E
depreciation of right-of-use assets, and such amounts are also #769,350,000 T( =T ==
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately 72,153,000/ 7T ) - ﬁ%ﬁé%ﬁﬁ&ﬁr

above. AR EXBIHENEBAER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15.128
No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 REBEE—E-_=FK=_F_F+=H
December 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed T+ —HEFEVEINRNERREE
since the end of the reporting period. AIRE » BREHRURINEEZIRE

FMARE. ©

16.LOSS PER SHARE 16. B8izEE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the BRERNEBEEDNERABE-_S-_=FK
year attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted TECCHE+_A=+—HIFEAA
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years ABEBARMEANSERUABEITL R
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. AREY I EETE -

Loss for the year attributable to owners RAREE A FAERE

of the Company (HK$'000) (F%&7T) (88,035) (98,063)
Weighted average number of ordinary BT B A INfE T2

shares in issue ('000) (F) 1,306,767 1,306,767
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the computation of HE_ZT_=#+_A=+—HLHF
diluted loss per share does not assume the conversion of the B BREEEENTETRBRAR
Company'’s outstanding convertible bond since their assumed AIERTAERESNER - REAR
exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share. FEITE B EHBRERKD
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the basic loss per share BHE-_T--_F+=-A=+—HI#HF
and the diluted loss per share are the same because there are B BREAEEEGREEEIENA

no dilutive shares outstanding. [ REAIHEEITEINEEERR D o

i)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

17. 8THR (M BEEEHE)

17.STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e M REMET 98,559 111,245
Performance related bonuses FIRMERATEAL 46 821
Retirement benefit schemes contributions  RREFIFHEIHE R 9,576 11,740
108,181 123,806

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance which are available to qualified employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the subsidiaries in independently administered funds. Monthly
contributions made by the subsidiaries are calculated based
on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed
sums as stipulated under the relevant requirements, with
maximum relevant income level for contributions of HK$30,000
monthly.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group participate in respective
government retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are calculated
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The
relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to the retired employees. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes is to
pay the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes.
The retirement benefits schemes contributions represent
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by the
relevant authorities of the PRC and the defined contribution
schemes operated in Hong Kong.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the UK are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the UK. The subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentages of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

BENMBARBRETERIEAES
sTEIGRDI 6 BB B R TE B KET
g - RFREMEEHBYLEEESR
B EHNBRARNEENR - MERQA
BARERFMRANE T A LR
R AR E AT AR Y B E SR MR H R o fit
A B A K LR &% A 30,0008
T o

RIETFEBRE BRI - AEE K
J& A 72 H 18 B BT AR K AR A E 3
([ZEs8 ) HEBARARLAZE
SHEERH - RABERERMERE
MIRHES - MZ S EELOERTD
2R B AR B RT AR e A S B A AR R3S T
BOLAE - FEERERARMARAK
BEXNEERAKE - AEERZF
M- BEEERENZEFEPTR
FERER o RIKEFGH B HRIEAREE
mAEEEERRINZ ST RRNE
ARSIV E B RET SR O 5K -

AEBEBENBARMNE T RRER
FeEEnBERERRKBRE MK
B o MBARERIEKAN—ELLH
AR KRG BIER - URRMIRHE
& o NREBERAKBAFENME—TE
EfERIEEHRK -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

(@)

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s
Emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. EERITEAHEEE

(@)

ESRITHRYEME

AEERBERLEHRURELER
ARG ENES RITHAHNS

T

BEZE-—Z-—=f+=-A=+—HL

FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits bonus contributions Total
e 2 BRI
e REER Hisfa TR Eoh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TR TR FET
Executive directors; YTEE .
shiqQ 1% - 4,444 - 18 4,462
(Gao Feng Bk - 1,500 - - 1,500
Li Jiuhua (Note v) ENE(Hritv) - 1,500 - 18 1,518
Non-executive directors:  FHTES
Han Lei & - = = - -
Chan Tsun Hong Philip BRIEE - - - - -
GU Shixiang (Note vi) BHtR (Aztv) - - - - -
Independent non-executive B FHTES :
directors;
Zheng Chang Xing a2 (Hivi)

(Note vi) - - - - -
Wang Lina IER 120 - - - 120
Hu Jiangbing i 120 - - - 120
Chan Siu Tat (Note i) RDE(Hrti) 120 - - - 120

360 7,444 - 36 7,840
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—_ZT-=HF+_A=+—HIFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 18. EFRiTH@FEME »)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s (a) EBNITHBAXRMMEZ)
Emoluments (Continuead)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—_E-_—_F+-A=+—HI1t
FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits bonus  contributions Total
e 8 RINEH
we  REMEN RBTEA SRR @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THL AT THL
Executive directors: HiTESE
Shi Qi iz} - 3,600 - 18 3,618
Cheng Hong (Note iif) Rzt - 60 - 3 63
Gao Feng Sl 1,500 - - = 1,500
Liu Wengang (Note iv) B3I aziv) - 1,284 - 12 1,296
Li Jiuhua (Note v) ERE(M2Y) - 306 - 2 308

Non-executive directors: F#HTES :

Han Lei Ba - - - - -

Chan Tsun Hong Philip REE - - - - -

Gu Shixiang (Note 14) Bt (H2vi) = - - = =

Independent non- BYFHTES

executive directors:

Lin Bing (Note ) ME(Hi#H) 63 - - - 63

Wang Lina IEH 120 - - - 120

Hu Jiangbing IR 120 - - - 120

Chan Siu Tat (Note i) BRDE(fTa2) 89 - - - 89
1,892 5,250 - 35 7177

The executive directors” emoluments shown above were LB rTES e DR SR M

for their services in connection with the management of HEBRNTRAEESHEEED

the affairs of the Company and the Group. BRI M4 ©

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above FHIERITEENME IR EE

were for their services as Directors and its subsidiaries, if REZERWBAR(MER)ESFR

applicable. ARSI SZA ©

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments LB IERITESMNE IR

shown above were for their services as Directors. EEREEREMRBMZAT
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18. EBRITHARME =)

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s
Emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Resigned on 4 April 2022.

(i) Appointed on 4 April 2022.

(i) Resigned on 29 June 2022.

(iv)  Resigned on 5 August 2022.

(v)  Appointed on 1 November 2022.

(vi)  Appointed on 28 December 2022.

(vii)  Appointed on 6 June 2023.

Liu Wengang has resigned CEO of the Company on 5
August 2022. His emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the CEO from 1
January 2022 to 5 August 2022.

Mr. Li Jiuhua is the CEO of the Company from 1
November 2022. His emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the CEO
from 1 November 2022 to 31 December 2022.

No directors and the chief executive officer waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

(@)

SSRITHREME (@)

Hiat -

() MZT-__FOAMAEHT-
(i) M-T-__FOAMOABEERE-
@iy MZZT——FA=-t+IBETE-
vy RM-ZT-_—&FN\AREBT-
V) MN-ZT-_—Ft+— A HEZE-

vy RZE_—F+-—A=+/\BE
E1f -

(Vi) RZZE—=F A NBEZE-

BIXMER—E-_—FNARBE
FEARRARITHREE - EXFIHEN
MeaRERN - _—4F—HF—H
E-T - —FN\ARBERITTHE
HIRHARFHME -

ThEEEE - —F+—F—
HREEAQBITHRAR o EXFT
FENNeRREE S -F
+—A—B&=-_ZT=-_—4F+=-A
=+—BILERTTBUAEIRERS
HIB <

RMEFE  SEESERITHRER
MEZREREEANE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—_ZT-=HF+_A=+—HIFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 18. EFRiTH@FEME »)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals emoluments (b) hEREIHALTIE
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in AEBRAERRFALTHR =4
the Group, three (2022: three) were Directors whose TECCE I ZZ)AEE RS
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the MMeEN EX - B TRA(ZE
remaining two (2022: two) highest paid employees are as ITF WA EReERERENME
follows: T
2022
—=E-
HK$'000
BT
Salaries, allowances and other o R REAMET
benefits 3,360 &, 175
Performance related bonuses ERRE - -
Retirement benefit schemes RIRAE R ET B 5K
contributions 36 35

3,396 3,210

The emoluments are within the following bands:

2023 2022

—E:-= —E

Number of Number of

employees CINOVEES

EEA™ EEAE

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 7T = 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 2 1
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #ZE_-Z—

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ZFT A=t HLFE

19. 1% ~ BREKsRE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Furniture,
Properties Motor Plantand fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
held for own vehicles ~ machinery  equipment improvements in progress
13 BER Bl £E
BANE AE i E kR HENEEE HEIR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
B Thr A Thn Thn Thn
Cost A
Asat 1 January 2022 A\ZB-_—F-f-H 2153 7990 144,613 53222 39,302 820 213482
Exchange realignment ExAE (636) (676) 7377 (1%%4) (1,386) 99) (14541
Additions HE = 9 1,09 2307 1,507 348 5353
Transfer toinvestment property  ERZRENE W21

(Note 21) (27,539 - - - - = (27,535)
Transfer from assets held for sale B {ER EEEERMH45)

(Note 45) 70041 610 3,669 20,126 3929 - 98,375
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) ~ HEMBRAR M%) - - - (5465) - - (5,465
Transfer B2 = = 430 % 100 (628) -
Disposals/Write-off HE /i 7.2 (1,450) (3689 (1.346) - - (13690)
As at 31 December 2022 and S g o

1 January 2023 R=3-=%-f-H 62,144 6,566 138,751 64,621 43,452 445 315,979
Exchange realignment ERRE (298) (1) 23) (148) (25) 9 (530)
Additions E - 461 121 1,322 3232 - 5136
Acquisition of a subsiciary (Note 38) - WE—FAMBR M%) - - - 232 - - 232
Transfer B = - - - 436 (436) -
Disposals/Write-off iHE /i (15,155) (374) (4,548) (1,469) (371 - (21917)
As at 31 December 2023 RZB-=%+-A=1-H 46,691 6,626 134,301 64,558 46,724 - 298,900
Accumulated depreciation 2B
At 1 January 2022 A—E-—&-F-H 23,319 4,567 123216 41,331 31,156 = 223589
Exchange realignment B2 00 (506) (5,237) (4580) (1,669 - (12078)
Provision for the year EREE 1478 755 3318 4464 3516 - 13531
Transfer toimvestment property  BRERENE (H21)

(Note 21) (23 405) - - - - = (23 405)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39)  HEMBAR M%) - - - (347 = = (3476)
Transfer from assets held for sale B {EL EEEERMH5)

(Note 45) 7,061 5% 303 18,908 3,240 - 30,108
Disposals i (699) (1,00¢) (2759) - = - (4.460)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZBZZ&+-A=1-R

1 January 2023 k=%==%-A-A 7,664 4,406 118,845 56,647 36,247 - 223,309
Exchange realignment EREE (182) 1 (0] (45) (79) = (325)
Provision for the year EREE 1,070 664 4,571 2,167 2,728 - 11,206
Disposals ik (1,880) (374) (1,255) (514) (154) - (4.177)
As at 31 December 2023 R=B==%

tZA=+-A 6,672 4,685 122,159 58,255 38,742 - 230,513
Carrying amount RHE
As at 31 December 2023 RZB-=#+Zh=1-A 40,019 194 12,142 6,303 7982 - 68,387
As at 31 December 2022 RZZ-—#+-f=1-H 54,480 2160 19,906 7974 7,205 45 92,170
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% ~ BRERRiE =)

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except
for construction in process, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives less residential values as
follows:

Properties held for own use situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease
and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years
after the date of initial recognition.

Estimated useful life

fEETAIE A S 5
Motor vehicles 5 years
b 5%
Plant and machinery 10 years
RS Kt 2s 106
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 10 years
B HERERE 3E10F
Leasehold improvements
HEMERE

Retail services

The Group resulted a segment loss on retail services of
approximately HK$26,619,000 (2022: HK$23,205,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors considered an
impairment indicator existed and carried out an impairment
assessment on the CGU of retail services.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$8,730,000 (2022: HK$5,698,000) related to retail services
segment have been determined based on their value in use.
The Group estimates the value in use based on cash flow
projection which derived from financial budgets, approved
by the management of the following 5 Years using a pre-tax
discount rate of 14% (2022: 14.5%). There was no impairment
considered necessary of provide in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BREZIREI - U EME - BER&KE
T B B SRR A T fh T A A 5 BUR
RIABEFENE -

ME T ERHER R RERERD
RMEE A5 A ERAF (RS #R R
HIRS0OF M) MEEE T ENE -

Residual value

FIErEE

10%

10%

10%

Shorter of the lease term and 5 to 10 years -
FHHANSE10F - EREE A%

BEMRS
BHE-_FT-=F+-HAH=+—HBL#F
B AEBRRZEERKHAEESFDE
518 4926,619,000/8 L ( —FE — —
23,205,000/870) ° & BR BT LA
- UTHZERENRESELBEMETT
RERHE °

RZEBE-_=%F+-A=+—H ' @
B4 &873000F Tt(=—& ==
5,698,000 /&) BEE RIS D BH MY
¥ BEESEBHAIKRESECDRER
FHEBETE - A5BEREEEEIE
MARAFPBEENRS REEAGE
ETEREE  FAMNMRAARER 14%
(ZEBEZ—F 1 145%) - HE-_ZT_=F
TZA=FT—RLFE KEMBHHE
RIEER AR ZETREBENRE(ZS
TTFE) o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Healthcare and hotel services

The Group resulted a segment loss on healthcare and hotel
services of approximately HK$11,176,000 (2022: HK$25,036,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors
considered an impairment indicator existed and carried out an
impairment assessment on the CGU of healthcare and hotel
services.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$54,895,000 (2022: HK$57,655,000) under this segment
have been determined based on their fair value less cost
of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to estimate
the fair value less cost of disposal of the assets which is
based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the property.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

The carrying value of properties held for own use shown above
comprises of:

HHIRE
—FE

Medium-term lease
- PRC

19. 2% - MRk =)

BERRLBIERS

B E= T = =i gl Pt
B AEEREBEREIAERESE
818 BT #911,176,000 T (=&
T 1250360008 7L) c EERAET
TERETRR - I ¥ 5B R ROB S R
RO3R & E A BADETTRERTE -

RZBZ=F+=—A=+—8 "  ZH5%H
3R (B 49 5 54,895,0008 T (- & — —
& 1 57,655,000/ C) W% - BE K&
EORESEERELATFERLEE
FRAETE - NEBFEBEELEA AR
BENAFERBREERA - IHENE
LMERTBERZERESE  UHYWE
ME - EREHETHAZ BEZ-ZT
=+ -A=Z1+—BLEE  KREeH
ERERPWEE R AT ETIRBENR
B(ZE2==F : #|) -

Ll ER BYENREERE

2023
—g==

e

2022
= —

=

HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
FET

40,019 54,480

As at 31 December 2023, properties located in the PRC under
medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$40,019,000 (2022: HK$54,480,000) have been pledged to
secure other borrowings granted to the Group.

R_E-_=F+=-A=+—H ' kM|l
B #740,019,0008 T (=& = = F :
54,480,000/ 7T ) AL A R BRI R HAFH &
RENYED TR  (EREASEFE
REAETRAER ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HE—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HIFE

ll"

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January 2022

R-ZE-__F—H—H

20. [EHIiE&

Leasehold

land
HE i
HK$'000
AT

==
==

Leased
properties

Total
HEME At
HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT

Carrying amount RHAE 3,908 61,000 64,908
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_ZT_-_—F+_A
=t+—HLtFE
Additions NE - 23,278 23,278
Reclassified from held for BREHEEFHE

sales (note 45) (Ki7345) 117,522 = 117,522
Depreciation e (2,311) (15,720) (18,031)
Disposal/written off HE M (32,421) (2,446) (34,867)
Exchange realignment b 5 SR B (2,465) (5,964) (8,429)

80,325 (852) 79,473
As at 31 December 2022 and . e sy |
1 January 2023 _—i— AX
—E=-=%—A—H
Carrying amount REE 84,233 60,148 144,381
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE-Z-=F=HA
=+—HILFE
Additions nNE = 17,254 17,254
Acquisition of a subsidiary W b — R BT B A /)

(note 38) (H1:£38) = 833 833
Depreciation e (1,679) (16,751) (18,430)
Disposal/written off &M (23,317) - (23,317)
Exchange realignment b 5 SR B (738) 1,806 1,068

(25,734) 3,142 (22,592)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=A
=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 58,499 63,290 121,789

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
outflow for leases amounted to approximately HK$13,422,000

(2022: HK$16,327,000).

HE_T-_=F+-_A=+—HL#F
B HERSR LA A#913,422,0007

TT(=E

£ 116,327,000/ 7T) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 20. FHIiESE=E #)

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$17,254,000
(2022: HK$23,278,000) due to new leases of office premises
with the lease term of 5-9 years.

Retail services

The Group resulted a segment loss on retail services of
approximately HK$26,619,000 (2022: HK$23,205,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors considered an
impairment indicator existed and carried out an impairment
assessment on the CGU of retail services.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of right-of-use
assets have been determined based on their value in use. The
Group estimates the value in use using a pre-tax discount rate
of 14% (2022: 14.5%). There was no impairment considered
necessary of provide in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Healthcare and hotel services

The Group resulted a segment loss on healthcare and hotel
services of approximately HK$11,176,000 (2022: HK$25,036,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors
considered an impairment indicator existed and carried out an
impairment assessment on the CGU of healthcare and hotel
services.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of right-of-use
assets have been determined based on their fair value less
cost of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to estimate
the fair value less cost of disposal of the assets which is
based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the property.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, leasehold land located in the PRC
under medium-term lease with carrying value of HK$55,237,000
(2022: HK$50,877,000) have been pledged to secure other
borrowings granted to the Company.

rES el = eeo e ElR S oo (B4
= @Fﬁﬁéiﬁ&ﬁ@i)Jum%17,254,000;‘%
TT(ZT = =4 : 23,278,000/ 7T) °

XE@%%&&&M%%“*%%@EO

TERTS
BEr—_E-_=F+-_A=+—HI1t=%E
B AEERZEERBHFEHKB DT
8 18 #926,619,0008 T (T = =
23,205,000/ 7T) - EBERAB/FLRED
% THEERBHIBRSEESEMET
ERHE °

R-ZE-_=F+_A=+—H  FH#
BEMNREScHBEREBEEFRAER
BTE A£EBFEA14%(ZT ==
14.5% ) R AR IR RGFHERAEE - B
Z=—raansr= B = q-=[g| E4EE -
REMBRRP L EFEREE BT e
HRRE(ZEZF : &) -

SRR RBERS

BHE-_ZT-_=—F+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEBREEREREERSE S E
%15 9 20 &5 18 49 11,176,000 L ( = =
— — % :25,036,000/87C) c EERABIF
ERETSR - I ¥ 2B REE ROB S RS
RIR S EEBMETRERS -

RZBE-_=F+=—A=+—8 " FA#%
BEMAWEOSEDBERAFERD
ERAEE - AEBEFEAEELEEAR
SAEEMAFERHERA @ tHER
HOUMERLHRZERSE - WY
XUE  UEREHETAE - BHEZ
T_=E+_A=+—HIEE &6
MR ERP I ERRLEE ETIRBED
WE(ZEZF - &) -

R-ZF-=4+-A=+—8  B@A
8 /552370008 (=& == 3
50,877,0003% 72 ) fir 74 R B4R 4 e SR T
HANRE LD TER  EAKAF
PSR A SR MO AR o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

21.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

21. IR&ME

HK$'000
TAET

FAIR VALUE

As at 1 January 2022

Transfer from building and leased land under
property, plant and equipment (note 19)

Fair value changes recognised in other
comprehensive income upon transfer from

AFE

R-Z—-_—F#—HF—H =
EEEYE  BELREBETHET

N E T (H5E719) 4,130
EEEYE  WEREEER

Ep 2 ARG ERN AT EES

property, plant and equipment 8,070
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss RIBEERH AT EES) 8,800
As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 RZBE-_—_F+-_A=1+—HK

—E-=F+-_A=+—H 21,000

Notes: Kt -

(@)  All of the Group's property interests held under operating (a) $%@¢E%§%%ﬁi§%ﬁﬁﬁﬁé%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ%
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are BARERAMEE DD A AT ER
measured using the fair value model and are classified and HEtE - I”*@SU\%EEH’E?&%%
accounted for as investment properties. The fair value of the AEERBEMER="B_=F R=F
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 ifr A=+—B®HATETIRIE
was arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at the date + uﬁXLﬁé“E&TEEEFEJEEE NCIDS L
by Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited and Sino-Infinite Appraisal AHERRARDRINE BETNEET
Limited respectively, independent firms of qualified professional i &%ﬁi BRBEEGEANEARE
valuers not connected to the Group, who have appropriate Bt AErRE - B AEARLRFERYE
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar BENGEERRIRER - b”:\:z
properties in the relevant locations. As at 31 December 2023 and ::i&:i@i::%igﬂ :_+
2022, the fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring ?x?%%ﬁ AFERE :%&,%%%"Ii{ﬂqi
fair value measurement. There were no transfers between level BEifE - &= %::i)}/ﬁ:%::ﬁ
1 and level 2, or transfer into or out of level 3 during the years ToASTBLERE - WEE-RH
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. %Z%&Zﬁ?ﬂmﬁg% B ANEHES
There has been no change from the valuation technique (EE AT B3 1 4 52 P {2 A A 4 b 30 A8
used in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the 28 - RIESHIRORFER - WRE
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their BELSERRARARNBR - A5E
current use. Fair values of investment properties of the Group %ﬁ’ﬁ%%ﬁ’\]@?@*ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁtb%’?i
are generally derived using the direct comparison method. S o —MBBETEAFE - UGtk
Significant adjustments are usually required to allow for any AIRER B FTE WA RLESINEIRE
qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be Tﬂ"lmlﬁ%%iﬁ\ BARTABREH AR
achieved by the property under consideration. The significant BIEM{ES 9625 T,/ F A K (===
unobservable inputs include market price HK$8,962/sqg.m. F : 896287/ FHK) RISE B
(2022: HK$8,962/sq.m.) and adjusted taking into account of B E A AR R R 3 (00 £ 310 R g s TA2 AR
locations and other individual factors such as size of land and RRABAR IR ) B IEL A% o
construction in progress and conditions of prices.

An increase in the market price used would result in an FAmE EFSERAFEEN - R2
increased in fair value, and vice versa. TR ©

(b)  The investment properties shown above are situated in Hong () A EFRARETHHEEREMNES
Kong and held under medium-term lease. IR B -

(©  As at 31 December 2023, properties located in Hong Kong © R=F_Z=F+-A=+—8 &@

under medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$21,000,000 (2022: HK$21,000,000) have been pledged to
secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.

B 4921,0000008 L (=T ==
21,000,0007% 7T ) R A 255 4R 18 o 237 i?
BENYED TIER - feANEEFE
FARITIE FNAIIELR -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

22.GOODWILL

HK$'000
TAET

At carrying value:
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

22./8

IRAREE ¢
R=—ZE-_—F—H—H -
—E-—#+-_A=+—BHEF

—E-=F—F—H 2,166
Arising from business combination (Note 38) BEBEHEENZ38) 20,552
As at 31 December 2023 NR-B-=F+=-A=+—H 22,718

For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill set
out above has been allocated to CGU relating to the (i) retail

services; and (i) online marketing solution services. BHIR B EAEBEN o

The CGUs were identified as follows:

segment 2023
P —=E==

HK$'000
FTERT

SUREREMS - LR BEoEESR
()VZ & MR 75 R (AR L 2 SHRRR T RIRTS B

2022
e —

— =

HK$'000
TAT

HEEABMETHT
East Shack Ltd. Retail services 2,166 2,166
TERT
Beijing Jusheng Online marketing solution
services 20,552 -
IEtRE& iR SRR T 2R AR TS
22,718 2,166
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

22. GOODWILL (continued) 22. B8 #)

Retail services

The recoverable amount of this CGU as at 31 December 2023
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer. The calculation use cash flows projections
based on financial budget approved by management covering
5-years period and pre-tax discount rate of 14% (2022: 14.5%).
Cash flows beyond the 5-years period have been extrapolated
using a steady 2% growth rate (2022: 2%). The growth rate
is based on relevant industry growth forecasts and does not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows include
budgeted sales and gross profit margin.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on East Shack Ltd.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of East Shack Ltd. The Directors believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment.

Online marketing solution services

The recoverable amount of this CGU as at 31 December 2023
has been determined based on a value in by use calculation
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer. The calculation use cash flows projections
based on financial budget approved by management covering
5-years period and pre-tax discount rate of 44%. Cash flows
beyond the 5-years period have been extrapolated using a
steady 2% growth rate. The growth rate is based on relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales
and gross profit margin.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment on Beijing
Jusheng.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of Beijing Jusheng. The Directors believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment.

BRI

RZZE_=F+A=+—RH  #Z¥&
EXBEUNAIKRBEESDENERER
AHE Iﬂ%ﬁiﬁiﬁ@%ﬁ TEVE(E
METE - ZatETERENEREMHL
HERERFHNBEENRE S RERE
BARBIAIBE IR E14%(Z T = F -

145%) - BBERFHNE S RECFEA
SR RE2%(ZTZ_F : 2%) TUAH
BoBREDENBEBITRERBAR
jﬁxﬁtﬂ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ’]?ﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁ% 2
Eﬁ‘ﬁiﬁimu)\//m u‘I'E/]ﬁ1ﬁ{§ﬁHE

Bt BN ERBEREERZHEREN
% o

BHE-_Z-_=%k=-_FT-_—_%+=A
=+ —HULEFE AEENEEEETE
East Shack Ltd. S #E {8 °

A] Yk [B] 4 58 A8 = P East Shack Ltd. B8R
EE BEERATANZERENEMNE
AIREE B T2 EBURE ©

o - SHMR T RIRES

=T — =50 — H = Tl
EEBEMMAIRESEDREEREE
AEYSEBYEXGEMETHEE
METE - ZAtEEREREEERER
HISF M S TEE M ATITIR R44% M
TRETRA - BBSFHNBESRET
£ RRBEM2%IE KRR EITHE - BRE
ERBEBTEAREN - THEBHEBE
EWFHRAER - EREEFED
Hib R BRRERARSRAREA
W BREEHEERENE -

éti_g__iwL:H =t+t—HBLF
B AEEEEEEENILRELHE
A

A eERERRNIEREENKRES
%ﬁ EERR HARSFRIVEFNG
BEEHHTIEEHURE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #HZE—T-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

23. l“‘":FiEﬁJﬂFIT' ifth % moliX
mNERIENEREE

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

2023
—m—=

HK$'000
FTERT

Listed at Taiwan REEgEm
— Listed equity securities — TR ES 2,957 3,183

Note: The above equity securities represent ordinary shares of entities Kt - B ARFESFIEREBENEBER - %

at Taiwan. These investments are not held for trading, instead,
they are held for long-term strategic purposes. The Directors
have elected to designate these investments in financial
assets at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term
fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.

The listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted
market bid prices available on the relevant stock exchange and
categories as level 1 under fair value hierarchy. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the fair value loss of approximately
HK$200,000 (2022: HK$347,000) had been recognised in the
other comprehensive income.

FIREW IFFEE B e ER IR

B  EREERETZSNeREE

ZRERANFEIRLEEMEE R

AEE - RRAHERBENEZAERZ

ERENTENERRDEASERE

&:&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁm&ﬁEL IR R
BENHIRIED—5

tmhK 55 IR BN ABES R ST
BHOMBEAREET  TEEA
i@ﬁ@% E - Fﬁi—f:_i
+ZA=+—HBILEE  AFEESED
200,000 70 (= F = =4 : 347,0007%
JL) BERE b 2 RS A RERR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—_ZT-=HF+_A=+—HIFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 24. B A AEVIRIIFIS S AEIR
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS NEeEEE
2023 2022
—EC=F B F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Investment in participating life insurance ROREMNIEE
policies 495 =
In March 2023 and June 2023, the Group's subsidiary, Ta RZEZ=F=AR=F=_=F,"A
Yang Silicone Rubber Industrial Limited (“Ta Yang Silicone AEEWRBRARAKFERBIZEESRA
Rubber"), entered into two participating life insurance policies AI([ RFEERRB D DRI EmRERRA )
with two insurance companies to insure its employees. Under IR DAIRE - BEBETHRE R
both policies, the beneficiaries and the policy holders are Ta BRE  IRARREFEABERAF
Yang Silicone Rubber. During the year ended 31 December BERB BE_T-_—F+-A=+—
2023, the Group paid an upfront premium of approximately HIEFE AEBEXN—EREARE
HK$495,000. The Group can terminate the policy at any time #7495,0007% 7T o A& B Al B AR LEAR
and receive cash back based on the cash value of the policy at B WRBRENERABHNRESEE
the date of withdrawal (“Cash Value”), which is determined (BEeEEENREeOE  HREE
by the premium amount payment plus accumulated interest EHREHNHNRE SN LR BRI
earned minus the accumulated insurance charges and a F B R REE BB R ESBEARR
specific amount of the surrender charge if the withdrawal is B (R e EREFEATRID MEETE °

made before the specified policy year.

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 25. NEE A SNIES

2023 2022

—E:_-= — T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LT - RAKAE 1,225 7,114
Share of post-acquisition results DL S A = (1,160)
Accumulated impairment losses recognised B ERZFHERERE (1,225) (1,225)
Exchange realignment b H % - 83

o 4,812
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Details of the associates at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
place of business

Form of
husiness
structure

Registered/

Name of company share capital

MR,
gk

DAL ERRERA R

BiOcean Holdings Limited ~ Incorporated Hong Kong HK$2,500,000

Ralii7Av BA 2,500,000/ 7C

Biomar Industries SdnBhd  Incorporated Malaysia MYR400,000

(Note b) (Hfzb) RaliZAv SRAS 400,0002%

REHRNote a) Established The PRC RMB10,000,000

yN:ALER( ) XL H AR #10,000,0007C
Notes:

(@  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group, together
with independent third person, set up 1t 5K ¥ t 5% 58 §5 i 2
BRAR] ("AFEHR") in the PRC, of which the Group hold 49%
equity interest of A%t 5R. The registered capital of AjF 5
is RMB10,000,000, of which RMB4,900,000 to be contributed by
the Group, represent 49% equity interest in At During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s portions of capital
contribution of RMB4,900,000 (equivalent to HK$5,889,000) has
been fully paid.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed
of the interest held in AJFH = to an independent third party at
no consideration. The Group recognised the loss on disposal of
approximately HK$4,812,000. Upon the completion of disposal,
AFEER is no longer an associate of the Group.

(b)  Biomar Industries Sdn Bhd was dissolved during the year ended
31 December 2023.

25.

N

N
JQ_

=S HFEIE))
T = =S e o= = oe =]

=+ — BB EARRENT :

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights

held by the Group

Principal Activities

AEEHENERRERR

—F—=

—i ==

RRLA
2023

IEEH
2022
—E-—F

49% 49% Investment holding

BAER

= 49% Trading of chemistry oil

{LEmE

- 49% Retail services

TERS

BE_Z_—®+_-_A=+—HI&E
& AEBEBTE=HRP BRI
AR EEEEER AR ([ K%
HR])  EHPAREERFGAFHREY
A9% R R FE 2R o RIFIHRAEMER A
AR #10,000,0007T @ ERAREETE
AR #4,900,0007 ¢ kA E R AL A
A%  c REE—_TE—_—F+—-H
=t+—HIEFE  AEBIEIH AR
#4,900,0007T (1 E 745,889,000/ 7T ) E
EEET AT -

REE-_T-_=F+_-_A=+—HLHF
B ARENTRELERKNFHERE
ERF—EBYFE=H - AEERERD
EE1B 44,812,000/ 7T - HEEHER
K% KFEHERTBAAEBAOHE A
Ej °

Biomar Industries Sdn BhdB R & = —
T _—F+_A=t+—HILFEREN -

189



190 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wn © B 15 R bI 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
disposed of Ta Yang Sojourn Industry Co. Limited, a subsidiary of
the Company, which indirectly held 35% of Yuntou Infrastructure
Investment Co, Limited (“Yuntou”). Upon the completion of
disposal, Yuntou is no longer an associate of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
of the interest held in i-Golden Data Capital Limited (“Sinohk
Group”) at a consideration of HK$1. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group recognised the loss on disposal of
approximately HK$3,624,000. Upon the completion of disposal,
Sinohk Group is no longer an associate of the Group.

26.INVENTORIES

Raw materials EAE
Work-in-progress ERE
Finished goods R

25.1%

©

=S NCINES (&
Kzt : ()

BHE-_ZT-—_F+A=+—BLHF
R /N Tﬁ%$ ElERNEIPeE i
BEXBRAR  ZAnEEFAEER
iR ﬁ&ﬁﬁm A([E#])35%H)
BRHE o HEERIATE W C B TE A
AEBREBE DT

REBE_T-__F+=-A=+—HLHF
B AREBURBIETHEERNAHE
WEBRAR([FBER])MOER - &
E_E_—F+_A=+—HLtEFE"
AR B ER B B 18 493,624,000/ 7T ©
ﬁ%%ﬁm%é REEETEALSE
Ef) =N

26.78

2023 2022
—s=-=

HK$'000
TR TAT

HK$'000

5,162 8,411
3,825 3,019
29,087 47,791

38,074 59,221
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HILFE

27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. [EWE AR H {th FELULFRIB
2023
—8s—-=
HK$°000
FET
Trade receivables FEWE SR
— from third parties —REWE=7 62,054 71,314
Less: Allowance for ECLs A TBAMEEEERE (5,747) (7,718)
56,307 63,596
Prepayment TERTEIR 28,607 28,200
Prepayment for purchasing advertising BERESRETENFIEA
traffic 92,307 -
Deposits e 33,644 24,410
Other receivables E b fEUGRIA 82,033 96,815
292,898 213,021
Presented as: 2575 -
- Non-current assets —JEMBEE 15,927 16,658
— Current assets —mENEE 276,971 196,363
292,898 213,021
The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. REEW AR Z S AR A EWERR
The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods AEE-—RETEEFPNTFI0HZENH
ranging from 30 to 90 days which are subject to periodic review WEEH mEEEGEHRIEHE

by the management. -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—_ZT-=HF+_A=+—HIFE

27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. [EX S 3RS H fth FEEUX FR 1A

(Continued)

In respect of other receivables at 31 December 2023 and
2022, the Group estimated the loss allowance on an individual
basis. During the year ended 31 December 2023, an amount
of approximately HK$4,482,000 (2022: Nil) is provided on
individual basis and considered as credited impaired due
to the long outstanding or of poor credit history. The loss
allowance for the remaining balances of HK$88,692,000
(2022: HK$96,815,000) are measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECL of approximately HK$6,659,000 impairment 10ss
allowances has been provided at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil),
taking into account the probability of default and loss given
default of respective balances.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for
ECLs based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

(#)

BN —_ZE_=FR_ZT-_—_F+=A
Zt—HHNEMEVRZIENS  A%H
REJNEEGBAEBEEE BE2_F
—ZHE+-AZ+—BUHEE BRE
HAREENITREERLSE  REJHE
EF RN A4,482,0008 T (- F
ZZF &) UHKREESEERE -
T o4 45 £288,692,0008 L (= —
96,815,000/ 7L ) M S B BB IR A E R
—E-=%+-A=+—HEBHERE
EIEEHEI2EREHREEFEENSELD
6,659,000 L (Z T —_F : \)5t= -
ERETRENRERARESNENE

B

RIRs K - MBS E A SRR
BRI 5 AR SR B EI O BE B D AT
T

2023 2022

—E-= B F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

0-90 days 0Z290H 47,138 52,856
91 days to 1 year 9MBREIF 9,169 10,740
56,307 63,596

The movements in the allowance for ECLS of trade receivables is
as follows:

YR B ERTE S EE AR GED
T

2023 2022

—E_=F B F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

At 1 January n—HA—H 7,718 5,715
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised B(#E) R EEE (1,983) 2,100
Exchange realignment ME 5,8 B 12 97)
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—8H 5,747 7,718
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. [EWE AR H {th FELULFRIB
(Continued) (&)
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the analysis of trade R-IT == F Fk=F= op=f
receivables net of allowance under ECL that are past due but =+—H EafEvERENEKE
not impaired are as follows: SER(BRTEREERBEERE) T
LU

Neither over

past 90 days

due nor Less than but less

Total impaired 90 days than 1 year

RiZ:3ELpIN 90H B £

At ERE DR90E EBLR-F
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET THT TET TET

As at 31 December 2023 R-—ZE_=F

SP=E|= =[5 56,307 21,924 25,214 9,169
As at 31 December 2022 R -Z - —4F

+—A=+—8 63,596 52,856 - 10,740
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate I 4 58 B TR R R (B R FE UK B 5 AR SR
to a wide range of customers for whom there is no recent HWW M RSN Z B TP AR -
history of default.
Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to B8 218 I R E R R E 5 BR AR
a number of independent customers that have a good track SEZZERTNREHNBITEFA
payment record with the Group. 7 -
Included in trade and other receivables are the following FEUE 5 BR 30 B EL M B W SR TE B 45 T 51
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional ISR E RN EERE I B
currency of the relevant group entities to which they relate: FHER SR -

2023
—E-=F

HK$°000
TR

USs$ ETT 35,927 31,739
GBP HgE - 877
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28.LOAN RECEIVABLES 28. [EINSE
2023 2022
—E—-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FBT
Loan receivables U E K 124,383 103,901
Less: Provision for impairment of loan B RN E SR E R
receivables (21,980) (26,791
102,403 LA
Presented as: -
— Non-current assets —JEmBEE 52,435 46,289
— Current assets —RBEE 49,968 30,821
102,403 77,110

All of the loan receivables bear interest and are repayable
within the fixed term agreed with the borrowers. As at 31
December 2023, the average effective interest rate of the loan
receivables was 5.5% to 12% (2022: 5.5% to 12%) per annum.

FrEREKRER AT BN AR EERAR
E%lm%@ﬁ%ﬁ RZE_=F
+ZA=1+—8 ' BEREFNFHER
MR BGESSENR(— -
5.5%Z12%) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—ZE-=F+_-A=+—HILFE

28.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movements on the Group's impairment of loan receivables are
as follows:

28. [EW&TR @)
AEENERETREZ BT ;

Loan receivables

EWER
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
12-month (not-credit (credit
ECL impaired) impaired)
1284 REHEH BEEEN
BHEEFRE 2 EHCEEE 2 RBEUHGEER
(EEEEHE) (ZERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT T
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—H—H 10,009 3,349 - 13,358
Transfer to lifetime (credit EREFENE(ER
impaired) W) (1,871) (381) 2,252 2
Total transfer between stage EREE v AaEEeE (1,871) (381) 2252 -
Provided for the year FRRE 5,047 3,078 5,308 13,433
As at 31 December 2022 and R-B-—%
1 January 2023 TZA=t—-RkK
—T-=%#—H—H 13,185 6,046 7,560 26,791
Net changes on grossamount ~ #ZEEFE 5,116 (5,116) - =
Transfer to lifetime EEEFENE (7,900) 7,900 - -
Transfer to lifetime (credit EREFENE
impaired) (EERE) (39) (930) 969 -
Total transfer between stage ERER RmER e (7,939) 6,970 969 =
(Reversal)/provided for the year R (B /s (6,678) (1,052) 2,919 (4,811)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%F
+-A=+—H 3,684 6,848 11,448 21,980
Gross amount k)
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z-=F
T=H=ET=6 53,652 59,283 11,448 124,383
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-—F
+-A=1+—H 72,435 23,906 7,560 103,901

195
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28.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 28. [BWSTR =)

The management estimates the estimated loss rates of loan
receivables based on historical credit loss experience of the
debtors on individual basis.

For loan receivables that are not credit-impaired without
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
(“Stage 1"), ECL is measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within
the next 12 months. If a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition is identified (“Stage 2") but not yet deemed
to be credit-impaired, ECL is measured based on lifetime ECL.
If credit impaired is identified (“Stage 3"), ECL is measured
based on lifetime ECL. In general, when loan receivables and
interest receivables are overdue, there is significant increase in
credit risk.

As at 31 December 2023, the reversal of impairment
allowance of loan receivables of approximately HK$4,811,000
(2022: charge of impairment allowance of approximately
HK$13,433,000), was due to change in probability of default
and loss given default during the year.

A maturity profile of the loan receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of impairment
loss allowance under expected credit loss model, is as follows:

EEERENEERBEEHANELE
EEBRERATRKRERNFEHBEERE -

B0 B AE EORE A K B ¥R FERR LA R
EERRITERZIZM(E R D
BUER BHREEBEENGESHES
RARK12EA AR EELEHENEHE
HOFESENRREEBEZHD -
5 M E B IR RER R EERRBEEIR
MTE-EERDERRKEESEER
B AIBEHEEERREFEDRMNE
HEEBEHE  MEREELREE
ME(TE=RR]) ABEHEEBEER
BEENENENEREERGE - —R
MmE - B RKER KBRS EHE -
EERREZIE -

R-ZTB_=F+_F=+—8 ' #EOE
U B FOR (B B #94,811,0008 T (=&
ZTF : RTIR L E B # £913,433,000 7
T0)  REARFREOMERENEBLN
BE)ATE °

R & R B ERBIBBER - 122
H1H (AR TR E BB R ERIE T AR (E
BEEF)FENT

0

—F_—
HK$'000
T
Within one year —F A 49,968 30,821
On the second to fifth year inclusive ME_HERBBTF 52,435 46,289
102,403 77,110

All the interest receivables at the end of the reporting period,
based on the maturity date, are within one year.

REHR - A RKH SZ2IH B &
BR—FA -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023  #

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

E-EC

=F+-A=t+—HItFEE

At 31 December 2023, included in bank balances consists of
restricted bank deposit of approximately HK$5,328,000 (2022:
Nil).

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, bank balances and cash held
by the Group at prevailing market rates. The maturities of bank
balances and bank deposits are within three months.

Bank balances and bank deposits carry interest at average
market rates of 0.3% (2022: 0.3%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, conversion of the Group’s bank
balances and cash denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately RMB17,484,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$18,883,000) (2022: RMB12,333,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,320,000)) into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities denominated to which they relate:

us$ =TT
RMB AR #
GBP s

29. IRITERRIAE

REB S S aaaE = B R ekt
B BLHE 2R HI SR 17 4% € 495,328,000/ 7T
(ZZ==F : |) -

RZBEZ=FR_ZZF-__F+=A
=+—H  ROEBRAEEFFIZRE
BIMIBHF R BEMNIES - BITEHRKIR
AEZRZEAREE -

IRITAEBRRRITERIROIE(ZE
F : 0.3E) W FHMIZFMEETE -

R-ZE-_=F+-"A=+—8 B£x&
BLARESTENRTEHREREOA
R #17,484,000 7 (18 & 7 %7 18,883,000
BT (T —F : AR%12,333,0007T
(FBE 7 4913,320,0005 7T ) ) H 38 A HMNEK
BRPBEINEE BN REE  SER
MIEEERTEFR °

RITHEBRLASERETINEEEEE
BODREEBE AN EBTHEN S

2023 2022
—_E_= —EFE-—

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET THET

1,489 139

35 1,548

2 14
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. [E{1 &8 R RFRZ HithfE{I FR1E
2023 2022
== —EF-—

HK$‘000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Trade payables BB SRR 61,967 67,119
Accrued expenses FEETAX 28,000 30,238
Other payables EAb B RIE 45,620 26,151
Other tax payables HAtbfERIE 755 7,450
Deposit received BUIES 120,223 89,056
Contract liabilities (Note 9(a)) aRaEHTa) 87,715 1,275
282,313 154,170
344,280 221,289

An ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date R|ERR - BRNESRFIZEZHH

at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RIBRER D ATIAT ¢

2023 2022
—EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 30 days or on demand 30BN IREK 15,294 9,966
31-90 days 31£90H 12,751 15,928
91 days to 1 year MNBE1F 29,874 35,558
Over 1 year BB 4,048 5,667
61,967 67,119

The average credit period on purchases of goods is ranging i
from 30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management H
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within T
the credit timeframe.

EEmWFHEESN FI0BED
c REERAVBRERELEER - A
RETA N REEINMEERAZAS -
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(&)
Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts JERNTE ZRF R EMERNFKIBRE TS
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency LEESEBEEENONEEEINY B
of the relevant group entities to which they relate: PIERSEE

30. [EfT B AR H fth & {4 k18

2023 2022
—E== —F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
us$ ETT 504 214
31.BORROWINGS 31.185K
2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Current B
Unsecured other borrowings AR E B3R 16,202 2,498
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRIRIRITIE K 8,910 9,999
Secured other borrowings EEMEMER 97,739 151,179
Secured bank borrowings BEPIRITHERK 25,500 28,500
148,351 192,176
Non-current JERE
Unsecured bank borrowings IR TIE X 8,505 =
Secured other borrowings AR EAER 2,255 4,133
10,760 4,133
Carrying amounts repayable (based on FEEEMERERE(ERER
scheduled repayment dates set out R EIERE )
in the loan agreements):
Within 1 year —F A 148,351 192,176
More than 1 year but not more than 2 years —F A BT EBBRE 3,130 =
More than 2 years but not more than 5 years R _EEBTBERF - 4,133
More than 5 years AENALE 7,630 =
159,111 196,309
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31. BORROWINGS (continued) 31.f8%R &)
The effective interest rates on the Group's borrowings ranged REBERNERFFNENTFTI0ER
from 3.00% to 14.00% (2022: 3.25% t0 14.00%) per annum. 14.00E(ZZ=—F :325BF1400E) -
As at 31 December 2023, investment properties located in RZEZ=F+ZHA=+—8" Bﬁﬁ
Hong Kong under medium-term lease with carrying value of B #921,0000008 T (=& ==
approximately HK$21,000,000 (2022: HK$21,000,000) have been 21,000,000 7T ) i A & B 1R 1% b HHTH%
pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group. BENEEDES TERF  (EAAEE
FTERRTTE A ER -
As at 31 December 2023, included in property, plant R-TE-_=F+_A=+—H Y%
and equipment of approximately HK$40,019,000 (2022: B & % 4740,019,0008 T (ZFE ==
HK$54,480,000) and right-of-use assets of approximately % : 54,480,000 7T ) K {F A & E %Y
HK$55,237,000 (2022: HK$50,877,000) are land and building 55,237,000/ T (— & = — £ : 50,877,000
located in PRC under medium-term lease which have been B BRREMAPREEEPHEEREN
pledged to secure the other borrowings granted to the Group. THRIEF - BB TUER - ERAS
B P H A (B R AR o
32.LEASE LIABILITIES 32. 5 6&
2022
—E-—
HK$'000
FAT
Within 1 year 1FER 17,291 12,844
Within a period of more than 1 year but not 15 LA_EBNER@24F 2 BAfE N
exceeding 2 years 14,815 12,353
Within a period of more than 2 years but not 24 LA BTN ER@5F 2 BifS X
exceeding 5 years 22,169 23,141
Within a period of more than 5 years S 7 B 17,881 16,616
72,156 64,954

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 B ORBBERI2EANR
months shown under current liabilities R H%EE 2 7008 (17,291) (12,844)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months  3ERENEEMRT12(E A%

shown under non-current liabilities B HAEE 2 k1B 54,865 52,110
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied HAREEA B INET 5L S E KA
to lease liabilities range from 3.45% to 10.58% (2022: 3.45% to K B53.45%E10.58%( =T = —F : 3.45%
11.13%). £11.13%) °
Lease obligations are denominated in the functional currencies HEEBURBEEEENEEEE

of the relevant group entities. (=
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33.SHARE CAPITAL 33. fi#7K
Authorised and issued share capital EENRBE ST

Number of shares Share capital

g €| [LEN
2023 2023 2022

—ECI=f - - T
‘000 i HK$'000 HK$'000
R % FET T

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  BAXE{E0.1787TH)

LER
Authorised: EE
Asat 1January and 31 December RA—A—HK+=A
=r—E 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTREHE
Asat 1January and 31 December R—A—HK
Tr=E=ETr— 1,306,767 1,306,767 130,677 130,677
34. DEFERRED INCOME 34. EREULA
2023 2022
—E-= —EF_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
At 1 January n—H—H 1,890 2,281
Exchange realignment b 5 R B 2 (250)
Credited to profit or loss P ABE (132) (141)
At 31 December W= A=T—E 1,760 1,890
In 2013, the Group received a government grant (“Grant RZE—=F  AEBERERSHHE
B") of approximately HK$2,962,000 from I 5 1 &l % i1 5 FEBERBEMRE REmRIZ2RME
for the development of high resolution flexible circuit board % T 492,962,000 T B & ([ %8
technology. During the year ended 31 December 2023, deferred &z REBEEZZ=_=%+=A
income of approximately HK$132,000 (2022: HK$141,000) has =+—HIEFE - BT AL132,00074
been recognised for Grant B in the consolidated statement of TT(ZZF = —4F : 141,000/ 7T) 2 5L Bh

profit or loss. ©OREREBRRIER ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HZE—_ZT-=HF+_A=+—HIFE

35. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 35. BEiInEE Qs

The following are the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T AMEHRE BN TRERIBELRD
financial reporting purposes: DT
2023 2022
—E:-= B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE 441 443
Deferred tax liabilities FETIEEE (2,784) (2,784)
(2,343) (2,336)
The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities AFERBEFEECERANEZELER
recognised and movements thereof during the current and H(EE) BEREZSHNT :
prior years:

Deferred

Unrealised income
(profits)/ ~ Change in arising from
loss on fair value of government

inventories  properties grants
BRfE
FENRER MER EEW
(C#Rl)/BR AVEED BEEWA FH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT THET THET
As at 1 January 2022 T b e = B 25 - (570) (545)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% - - 62 62
Charge to other comprehensive B E 2 EU ik
income - 1,332 - i1/882
Charge to profit or loss BE&EMkR - 1,452 35 1,487
As at 31 December 2022 and RZE-=#+-A=1+—H
1 January 2023 &
“E-=F—H—H 25 2,784 (473) 2,336
Exchange realignment B 5 A% = = (1) (1)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (BE=MR)FAER (25) = 33 8

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-_=F+-A=+—H - 2,784 (441) 2,343
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36.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to the profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$12,702,000 (2022:
approximately HK$7,272,000) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$380,461,000 (2020:
HK$332,292,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in estimated
unused tax losses are losses of approximately HK$33,946,000
(2022: HK$10,670,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year
of origination in which no estimated unused tax losses expired
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

0On 21 July 2023, the Company and the convertible bondholders
(the “Subscriber”) entered into the subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber
has agreed to subscribe for, the convertible bond (the
“Convertible Bond") in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$40,000,000. The Convertible Bond will be matured on 20
July 2026 (the “Maturity Date"”).

Based on the initial Conversion Price of HK$0.257 per
Conversion Share, an aggregate of 155,642,023 Conversion
Shares will be allotted and issued by the Company upon
the exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Bond, representing: (a) approximately 11.91%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company; and
(b) approximately 10.64% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the issue of the Conversion Shares,
assuming there is no other change in the issued share capital
of the Company between the date of this report and the full
conversion of the Convertible Bond.

EE+T-A=T-HLEE

35.

36.

EETaEE afEe

RIBEXRMEVE - TEMBAEH=
TENF-A - HRBRARARENE IR
AL S BATENH - AEBY BRES
AR st BB A RDE N T E L
B E R M E 412,702,000 T (ZF
© #97,272,000/8 7T ) st FRAEE B IR

B - [RA AN B 5E S0 4% 1) 48 O] A
HEEAORRE  BZSEREEBTK

ATRERA A] A SR [ o

RERE R $%lmﬁﬁ%@%ﬁﬁ
E51849/5380,461,0008 T(—ZE=F
SQNMW%E)TﬁKE%*Xm
F o FRFA AR 2R E FI) 2RO B9 71 AT T8RN -
M EERECEHBEE - At A8 A
T IH B3 18 B 35 #9 33,946,000 T ( — =
: 10,670,000/ 7T ) W& 1 + E 5
RELEFERASFRER  MEBEE_Z
——HEN—_FE_=F+—_A=+—HIt
FEVEGTRDARESERR - &
fth 598 A] ZEBR HR A5 EE o

EE e
RZZTEZ=F+H=+—H ' A AH
ARRESFEEA(RBAL G RE
& ([RBHZRE]) - Bt - ARFES
FKHREBTEAREAERERELS
#2728 40,000,000/ 7T Y AT R A (& 25 ([ A
BBRESR])  c TRBRESFBERZZT=N
FHA-+REE(R®MA]) -

1B 3% 9 56 82 1R (B & 1% 82 18R A% 15 0.257
BT N %ﬂﬁTﬁkﬁ%%Wﬁ
iR ARARIBEEREITEH
155,642,023% & ik th - FER : @&
NARABEEITRAL11.91% K (b)&
BITEBRMHEREHAAR D TR
AR#910.64% (7% B AN 3R H HAE AT A%
BEHFERHEBRBABMAD B BITRA
WaEE b)) o
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36. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 36. oJiRlR &% #)

The initial Conversion Price of HK$0.257 represents: (i) a
premium of 2.8% over the closing price of HK$0.250 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of signing of the
Subscription Agreement; and (ii) the average closing price of
HK$0.257 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately prior to the date of signing of the
Subscription Agreement.

The Convertible Bond entitle the holders to convert them
into ordinary shares of the Company as a conversation price
of HK$0.257 per share three months after the date of issue
of the Convertible Bond and up to five Business Days before
the Maturity Date. Unless previously redeemed, converted,
purchase and cancelled, all convertible bond outstanding on
maturity date shall be repaid by the Company at its principal
amount outstanding on Maturity Date plus accrued interest.

The Convertible Bond may not be repaid or redeemed by the
Bondholder before the Maturity Date in any event.

Upon receiving a Conversion Notice by a Bondholder, the
Company shall be entitled by written notice to the Bondholder
to be given within five Business Days of the date of the relevant
Conversion Notice to redeem the Convertible Bond or such
part of the subject of such Conversion Notice rather than to
issue the relevant Shares, the amount payable on redemption
in such case shall be the Conversion Price.

The Convertible Bond shall bear interest at the rate of 10%
per annum from the date of issuance and will be payable by
the Company (a) half-yearly in arrears after the issuance date
of the Convertible Bond; and (b) on the date of redemption,
conversion or maturity. In the event that the Bondholder
has converted part or whole of the principal amount of the
Convertible Bond, the Bondholder shall be entitled to interest
in respect of only such part of the remaining principal amount
of the Convertible Bond for which the Bondholder has not
converted into Conversion Shares.

The convertible bond contain two components, liability and
equity component. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 17.95%.

VIIREREO257 B THER - ((BEE
REBWHAE BB RE R YT
B0.250/8 L4 B2.8% : R()BENARE
% B B AT T8 52 5 B B 22 P P R 1
W EREAR0.2578TT -

AR E R T RE AR - R A RAR
EHFETARR=EARN NI Y AR
ZHEERA - AER0257E LA K
BEREBBRAARRAEBR - RIFEE
BO -8k BEREHE AR
BBTESN AT BREFGH AR AIE
M B BITEIN A S IR A SEE -

EEABRT  EFFHEANSEDH
B AI{EIE s 8 Bl AR AE 75 ©

REEEFFEANLBRBRE - A2
BIEREFEER N Rm A B R A

FAREFKAEAZLEEAN B[R
AT E S SRk B A R VA D
MmIEBTHBED - FUBRT - BE
RS MRS R R L IE -

AR RE 75 B 31T B IR 10%H) F 7
KEHR - WARARB R (@) A AR E 753
TEREEFF  ROED - ik
HlZz A A - EBESFFE AR LR
BEEFNBOXNEEAE - AESFR
BANEERMEFFAARLBR B LR
A VAT R BE SRR ANSESHE o

AR ERE S R IE &S D m{EED
7 ° AERDERFIES17.95% °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

36. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 36. ol #aARE % @)

The movements of the liability and equity components of the
convertible bond during the reporting period are set out below:

TR ES 2 BE RSB RBED
A2 EBEIIWT -

Liability Equity
component  component Total
&R ) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT

As at 1 January 2022 and RZZZZF—H—HkK

31 December 2022 —E--F+=-A=1t—8H - - -
Issued during the year FABET 33,463 6,537 40,000
Imputed interest expense (Note 12)  H#EER S5 (4:712) 1,345 - 1,345
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-F=+—H 34,808 6,537 41,345

No convertible bond were converted into ordinary shares of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023. No
redemption, purchase or cancellation by the Company has
been made in respect of the convertible bond during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

HE_ZT-_=F+-_HA=+—HBIHF
B BETRREFERAAARLR
Re#BEZTE-_=F+=_A=+—8H1
FE - AQRHEER - BEokEHEA
B ES -
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37.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

Borrowings

37. & MEENGIRHIR

TRAMGBAEERETHELAR
MBS BRREMIFRSEY - BE
AYHEANAER/REREDKLIARK
RenERERGARERERIER
MERPELRSRENEE -

Interest
payables
(including in
Convertible other Lease
bond  payables) liabilities
FEAFIS
(BfEHME
B ARREF  EARE) HEBE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FAT FHBT THT
As at 1 January 2022 RoE==fHoH 15,646 - - 63,150 78,796
Financing cash flow BEHREME (14,057) - - (16,327) (30,384)
New lease arrangement EERH = - - 23,278 23,278
Reclassified from held for sales B3 {EHEEH A48 176,900 - - - 176,900
Early termination of leases RARIEHEE - - - (2,699) (2,699)
Interest expense incurred BELFISHY 23,960 = = 4,029 27,989
Exchange adjustment L (6,140) - - (6,477) (12,617)

Asat31December2022and  RIEZ_fF

1 January 2023 S =2
k—E-=#—f—H 196,309 = - 64,954 261,263
Financing cash flow BERETE (38,188) 40,000 (18,239) (13,422) (29,849)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W R B AR
(note 38) (H17£38) = = - 838 838
New lease arrangement FHERH = = = 17,254 17,254
Interest expense incurred BEARBHAY - 1,345 24,838 4,366 30,549
Convertible bond - equity aRES - ERDH
component = (6,537) - - (6,537)
Exchange adjustment B 5 % 990 - (131) (1,834) (975)
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z-=%F
+-A=+—H 159,111 34,808 6,468 72,156 272,543




_BT=FFRW K¥gE@EBRERLE 207

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R M5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. lxig—fRiMiE Sl
On 1 April 2023, the Group acquired 40% of the issued share RZEBE-_=FMWA—B8  AEEBEBL
capital of Beijing Jusheng from independent third parties for FE=HUEILRER B EITRAEI40% -
consideration of HK$15,820,000 (equivalent to RMB14,000,000). KB 5158200008 T (HHERARK
This acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition 14,000,0007T) ° %W EE ETER A WEE =
method. The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the ETEEE  WHESEMELENEE
acquisition was approximately HK$20,552,000. Beijing Jusheng ©FE# /20,552,000 7 - It REEMEE
is engaged in online marketing solution services. R LR RRTE ©
The acquisition has been completed on 1 April 2023. WEEEBEN S _=FNA—H=KX °
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration RE
Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash PHEERE  URSEE 15,820

HK$'000
TET

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognised RUERHBEZANEEREEATHE
at the date of acquisition:

Property, plant and equipment VI - B MERE 232
Right-of-use assets EREEE 833
Prepayment and other receivables TR R IE K E Ath & W kI8 160,029
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRE 3,070
Contract liabilities BREE (121,301)
Other payables HAb S 5RIE (53,856)
Lease liabilities HEBE (838)
Total fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired — FrUREEE #4758 EFE 2 AT ELALE (11,831)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WESBIAEENBE
HK$'000
FHT

Consideration transferred EEERE 15,820
Add: net liabilities acquired n: FrfSaEFE 11,831
Less: non-controlling interest (60% of net assets in -~ & : FEFEAREZS (R 1L RE & H960%

Beijing Jusheng) FEE) (7,099)

Goodwill arising on acquisition WS E A P B 20,552
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38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. IxiE—MEMEAS (2

(Continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Beijing
Jusheng

BN RELRNIRERLFE

HK$'000
TAT

Consideration paid BRRE 15,820
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances acquired  J& : FrUe B3R & MRS ZEY

EER (3,070)

12,750

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the loss for the year of the Group is an approximate
net profit of HK$6,918,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by Beijing Jusheng.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2023,
total revenue of the Group for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,513,299,000, and loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$86,525,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2023, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the Group
Beijing Jusheng had been acquired at the beginning of the
current year, the Directors calculated depreciation of property,
plant and equipment based on the recognised amounts of
property, plant and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

WESHRHNKERGNTE

AEEFAEREBIIREEMEER
SN FG FEAGHE R 496,918,000/ 7T °

HKBEREER_F_=F—A—
Bk AEENEAREHOL
1,513,299,000& 7T * M F REB KL A
86,525,0008 7T ° tAEERHEMFA - K
PRENR-_FB-_=F—A—BUEFRE
TRBRASEEREES 2 K g
REZIET - T RERREE ZTRA -

RETEASEDRAFENREILR
ERWBER T EE e Fos A -
EERBEBRHMCERNYE  B&E
BB EDE  BERRENT
o
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

E-EC

=F+-A=t+—HItFEE

39. LEME AT

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
of its entire interests in Ta Yang Sojourn Industry Co., Limited
and its subsidiaries to independent third party, which in
engaged in investment project in the PRC. The net assets of Ta
Yang Sojourn Industry Co., Limited and its subsidiaries at the

HE=T ==ttt —Hi= ok H e
B AEBRBYFE=FHEELNAFE
REEXERAFRENBRAG (AR
BB EEE )N EER - KFIRE
EXERAFREREWNBARRHERS

date of disposal were as follow:

HK$'000
TET

MWEBEFENT :

Net assets disposal of: BHEEETE:

Property, plant and equipment Y - R MEEE 1,989
Interest in an associate p il /NG 2 17,181

Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRNIRS 80
Other receivables E e R IR 338
Group's share of net assets disposed of AEBEEEHEEEFE 19,588
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR/ EE

Group's share of net assets disposal of AEBEEEHEEEFE (19,588)
Consideration receivables EWRAE 5,000
Exchange reserve R 11,723
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEHTB AR A EE (2,865)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEENES R FE

Bank balances and cash disposal of BHERITERERES (80)

209
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 40. FERL K
Compensation of key management personnel FTE2EIRASIREN
The emoluments paid to the Directors, who are the key MEZ(AEEEBERBAS)XMZ
management of the Group, are included in note 18(a). Bl # AT EE18(a) °
41.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. EHiRiE

2023 2022
—E_=F —E - F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for butnot T3S IEBHI D FT4E AR
provided for in the consolidated financial IREMBRRBHENER
statements in respect of: FX :
— Acquisition of property, plant and — W - BE REE
equipment 5,131 9,849
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42.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

E-EC

=F+-A=t+—HItFEE

42. KA Sl M8 FSA R %=

2023 2022
—=E_= —EF_—

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E FHT T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment B ik 2,219 3,412
Right-of-use assets EREEE 5,377 =
Investment in subsidiaries RETBRRIMILE 124,170 124,160
131,766 127,572

Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b el IR 11,141 10,962
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEURHI B A FIFUAE (a) 132,512 74,575
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 464 2,372
144,117 87,909
Current liabilities REBAE

Other payables Hh e K1 10,901 6,945
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASH I B A |5 (a) 278,053 233,634
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,802 =
291,756 240,579
Net current liabilities mENaEFERE (147,639) (152,670)
Total assets less current liabilities & EAER R A G (15,873) (25,098)

Capital and reserves EXRNEE
Share Capital %N 130,677 130,677
Reserve (=] (b) (184,209) (155,775)
Total equity ERRE (53,532) (25,098)

Non-current liabilities FkRBAE
Convertible bond AT AR E 5 34,808 =
Lease liabilities HEaFE 2,851 -
Total non-current liabilities FhRBaERE 37,659 =
(15,873) (25,098)
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42.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. KASIN AR ZE 2)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(@) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries (@) FEYW(FER)MBAIITRIE
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and BRAFEAERR B RIZEXK
repayable on demand. g -

(b) Reserves (b) f&fl

Capital  Convertible
Share  redemption  bond equity Accumulated

premium reserve reserve losses Total
TRRES
REE EXRERE B ZitER &t
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL AL B TAT TAL
As at 1 January 2022 W-Z-—%-f-A 761,380 2420 - (889,261) (125,461)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses  FREERZERTEE
for the year - - - (30,314) (30,314)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZB_—f
1 January 2023 TZA=+-RR
“E-=%#-f-H 761,380 2,420 = (919,575) (155,775)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses  ERERRZERTEE
for the year - = - (34,971) (34,971)
Recognition of equity component of AAARESER
convertible bond #5 - - 6,537 - 6,537
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z-z%

T=EET=l 761,380 2,420 6,537 (954,546) (184,209)
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. T 2MiE RS
Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company at the RIPEHR - A2FHANEENER
end of the reporting periods are as follows: RGBT -
Place of
incorporation/ Issued share
establishment  Class of capital/registered Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary and operation  shares held capital interest of the Group  Principal activities
RaT e
RAHEHR BRITREA/
KEAREE B PR &5 &R rEBEGRAESE < FTEEK
2023 2022
ZE-=f -
Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of silicone
Industrial Company rubber
Limited
AAHEBBIZERAR  BF Lk 1,000,00057C BEER
Chief Ocean Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Provision of
management
services
HABRAA B LAk AT REERRS
Ta Yang Medical Investment  Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited ("Ta Yang
Medical’)
AFBEREERARIKR &F TR 20,000,00057C REER
HEBE))
Ta Yang Group Limited BVI/HongKong  Ordinary shares US$11,930,811 100% 100% Investment holding
AFEEBRAA RBRLEE/ TRk 11,930,811 REER
Top View Investment BVI/HongKong  Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Holdings Limited
ERREERERAR RBRXES/ LAk (E REER
Dongguan Ta Yang Silicone  The PRC (note ij)  Contributed capital HK$86,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Rubber Industrial silicone rubber
Company Limited
RENFEBRRARAR  RE(HiLI) BABR 86,000,00057C SERER
Huzhou Ta Yang Electronic ~ The PRC (note ) ~ Contributed capital US$38,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Technology Company silicone rubber
Limited

WNKFETRRARAR  PEMZ)  BAEK 38,000,000% 7T REER
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43. FEiBE LS (=)

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber
Plastic Company Limited
("Dongguan Tai Yang")

RENFRERRERAR
(IRRAE])

RE(BH)REEXERE
RAA

=HARRBEARAR

EREERBARRA

WTS 2020 Limited

East Shack Ltd.

Notes:

Place of

incorporation/
establishment
and operation

R Ay
R BER
BEHI

The PRC (note i)

B (Hai)

The PRC (note i)
B (i)

The PRC (note i)
B (i)

The PRC

(note iii, 1v)
B (i - )
United Kingdom
++

United Kingdom
B

Class of
shares held

Frs R &R

Contributed capital

EUN-VN

Contributed capital
BAEX

Contributed capital
BAEX

Contributed capital
UN-V
Contributed capital
BAER

Contributed capital
YNV

Issued share
capital/registered
capital

BRTRA/
HMEA

HK$130,000,000

130,000,000/ 7T

RMB150,000,000
A& #150,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000
ARH50,000,0007C

RMB16,666,600
AR816,666,6007C
GBP1,001
17,0015 45

(GBP60,000
60,00054%

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

(i) The subsidiaries are wholly-owned foreign enterprise in the PRC.

The subsidiary is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise.

Attributable equity

interest of the Group

AEEEGRAER

—g-=f -%

—_—=

Bat -

Principal activities

TERE

2023 2022

e

100% 100% Manufacturing of

silicone rubber

RERR

100% 100% Healthcare service

ERRERE

100% Hotel service

B BRI

100%

40% - Online marketing
solution service

5 EER A RRE

100% 100% Trading of silicone
rubber

BEHE

60% Retall service

TERY

60%

ERINTEZRATBEZEAEEREA
FEENAEENBE AR - EERRF
FIEALP B R R A M S EBRIEENIT
£ o

ZHBRARIRANEBERE -
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43. T MBS (=)

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
into an investment agreement to acquire 40% equity interest
in Beijing Jusheng. Pursuant to the agreement, Beijing Jusheng
maintained a board composition of five directors and the Group
appointed three members to the board of directors of Beijing
Jusheng. The Group had obtained control over Beijing Jusheng is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with Beijing Jusheng and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Beijing Jusheng. The Directors considered
it is appropriate to account for Beijing Jusheng as a subsidiary of
the Group.

44.NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-controlling
interests:

Proportion of ownership

wisz

(iv)

(&)

BE-_T-=Ff=H=grHILFE
B - AEEET A T - WEIERE
BA0WRHE - RIFHH - LREEGR
HARESHERNESS  MAKER
RE=Z2KEMALRELEES - A
SEERSHIEREANEGIE - B
2ENAFEEEBMHGLAEESH
BOWH - WHEIEBEHIEREARN
BAZEZELH - EERR > BN
EAERAKENBRARAREEE -

44. JFiEhRiEs
BABAIERAERN IR EME R A

EALHE
ARBERERVBEREZNIEE
MEBRRMFEI T :

interests and voting Profits (losses)
Place of rights held by non- allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary incorporation controlling interests  non-controlling interests  controlling interests
FERERTHERERA TRFFERERN
HEARER AL BERBRERLA aF (58) Rt R ER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-=fF —ZE_C “E-=fF —ZE_C ZE-=fF —Z -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THT TEx AT
Beijing Jusheng The PRC 60% - 4,151 - (2,951) -
ItREZ H
Individually immaterial (2,825) (561) (3,905) (1,083)
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
AR ERRERIEEANB AR
1,326 (561) (6,856) (1,083)

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Beijing Jusheng, which has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised consolidated financial
information below represents amounts before intergroup
elimination.

EREEHEAERIFERER - BE
HBERBARAT - U THANERE

‘—|I

35
2

BERRKREEREHEANEEE -

215
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44.NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 44, JFERiEES (=)

(Continued)

Beijing Jusheng

trREE

From 1 April
2023 to
31 December
2023
a:g:z
MA—BEE
—E-=
+t=A=+—H
HK$°000
Fix
Revenue & 912,058
Profit for the year F R A 6,918
Total comprehensive income EEW LR 6,918
Total comprehensive income allocated to EIERERN AW AT
non-controlling interests 4,151
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests B IR SRR B =
Cash used in operating activities KEEBFRRS (16,528)
Cash generated from financing activities BMERBAFRE 16,338
Net cash outflows FIR S (190)
As at 31 December e H =t~ H
Current assets MENE E 123,080
Non-current assets ERBEE 590
Current liabilities mEAE (128,589)
Net liabilities BEFHE (4,919)
Accumulated non-controlling interests REFFEEAR S (2,951)
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45. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL 45. 3ERIGIFHENEEHEE

GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 5 July 2021, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement (the "Agreement”) with United Crown Century
Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) to dispose of its 71% of
equity interest in Ta Yang Medical Investment Limited and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, which through its subsidiary hold the
properties in Hanian, PRC at consideration of approximately
RMB14,771,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,725,000)
in cash and the repayment of borrowing as at the date of
disposal. The disposal had not been completed as at 31
December 2021 and the subsidiaries’ net assets were classified
as held for sales.

On 28 January 2022, the Group and the Purchaser entered into
a termination agreement whereby the parties have agreed
to terminate the Agreement and restore on transaction
arrangements which have occurred by cause of the Agreement
to the position before entering into of the Agreement.

EN8Ia

RZZBE-_—F+ARA  AEEEEE
L BRAR(TER DI LEE H#
(TZm&])  UHEERKFERERE
BERRALEZEMBRR71%HMHE -
BEEBEWNBRARRKAMRTEERE
MmYE - KESHARR14,771,0007T
(FEBERK17,725,0008 T) B¢ REER
HERPNER - R-F-_—F+_A
=t+—B HEFHEHRAZK  HEA
BNEEFENERFIERE -

RZE-_—F—A=+/\A " ~A5£EHE
BRI Bt EFRER
IEZm=®  TBEZBENEENR S
ZHERIE B R] M %k AURIAREE o
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By 55 Bk =2

AT BREERG AR BHRRNAEES
EREAVBFENEEUREEREBERES

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: — %I|z0°F :
RESULTS E 7
Seventeen
months ended Year ended Year ended Yearended  Year ended
31December  31December  31December  31December 31 December
2019 2021 2023
—B-cE
t=A=t-H
ILEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THr TEL TAL T
Revenue Wiz 520,956 354,190 362,528 343,541 1,213,830
Loss for the year/period F/ENER (90,930) (95,825) (85,768) (98,904) (85,709)
Attributable to: AT AL :
~owners of the Company ~KRAREBA (86,420) 95,822) (84,901) (98,063) (84,601)
-non-controlling interests — s (4,560) %) (867) 841) (1,108)
(90,980) (95,825) (85,763) (98,904) (85,709)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BER6E
As at As at As at As at As at
31December  31December  31December  31December 31 December
2019 2021 2022 2023
R i Jid i
“E-NE “E--F T4 —8-=
TZA=+-H J +ZRA=+-A =+—H +=A=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T TET
Total assets BERE 804,363 786,340 788 449 641,517 699,186
Total liabilities BEeE (467,443) (508,138) (546,511) (505,137) (631,610)
Total equity EnfE 336,920 278,202 241,938 136,380 67,576
Equity attributable to: AT AT -
owners of the Company ARAEEA 333,765 275,060 202,460 137,463 74,432
non-controlling interests SRR 3,155 3,142 (522) (1,083) (6,856)
Total equity BERiE 336,920 278,202 241,938 136,380 67,576




BT =FFR

AFKEZRERLT

“Board”
a0

“Chairlady”
[z

“Chief Executive Officer/CEQ”"

[1TER 4B

“Company”

NI

“connected person(s)”,
“percentage ratio(s)” and
“subsidiary(ies)”

[BEEAT]  [ARE]R
NG

“Directors”
[E%]

“Group”
[ZREH |

"HKS" “HKD
[Tl

“Hong Kong"
(&5

“Listing Rules”
[ EmAR Al

“Model Code”
[1Z4E<FAl]
“PRC”

(Bl

5

the board of Directors of the Company
RRREEG

chairlady of the Board
EFgXE

chief executive officer of the Company
RRTHTHARE

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of

the Stock Exchange
NEEEZRAERAF - —HRASESTMAINBERAR - ERMHME
REFER LT

each has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FBAE LMARRIM T 2 RE

the directors of the Company
RARES

the Company and its subsidiaries
RARREMEAT]

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEEEEY

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PRI BB RITTH R

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B X FreE 25 AR Al

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
stated in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
TR AT ERCIFTEL L BT AZFETE S R HRIFLESFR])

the People’s Republic of China (for the purpose of this report, excluding
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan)
FEARKEME  BAFENE - TEEES  BPYSIITTHRERSE
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“RMB”, “Renminbi”

AR
“SFO"
[FE5 MBI A

“Shareholder(s)”
[ &R |

“Shares”
[ A&7

"Stock Exchange”
[ B2 P

“the year”
[Fr]

noy
(%]

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR¥ - PEVEEEHN

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time
BBEDIBSTERE 7 KB GG (K TRET M)

holder(s) of the Shares
IESHEST=DN

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
KRB R GAREEO. 1078 T8 BB AR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BABER AR AT

the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_Z-_=F+_"A=t—HIFE

per cent
Bkl



REEBEZERFRQA

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited

22/F, H Code, 45 Pottinger Street,
Central, Hong Kong

EEIBIE FA4555H Code 22 B2 [E

Tel BEE : (852) 3678 5088
Fax 2 E 1 (852) 3678 5099
Website #84E  © www.tayanggroup.com
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